Central Bedfordshire
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands,
Shefford SG17 5TQ
please ask for

Leslie Manning

direct line

0300 300 5132

date

4 April 2012

NOTICE OF MEETING
DELEGATED DECISION BY THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER
FOR CHILDREN'S SERVICES ON SCHOOL AGE RANGE
PROPOSALS
Date & Time

Monday, 16 April 2012 2.00 p.m.
Venue at

Committee Room 1, Watling House, High Street North,
Dunstable
Richard Carr
Chief Executive
To:

The Executive Member for Children’s Services
Cllr Mark Versallion

All other Members of the Council - on request

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS
MEETING

AGENDA

1.

Members' Interests
To receive from Members any declarations and the nature in relation to:-

2.

(a)

personal interests in any agenda item;

(b)

personal and prejudicial interests in any agenda item.

Public Participation
To receive any questions, statements or deputations from members of the
public in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out in
Annex 1 of Part A4 of the Constitution.

Reports
Item
3

Subject

Page Nos.

Determination of Statutory Proposals to Extend the Age
Ranges of Tithe Farm Lower School, Hawthorn Park Lower
School, Thornhill Lower School and Thomas Whitehead VA
Lower School in Houghton Regis

*

To consider responses to the statutory proposals to extend age
ranges at three Community Lower Schools and one Voluntary
Aided Lower School in Houghton Regis and determine the
outcome of the proposals.

3 - 166

Agenda Item 3
Page 3

Meeting:

Delegated Decision of the Executive Member for Children’s
Services

Date:

16 April 2012

Subject:

Determination of statutory proposals to extend the age
ranges of Tithe Farm Lower School, Hawthorn Park Lower
School, Thornhill Lower School and Thomas Whitehead
VA Lower School in Houghton Regis

Report of:

Edwina Grant, Deputy Chief Executive/ Director of Children’s
Services

Summary:

The report sets out the responses to the statutory proposals to extend
age ranges at three Community Lower Schools and one Voluntary Aided
Lower School in Houghton Regis. These proposals have been subject
previously of initial consultation and a statutory notice period has now
concluded requiring the Council to consider representations received
and to now determine the outcome of the proposals.

Advising Officer:

Public/Exempt:

Edwina Grant, Deputy Chief Executive/ Director of Children’s
Services
Pete Dudley, Assistant Director for Learning, Commissioning
and Partnerships
Public

Wards Affected:

Parkside, Tithe Farm and Houghton Hall

Function of:

Executive

Key Decision

Yes

Contact Officer:

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Council Priorities:
The proposals set out in this report support Central Bedfordshire Council’s strategic
priority of educating, protecting and providing opportunities for children and young
people.

Agenda Item 3
Page 4

Financial:
1.

Potential capital requirements for implementing the proposed extended age
ranges have been forecast as required in due course of £220k in 2016 at Tithe
Farm Lower School and £200k in 2014 at Hawthorn Park Lower School, two of
the three Community Schools subject to these proposals. These are the
earliest dates the additional capacity would be required. Whereas the Council,
in approving these proposals, would carry an obligation to implement and
therefore fund any required enabling works, the Governing Bodies of each
school have within their submissions, committed to raise the necessary school
funds to meet this challenge at the point at which the additional investment is
required. If these proposals are approved, officers will work with these schools
to ensure their budget planning process is robust and able to deliver the
required level of funding.

2.

In publishing statutory proposals for Thomas Whitehead CofE VA Lower School,
the Governing Body of the school will therefore carry the duty to implement the
proposal if it is approved, including funding any enabling works. At the point of
determination of the proposals the Council as decision maker must be satisfied,
that the school is able to implement the decision. Thomas Whitehead is a
Voluntary Aided school and will seek any capital it requires through the Locally
Controlled Voluntary Aided Programme (LCVAP) with the support of the
Diocese.

3.

Tithe Farm Lower School and Hawthorn Park Lower School both share some
accommodation with the local Neighbourhood/Children’s Centres and this would
be required to be returned for school use from 2016 to make each proposal
viable. Each school has suggested in its consultation that it would seek to tender
to provide the services provided from these Centres from 31 March 2015, when
the current Service Level Agreements expire, and mitigate the impact on
services by greater integration with the schools main accommodation and
enhanced partnership working.

4.

The day to day running costs of expanded provision is met through revenue
funding which is made available to each school as part of the dedicated schools
grant, calculated on a per pupil basis.

Legal:
5.

The main legislation governing school organisation is found in sections 7-32 of
the Education and Inspections Act 2006, The School Organisation
(Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) (England Regulations 2007 and
the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Mainstream Schools)
(England) Regulations 2007.

6.

The Department for Education produces guidance which provides information
on the procedures established by this legislation containing both statutory
guidance (i.e. guidance to which local authorities and governing bodies have a
statutory duty to have regard) and non-statutory guidance, on the process for
making changes to the upper age limit of a maintained mainstream school.

Agenda Item 3
Page 5

7.

The Executive Member for Children’s Services is authorised, under delegated
authority, to exercise the Council’s duty to determine proposals to alter the
upper age range of pupils in schools. As decision maker the Council must be
satisfied that the proposals have followed due process and must also have
regard to statutory guidance.

8.

As decision maker for the statutory proposals published in regard to the three
Community Lower Schools and the Voluntary Aided Lower School the
Executive Member for Children’s Services must determine whether to approve
the proposed changes within two months of the close of the determination
period, otherwise the proposals will be referred to the schools adjudicator.

9.

The following bodies may appeal against a Council decision on the proposals
in this report:
•
•
•

The local Church of England diocese
The bishop of the local Roman Catholic diocese
The Governors and Trustees of a voluntary school that is subject to the
proposals

Any appeals must be submitted to the Council within 4 weeks of the decision
and the Council must refer the matter to the schools adjudicator.
Risk Management:
10.

Each of the proposals set out in this report has been developed and evaluated
against the key criteria for decision makers that are outlined in guidance.
Likewise the proposals have followed the procedures set out in regulation. This
mitigates the risk on the Council of failing to comply with the relevant statutory
requirements.
Key risks mitigated by the process that has been followed include:

11.

•

Failure to discharge legal and statutory duties/guidance.

•

Failure to deliver the Council's strategic priorities

•

Reputational risks associated with the non delivery of required school
places.

•

Financial risks, including significant capital commitment to the Council.

If approved, the implementation of each proposal will be subject of a detailed
change management plan developed by each school and supported by the
Council and Diocese. These plans will include risk assessment and
management criteria to ensure effective delivery of the objectives set out in the
proposal documents. Any contract and construction risks will be overseen
through the schools and Diocese project management of agreed projects.

Agenda Item 3
Page 6

Staffing (including Trades Unions):
12.

Staff and Trade Unions at all four schools have been engaged throughout the
initial consultation process. Trade Union concerns were expressed to the
consultation that strong and effective Governance is essential to manage the
change process required to implement the proposals. At the conclusion of the
initial consultation stage the Governing Body of each school considered the
responses, reiterated their determination to take the proposals forward and the
schools are working collaboratively to plan and manage the change process.

13.

Concerns were also raised of the potential for redundancies, although in
enlarging these schools the requirement will be for additional staff. Aside from
the Council’s statutory responsibilities as employer of staff in each of the three
Community Schools and subject to service buy back arrangements, which may
cease with the Council with effect from 31 August 2012, schools should ensure
that they will have the support of their Human Resources provision where any
proposals require changes in school staff structures or to terms and conditions
of employment. The Council, in undertaking its statutory responsibilities, will
have a role to ensure correct procedures have been undertaken where
procedures may lead to dismissal. The proposed changes to create larger
schools could allow for better career progression for all staff than is available in
a small school.

14.

The impact of these proposals on staff at feeder Middle Schools has been
considered. Mill Vale Middle (Academy) is currently seeking to convert as a
Primary School and the sponsors of Kings Houghton Middle School (the
Greenwood Dale Foundation Trust) have indicated their intention to bring
forward proposals on conversion to Academy status to expand its age range in
due course as a Secondary School. Neither provider has objected to the
proposals, indeed the sponsors of Kings Houghton Middle School have
submitted a letter of support, as can be seen with other responses received
within the statutory representation period at Appendix E to this report.
Should staffing reductions be identified in other maintained schools as a result
of the proposals the Council will give consideration to any redundancy costs
arising from these reductions being met from the Direct School Grant budget
share in accordance with the Councils Schools Finance Regulations.

15.

At Thomas Whitehead VA Lower School the Church of England Diocese have
been fully engaged in the proposals brought forward by the Governing Body
who are employers of the staff, and the process has been supported by the St
Albans Diocese.

Equalities/Human Rights:
16.

Public authorities have a statutory duty to promote equality of opportunity,
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and to foster
good relations in respect of the following protected characteristics: age,
disability, gender re-assignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

Agenda Item 3
Page 7

This statutory duty includes requirements to:

17.

•

Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to their
protected characteristics.

•

Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these
are different from the needs of other people.

•

Encourage people from protected groups to participate in public life or in
other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

As Decision Maker for these proposals, the Council has considered that there
are no race or disability discrimination issues that arise from the changes being
proposed. Each of the schools has carefully considered these issues and the
impact on provision for children with special educational needs and disabilities in
their proposal documents that have been publicised with the statutory notices.
Similarly each school has made a commitment to provide access to a range of
opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of their local communities,
while ensuring that such opportunities are open to all. The potential impact on
Children’s Centres and extended services are outlined below.

Public Health
18.

The schools in this proposal serve the electoral wards of Parkside, Tithe Farm
and Houghton Hall in Houghton Regis. Four of the top six most deprived
Lower Super Output Areas, used to measure multiple deprivation in Central
Bedfordshire, are in Houghton Regis. The schools currently each provide a
range of extended schools services but they see the proposal as an
opportunity for joint extended school provision, better reflecting the needs of
their local communities.

19.

The schools will aim to work in partnership to provide a range of extended
services including:
•

Parenting and family support officers

•

Transition support for pupils, schools and families

•

Combined clubs and after school activities

•

Holiday activities

•

Support for vulnerable pupils and families i.e siblings group and young
carers

Each school has also expressed an ambition to further integrate these
services with those provided through the local Neighbourhood/Children’s
Centres.

Agenda Item 3
Page 8

Community Safety:
20.

The Council has a statutory duty to consider community safety implications in
undertaking its delivery of core services. Extending the age ranges for the
schools noted will require the Council to work with the schools to ensure that the
community safety impact has been assessed and appropriate measures to
mitigate any risk have been implemented. Complaints regarding noise, litter,
young people and general anti social behaviour are higher in areas surrounding
schools. Increasing the numbers accessing schools has the potential to further
increase complaints The impact on travel and access has been considered, and
the Council will need to work with the schools to ensure that the wider community
safety impact is considered and appropriately addressed.

Sustainability:
21.

Whilst there may be additional costs in order to meet sustainability objectives for
any new build and/or expansion of existing schools, these will be contained
within the costs identified for each individual project and informed by the
Council’s Schools Sustainable Design Brief. These measures would contribute
to reduced running costs through better energy and resource efficiency, and
therefore limit the CRC burden on the Council and the school, alongside
creating a better learning environment for the pupils.

Procurement:
22.

The Council’s Procurement Team will continue to provide support for any
scheme of planned capital investment to implement the proposals set out in this
report, funded by the schools. This will ensure that value for money is secured
and a range of potential procurement routes are considered.

Overview and Scrutiny:
23.

This matter has not been considered by Overview and Scrutiny.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Executive Member for Children’s Services is asked to:
1.

note that the procedures established by The Education and Inspections
Act 2006 (EIA 2006) and The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations
to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended by The
School Organisation and Governance (Amendment) (England) Regulations
2007 and The School Organisation and Governance (Amendment)
(England) Regulations 2009, have been complied with in bringing forward
the proposals outlined in this report.

2.

consider the representations attached at Appendix E, to the statutory
notices as set out in Appendices A-D, issued on the 20 February 2012
under Section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 for Tithe
Farm Lower School, Hawthorn Park Lower School and Thornhill Lower
School and Section 19(3) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 for
Thomas Whitehead CofE VA Lower School.

Agenda Item 3
Page 9

3.

approve the statutory proposals to extend the age ranges of the following
four schools to become 3-11 Primary Schools, with effect from September
2013.
i.

Tithe Farm Lower School to provide 420 places in the main school for
pupils aged 5-11, with a published admission number of 60, plus
provision for 78 part time nursery places.

ii.

Hawthorn Park Lower School to provide 420 places in the main
School for pupils aged 5-11, with a published admission number of
60, plus provision for 79 part time nursery places.

iii.

Thornhill Lower School to provide 210 places in the main school for
pupils aged 5-11, with a published admission number of 30, plus
provision for 60 part time nursery places.

iv.

Thomas Whitehead VA Lower School to provide 308 places in the
main school for pupils aged 5-11, with a published admission number
of 44, plus provision for 44 part time nursery places.

Reason for
Recommendations:

To determine the outcome of the statutory proposals following the
close of the representation period on the 2 April 2012. If the
Council were to fail to decide these proposals within 2 months of
the end of the representation period it must forward proposals,
and any received representations, to the schools adjudicator for
decision.

Executive Summary
24.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Executive Member for Children’s
Services with sufficient information and guidance to enable him to determine the
proposals to extend the age ranges of four schools in Houghton Regis.

25.

The report will set out the background to the proposals and the process that they
have followed to date, aligned with the statutory requirements set out in
legislation and Department for Education guidance for proposals of this nature.

26.

The report concludes with a recommendation to approve the proposed changes
to age ranges at these four schools, with an implementation date of September
2013.

Background
27.

Central Bedfordshire’s guidance for maintained schools proposing changes to
age ranges was published on the Council’s website, in Central Essentials and in
the Members Bulletin on 9 and 16 September 2011 respectively. The October
2011 edition of Governors Essentials also contained advice on the new process.
The guidance was created using Department for Education statutory guidance
for decision makers as its basis.

Agenda Item 3
Page 10

28.

A number of proposals were received and acknowledged by the Council, and
proposals from the following schools to become 3-11 Primary schools from
September 2013, were subsequently approved by the Deputy Chief Executive /
Director of Children’s Services, in consultation with the Executive Member for
Children’s Services, to proceed to initial consultation.
Tithe Farm Lower School to in future cater for approximately 420 pupils.
Hawthorn Park Lower School to in future cater for approximately 420 pupils.
Thornhill Lower School to in future cater for approximately 210 pupils.

29.

Separately, the Governing Body of Thomas Whitehead CofE VA Lower School
determined, as it is able to do as a Voluntary School, to undertake initial
consultation on a similar proposal to become a primary school to cater for
approximately 308 pupils, in parallel with the other three local Community
schools. Although the school is able to propose to change its age range, to
consult and to publish statutory notices for the purpose, the Council is the
eventual decision maker in the process.

30.

The initial consultation period for all four proposals commenced on 5 December
2011 and each school was supported to ensure that the process followed that
set out in Department for Education guidance and regulation. The consultation
period ended on 3 February 2012.

31.

The Governing Bodies of the three community schools then submitted their
consultation materials, minutes of public meetings and copies of all responses
received to the Council.

32.

Each Community School also prepared a summary of the responses received,
setting out those made in support and objection to the proposal and also
providing additional comment where relevant. The Governing Bodies of these
three schools formally confirmed their continuing support for the proposal and
requested that the Council approved the publication of statutory proposals.

33.

On the 14 February 2012 the Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s
Services, in consultation with the Executive Member for Children’s Services,
considered the representations made to the initial consultation and the
statements of the Governing Bodies of each of the three Community Schools
and approved the publication of separate statutory proposals, under Section
19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, for each of these three schools
to change their age range to become Primary Schools catering for pupils aged
5-11 with effect of September 2013.

34.

The Governing Body of Thomas Whitehead VA Lower School also considered
the outcome of their initial consultation and determined to progress with the
publication of statutory proposals under Section 19(3) of the Education and
Inspections Act 2006 to change their age range to become a Primary School
catering for pupils aged 5-11 with effect of September 2013.

Agenda Item 3
Page 11

35.

The four statutory proposals were each published in line with Department for
Education guidance on 20 February 2012 along with evidence of the initial
consultation and other information prescribed by regulation inviting further
comment or objection to the proposals by the end of the representation period
on 2 April 2012. Copies of the Statutory Notices and the prescribed information
for each of the four proposals are attached at Appendices A-D for Tithe Farm,
Hawthorn Park and Thornhill Community Lower Schools and Thomas
Whitehead CofE VA Lower School respectively.

36.

The timescale for consultation and final determination has been planned to
enable any approved proposals to be reflected in the Admissions booklet
published in the summer of 2012 for admission in September 2013. If the
Council were to fail to decide these proposals within 2 months of the end of the
representation period it must forward proposals, and any received
representations, to the schools adjudicator for decision.

Determination
37.

The Executive Member for Children’s Services is authorised, under delegated
authority, to exercise the Council’s duty to determine proposals to alter the
upper age range of pupils in schools. As decision maker the Council must be
satisfied that the proposals have followed due process and he must have regard
to guidance issued by the Secretary of State.

38.

Before judging the respective factors and merits of the statutory proposals, the
Executive Member for Children’s Services must consider four key issues. These
are:
•
•
•
•

Is any information missing?
Does the published notice comply with statutory requirements?
Has the statutory consultation been carried out prior to the publication of the
notice?
Are the proposals “related” to other published proposals?

39.

The statutory proposals were published on 20 February 2012 with information
prescribed by regulation and supplemented with significant additional content
explicitly outlining the objectives of each school, in bringing the proposals
forward. The information was complete, clear and complied with statutory
requirements. Evidence that the initial consultation was carried out before the
statutory notices were published was provided to the Council and the proposals
are not related to each other but are independent and capable of being
determined without preventing or undermining the implementation of others in
this report.

40.

The Department for Education guidance for decision makers is issued by the
Secretary of State and contains a number of key factors to be considered
when they make a decision on proposals of this nature. The guidance is clear
that these factors should not be taken to be exhaustive and all proposals
should be considered on their individual merits. The following sections
therefore focus on the factors most relevant to these proposals.

Agenda Item 3
Page 12

41.

A system shaped by parents – The findings of the initial consultation indicated
significant support and parental demand for the proposed change in age
ranges at each of the four schools.

42.

Standards – The key driving objective of these proposals is to raise standards
and to improve outcomes for young people, particularly at Key Stage 2 but
paying particular attention to groups that tend to underperform and will benefit
from the stability, consistency and continuity for children throughout their primary
years, through each school’s ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning
organisation. All four schools believe that conversion to Primary Schools will be
of benefit in raising the attainment of all pupils in particular by removing the
disruption of a school transfer at the end of year 4.

43.

Diversity - The proposal enables the Council to meet its statutory duty to secure
diversity of provision in school places and to increase opportunities for parental
choice for those who favour a primary age range. One of the receiver Middle
Schools for this group of lower schools, Mill Vale Middle School, has already
consulted on changing its age range to become a primary school on conversion
to Academy status thereby removing the opportunity in future for parents to
choose this as an option.

44.

The Governing Body and Academy sponsors of the other receiver middle school
for these lower schools, Kings Houghton Middle School, has indicated support
for the proposals and an intention to consult on changes to its age range in due
course. Likewise the existing receiver Upper School, All Saints Academy, has
consulted on changing its age range to become an 11-18 secondary school in
the same timeframe and awaits a decision from the Education Funding Agency,
decision maker for Academy proposals.

45.

These schools are supportive of each others proposals and together with the
new University Technical College, to be established in Houghton Regis from
September 2012, they have committed to work collaboratively to ensure there is
a well organised system of primary and secondary education in the area in the
future that benefits both pupils and parents.

46.

Every Child Matters – Each of the proposals are clear that achieving the five
outcomes for Every Child Matters is central to the schools ethos with wrap
around care, support for families and a wide range of extended services that can
be further developed by working in partnership. The proposals represent a
significant opportunity to improve these services and they may be further
enhanced by greater collaboration between the local Neighbourhood/Children’s
Centres and schools that share their sites.

47.

Equal opportunity issues – Each of the schools has carefully considered these
issues and the impact on provision for children with special educational needs
and disabilities in their proposal documents that have been publicised with the
statutory notices. Similarly each school has made a commitment to provide
access to a range of opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of
their local communities, while ensuring that such opportunities are open to all.

Agenda Item 3
Page 13

48.

Need for places – The Council’s School Organisation Plan is refreshed on an
annual basis to take account of the supply and demand for school places. It is
informed by data on school capacity and forecasts of pupil numbers as a result
of changes in birth rate, housing development and parental preferences.

49.

The pattern of provision in Central Bedfordshire is also reflected in the Plan and
while it is traditionally a three tier area of lower, middle and upper schools it also
has a primary school and a middle deemed primary serving the 5-13 age range.
The pattern of provision in the Dunstable and Houghton Regis area, where the
schools subject to these proposals are located, is subject to significant change
as a result of a number of Academies that are independent of the Local
Authority and are also proposing changes to their existing age ranges
fundamentally towards a more traditional primary/secondary pattern of provision.

50.

These proposals are aligned with those being made currently by the Academies
in the area and will ensure a coherent pattern of primary and secondary
provision and transition for the pupils in these schools. It also provides the
Council with a clearer basis for strategic planning to meet the demand of
planned local housing growth in the north Houghton Regis area.

51.

Changes to the Published Admission Numbers of the schools subject to these
proposals are only planned at Thornhill Lower school which will reduce from 40
to 30 places which is reflective of the number of admissions to the school in
recent years and will not therefore cause displacement of pupils. The remaining
schools will retain their existing PANs and plan to utilise existing surplus places
or to create additional physical space to provide the additional places to meet
parental demand for the extended primary age range.

52.

Travel and Accessibility for all – Section 76 of the Education and Inspections Act
2006 places a duty on local education authorities to promote the use of
sustainable modes of travel to meet the school travel needs of their area. None
of the schools subject of these proposals will be changing their sites and the
current distribution of school sites will remain as it currently is.

53.

Whilst there may be an increase in the total numbers of children travelling to
three of the schools subject of these proposals, this will be matched by a
corresponding reduction in journeys to the current receiver middle school.
Similarly the schools are all within easy walking distance; hence the majority of
increased traffic would be expected to be pedestrian.

54.

Each of the schools concerned already has an approved travel plan which will
be updated if the proposals are approved to reflect the changes that will be
made and to outline the actions they will be taking to encourage sustainable
travel and to ensure any negative travel and transport issues are minimised. The
Council’s sustainable transport team are able to help support this review
process and provide guidance as to the actions that should be put in place.
Should planning applications be needed then updated travel plans will also be
required to accompany the application.

Agenda Item 3
Page 14

55.

Funding and land – Capital costs have been identified to implement the
proposals at three of the four schools. The Governing Bodies of Tithe Farm and
Hawthorn Park Lower Schools have committed to fund the required expansions
in due course. None of the proposals are reliant on capital receipts, new sites or
playing fields and there are no land tenure issues arising from these proposals.
Thomas Whitehead is a Voluntary Aided school and will seek any capital it
requires through the Locally Controlled Voluntary Aided Programme (LCVAP)
with the support of the Diocese.

56.

Special educational needs provision – Each of the schools subject of these
proposals, already support children with special educational needs attending
their local mainstream school. While there are no proposals to establish new
specialist provision or to change existing, each of the schools believe that
current provision and practice for special educational needs, vulnerable and
looked after children and for children with disabilities is good and will be
enhanced by the proposal.

57.

In expanding age ranges, delivering the whole of the primary curriculum and
retaining children through to the end of year 6 the schools believe that all
learners will be better supported since many children find it difficult to adapt to
the disruption of a larger school, different organisation and different approaches
to teaching and learning.

58.

Likewise the schools believe that the primary approach of mixed ability classes
better supports vulnerable children as they benefit from the stimulus and support
of others, and have opportunities to excel in other areas thus boosting their self esteem. The schools have the facility to teach children in groups other than their
registration groups. This has already proved very successful in school for
reading and in KS2 maths and this would continue to support more vulnerable
learners.

59.

Hawthorn Park currently also manages the Jigsaw Extended School Provision
for excluded pupils in years 1-6 so sharing of expertise and resources will be
enabled across all of the schools if the proposal were approved.

60.

Views of interested parties – The Department for Education guidance is clear
that the decision maker should consider the views expressed during the initial
consultation and the statutory representation period, following publication of the
statutory public notices. In doing so he should not simply take account of the
numbers of respondents expressing a particular view but instead give the
greatest weight to representations from stakeholders likely to be most directly
affected by the proposals.

61.

The full analysis of the responses to the initial consultation is attached with the
Statutory Notices for each school at Appendices A to D.

62.

A significant majority of responses to the initial consultation for each of the four
schools were positive with overwhelming support from parents and carers.
Concerns were raised by a limited number of schools at the potential to disrupt
the pattern of three tier education provision, however these were not from
schools that would be impacted in the immediate area. In fact, as stated
previously, the existing receiver middle schools did not object to the proposals
and one has stated its support.

Agenda Item 3
Page 15

63.

Three responses were received within the formal 6 week representation period.
These are attached at Appendix E and were from the Council’s Sustainable
Transport Team, Greenwood Dale Foundation Trust and Mrs Rae Bird, a
resident of Houghton Regis. Issues raised by the first two of these respondents
are contained within this report. The Council’s reply to the issues raised by Mrs
Bird is outlined in Appendix E.

64.

The consultation outcomes indicate that there is significant support for the
proposals to extend the age range of the four schools in this report.

Decision
65.

In considering the proposals the decision maker may decide to reject, approve
or to approve with modifications (e.g. the implementation date) the proposals
set out in this report. In either case, the reasons for the final decision must be
carefully recorded indicating the main factors considered and the reasons for
the decision. A copy of the final decision must be forwarded to a range of
bodies specified in guidance.

66.

Whilst the decision on the three Community School proposals will be binding,
there is provision within the legislation for the Governing Body or Diocese to
appeal the decision in connection with Thomas Whitehead CofE VA Lower
School by reference to the Office of the School Adjudicator.

67.

Having followed the procedure required by regulation and in consideration of
the key issues and factors for decision makers set out in guidance it is
recommended that the proposals to extend age ranges at the four schools as
set out in this report and published by Statutory Notices issued on 20 February
2012, be approved with an implementation date of 1 September 2013.

Appendices:
Appendix A: Statutory Notices, prescribed information and responses to the statutory
consultation for Tithe Farm Lower School
Appendix B: Statutory Notices, prescribed information and responses to the statutory
consultation for Hawthorn Park Lower School
Appendix C: Statutory Notices, prescribed information and responses to the statutory
consultation for Thornhill Lower School
Appendix D: Statutory Notices, prescribed information and responses to the statutory
consultation for Thomas Whitehead CofE VA Lower School
Appendix E: Responses received within the representation period
Background Papers: (open to public inspection)
Statutory Notice and Prescribed Alteration Documents

Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
Page 17

Appendix A

Proposal to extend the age range of Tithe Farm Community
Lower School from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary
school.

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 that
Central Bedfordshire Council intends to make a prescribed alteration to Tithe Farm Community
Lower School, Tithe Farm Road, Houghton Regis, Bedfordshire LU5 5JB from 1 September 2013.
The proposal is to change the age range of Tithe Farm Community Lower School by extending it
from a 3 – 9 years lower school to a 3 – 11 years primary school
This is to be implemented in two stages:
September 2013 - year 4 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 5.
September 2014 - Year 5 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 6.
The current capacity of the school is 300 in the main school plus provision for 78 part time nursery
places. Following implementation the proposed capacity will be 420 places in the main school plus
provision for 78 part time nursery places.
The current admission number for the main school is 60 for each year group. The proposed
admission number will remain the same. Total capacity for September 2013 is expected to be 360
in the main school with 78 part time nursery places. Total capacity for September 2014 is expected
to be 420 in the main school with 78 part time nursery places.
This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal can be
obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire Council, Room DC2, Watling
House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds, LU6 1LF. It can also be viewed on the Council's
website at http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object to or make
comments on the proposal by sending them to The Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children's
Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds, SG17 5TQ.
Signed: Edwina Grant
Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services
Publication Date: 20 February 2012
Explanatory notes
It is proposed that extending the age range of Tithe Farm Community Lower School from 3 – 9
years to 3– 11 years to create a primary school will provide improved standards in years 5 and 6
and therefore at the end of Key Stage 2. National data shows that changing school may impact
negatively on pupils’ progress and may result in a lack of curriculum understanding, continuity, and
assessment agreement. This proposal will remove the transition at the end of year 4.
The school can accommodate the additional year groups until July 2015 without the need for
additional accommodation. From September 2015 the school proposes to change the use of the
classroom currently used by the Neighbourhood Centre. From 2016 the school will need two
further classrooms which are proposed to be provided by the school.

Agenda Item 3
Page 18

PROPOSALS FOR PRESCRIBED ALTERATIONS OTHER
THAN FOUNDATION PROPOSALS: Information to be included
in a complete proposal
Extract of Part 1 of Schedule 3 and Part 1 of Schedule 5 to The School
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)(England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended):
In respect of a Governing Body Proposal: School and governing body’s details
1. The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body are
publishing the proposals.
N/A
In respect of an LEA Proposal: School and local education authority details
1. The name, address and category of the school .
Tithe Farm Community Lower School
Tithe Farm Road,
Dunstable,
Bedfordshire.
LU5 5JB
Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation
2. The date on which the proposals are planned to be implemented, and if they are to be
implemented in stages, a description of what is planned for each stage, and the number of
stages intended and the dates of each stage.
The proposal will be implemented on 1 September 2013.
In September 2013 - year 4 children will be retained at school and become a new year 5
In September 2014 – year 5 children will be retained at school and become a new year 6

Objections and comments
3. A statement explaining the procedure for making representations, including —
(a) the date prescribed in accordance with paragraph 29 of Schedule 3 (GB
proposals)/Schedule 5 (LA proposals) of The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), by
which objections or comments should be sent to the local education authority; and
(b) the address of the authority to which objections or comments should be sent.
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal (i.e. 2 April 2012) any

1

Agenda Item 3
Page 19

person may object to or make comments on the proposal by sending them to Edwina
Grant, Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire
Council, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds. SG17 5TQ

Alteration description
4. A description of the proposed alteration and in the case of special school proposals, a
description of the current special needs provision.
It is proposed that Tithe Farm Community Lower School will extend its age range from a
3-9 years lower school to a 3-11 years primary school.

School capacity
5.—(1) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 8 , 9
and 12-14 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/paragraphs 1-4, 7, 8, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule 4
(LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)
(England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), the proposals must also include —
(a) details of the current capacity of the school and, where the proposals will alter the
capacity of the school, the proposed capacity of the school after the alteration;
The current capacity of the school is 300 places in the main school plus provision for 78
part time nursery places. Following implementation, the proposed capacity will be 420
places in the main school plus provision for 78 part time nursery places.

(b) details of the current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant age
group, and where this number is to change, the proposed number of pupils to be
admitted in each relevant age group in the first school year in which the proposals
will have been implemented;
The school currently has an admission number of 60 at age 4+. This will not change.

(c) where it is intended that proposals should be implemented in stages, the number of
pupils to be admitted to the school in the first school year in which each stage will
have been implemented;
There will be no change to the number of pupils to be admitted. However in September
2013 a new year 5 will be created and in September 2014 a new year 6 will be created to
enable pupils, who would have otherwise have had to leave the school at the end of year
4, to remain.

2

Agenda Item 3
Page 20

(d) where the number of pupils in any relevant age group is lower than the indicated
admission number for that relevant age group a statement to this effect and details of
the indicated admission number in question.
Currently all year groups are below the admission number of 60:
¾
¾

Nursery – 25 (further intakes due in January and April)

¾

Year 1 – 30

¾

Year 3 – 28

¾

Year R – 30

¾

Year 2 – 30
Year 4 – 28

Year R usually has more children than the Nursery as children from other nurseries join the
school.
Currently the school has significant surplus capacity across all year groups. The increase in
the number of year groups at the school will effectively reduce some of this surplus.

(2) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1, 2, 9, 12 and 13
of Schedule 2 (GB proposals) /paragraphs 1, 2, 8, 18 ands 19 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals)
to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended), a statement of the number of pupils at the school at the
time of the publication of the proposals.
146 pupils in the main school plus 25 foundation stage pupils
Implementation
6. Where the proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary controlled school a statement as
to whether the proposals are to be implemented by the local education authority or by the
governing body, and, if the proposals are to be implemented by both, a statement as to the
extent to which they are to be implemented by each body.
N/A
Additional Site
7.—(1) A statement as to whether any new or additional site will be required if proposals
are implemented and if so the location of the site if the school is to occupy a split site.
N/A
(2) Where proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary school a statement as to who will
provide any additional site required, together with details of the tenure (freehold or
leasehold) on which the site of the school will be held, and if the site is to be held on a
lease, details of the proposed lease.
N/A

3

Agenda Item 3
Page 21

Changes in boarding arrangements
8.—(1) Where the proposals are for the introduction or removal of boarding provision, or
the alteration of existing boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of
Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 to The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom it is intended that boarding provision will be made if
the proposals are approved;
N/A
(b) the arrangements for safeguarding the welfare of children at the school;
N/A
(c) the current number of pupils for whom boarding provision can be made and a
description of the boarding provision; and
N/A
(d) except where the proposals are to introduce boarding provision, a description of the
existing boarding provision.
N/A
(2) Where the proposals are for the removal of boarding provisions or an alteration to
reduce boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of Schedule 2 (GB
proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom boarding provision will be removed if the proposals
are approved; and
N/A
(b) a statement as to the use to which the former boarding accommodation will be put if
the proposals are approved.
N/A
Transfer to new site
9. Where the proposals are to transfer a school to a new site the following information—
(a) the location of the proposed site (including details of whether the school is to occupy
a single or split site), and including where appropriate the postal address;
N/A
(b) the distance between the proposed and current site;

4

Agenda Item 3
Page 22

N/A
(c) the reason for the choice of proposed site;
N/A
(d) the accessibility of the proposed site or sites;
N/A
(e) the proposed arrangements for transport of pupils to the school on its new site; and
N/A
(f) a statement about other sustainable transport alternatives where pupils are not using
transport provided, and how car use in the school area will be discouraged.
N/A
Objectives
10. The objectives of the proposals.
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age
11, 16 and 18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.
To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are
underperforming and exceeding in years 5 and 6.
To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis.
To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years,
through our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organization.
To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning
and teaching on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints
Academy in Dunstable
To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of
faith

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs

x

To improve transition for children on transfer,

x

To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6
To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

5

Agenda Item 3
Page 23

Consultation
11. Evidence of the consultation before the proposals were published including—
(a) a list of persons who were consulted;
(b) minutes of all public consultation meetings;
(c) the views of the persons consulted;
(d) a statement to the effect that all applicable statutory requirements in relation to the
proposals to consult were complied with; and
(e) copies of all consultation documents and a statement on how these documents were
made available.
Informal consultation was carried out between 5 December 2011 and 3 February 2012
(a) Parents/guardians of children currently attending Tithe Farm Lower School
Staff at Tithe Farm Lower School
The Chairs of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The Head teachers of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The Principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire Councillors
Members of Parliament for South West Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre-school providers in Houghton Regis,
Pre-school providers’ in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
Pre-school providers in Luton between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
The Chairs of Governors of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1
motorway (including academies)
The Head teachers of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
(including academies)
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff
All church leaders within Houghton Regis
Manager of Tithe Farm Neighbourhood Centre
Internal (Central Bedfordshire Council) consultation in Early Years / SEN
A Public Meeting was held at the school on 18 January 2102.
( b) See Appendix A
(c) See Appendix B
(d) ) All applicable statutory requirements in relation to the proposals to consult were
complied with.

6

Agenda Item 3
Page 24

(e) A copy of the consultation document is available via the Central Bedfordshire
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations
.This
consultation
Council
document was circulated to all of the people listed in section (a) and was also made
available via the Councils publication ‘Central Essentials’ which is emailed weekly to
head teachers and chairs of governors.

Project costs
12. A statement of the estimated total capital cost of the proposals and the breakdown of
the costs that are to be met by the governing body, the local education authority, and any
other party.
The school was originally built as a 2 form entry infant and junior school with shared
kitchen and dining hall and overall capacity for 420 pupils.

¾ Recent building work and work the school had previously funded has updated
the majority of the accommodation.

¾ The school currently has 3 surplus classrooms which can be refurbished and put
back in to use.
¾ Excluding the Nursery classrooms the school will then have a total of 11
classrooms that could accommodate 30 pupils each.

¾ There is one further classroom that is currently in use by the Neighbourhood
Centre this classroom and associated areas would need to return to the school
to be refurbished by the school for September 2015.

¾ There will be a further need for additional classroom space in to take two further
classes; the earliest this will be needed is 2016. The cost of additional build
would be approx £220,000 based on current costs for new build. This could be
either to add additional classrooms for main school pupils or to look at new build
for EYFS part of school.
¾ The school will budget towards the costs for new build over the next 3-4 years
and also look in to possible funding for EYFS provision to enable provision for 2
year olds and eventually from birth. (giving 0 – 11 provision)

13. A copy of confirmation from the Secretary of State, local education authority and the
Learning and Skills Council for England (as the case may be) that funds will be made
available (including costs to cover any necessary site purchase).
N/A
Age range
14. Where the proposals relate to a change in age range, the current age range for the
school.
The current age range is 3-9 years across the main school plus part time nursery
provision.

7

Agenda Item 3
Page 25

Early years provision
15. Where the proposals are to alter the lower age limit of a mainstream school so that it
provides for pupils aged between 2 and 5—
(a) details of the early years provision, including the number of full-time and part-time
pupils, the number and length of sessions in each week, and the services for
disabled children that will be offered;
The school already caters for pupils aged 3-9 with 300 places in the main school plus 78
part time nursery places. The provision for nursery aged pupils will not change.
(b) how the school will integrate the early years provision with childcare services and
how the proposals are consistent with the integration of early years provision for
childcare;
The school currently has an admission number of 60 at age 4+. This will not change.
(c) evidence of parental demand for additional provision of early years provision;
N/A
(d) assessment of capacity, quality and sustainability of provision in schools and in
establishments other than schools who deliver the Early Years Foundation Stage
within 3 miles of the school; and
N/A
(e) reasons why such schools and establishments who have spare capacity cannot
make provision for any forecast increase in the number of such provision.
N/A
Changes to sixth form provision
16. (a) Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school
provides sixth form education or additional sixth form education, a statement of how the
proposals will—
(i) improve the educational or training achievements;
(ii) increase participation in education or training; and
(iii) expand the range of educational or training opportunities
for 16-19 year olds in the area;
N/A
(b) A statement as to how the new places will fit within the 16-19 organisation in an area;

8

Agenda Item 3
Page 26

N/A
(c) Evidence —
(i) of the local collaboration in drawing up the proposals; and
(ii) that the proposals are likely to lead to higher standards and better progression at the
school;

N/A
(d) The proposed number of sixth form places to be provided.
N/A

17. Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school
ceases to provide sixth form education, a statement of the effect on the supply of 16-19
places in the area.
N/A

Special educational needs
18. Where the proposals are to establish or change provision for special educational
needs—
(a) a description of the proposed types of learning difficulties in respect of which
education will be provided and, where provision for special educational needs
already exists, the current type of provision;
There are no proposals to establish or change provision for SEN
x
x
x
x
x
x

Tithe Farm Lower School feels that changing age range will have no negative
impact on the current good SEN provision.
The school will be able to continue with the good and supportive SEN
provision already in place and pupils will benefit from this for a further two
years.
Increasingly more vulnerable children find it difficult to adapt to the disruption
of a larger school, different organisation and different approaches to teaching
and learning
The primary approach of mixed ability classes supports children of this age;
they benefit from the stimulus and support of others, and have opportunities
to excel in other areas thus boosting their self -esteem.
We have the expertise, resources and teaching methodologies to support
children who find learning hard.
We have the facility to teach children in groups other than their registration
groups

(b) any additional specialist features will be provided;

9

Agenda Item 3
Page 27

N/A
(c) the proposed numbers of pupils for which the provision is to be made;
N/A
(d) details of how the provision will be funded;
N/A
(e) a statement as to whether the education will be provided for children with special
educational needs who are not registered pupils at the school to which the proposals
relate;
N/A
(f) a statement as to whether the expenses of the provision will be met from the school’s
delegated budget;
N/A
(g) the location of the provision if it is not to be established on the existing site of the
school;
N/A
(h) where the provision will replace existing educational provision for children with
special educational needs, a statement as to how the local education authority
believes that the new provision is likely to lead to improvement in the standard,
quality and range of the educational provision for such children; and
N/A
(i) the number of places reserved for children with special educational needs, and
where this number is to change, the proposed number of such places.
N/A

19. Where the proposals are to discontinue provision for special educational needs—
(a) details of alternative provision for pupils for whom the provision is currently made;
N/A

10

Agenda Item 3
Page 28

(b) details of the number of pupils for whom provision is made that is recognised by the
local education authority as reserved for children with special educational needs
during each of the 4 school years preceding the current school year;
N/A
(c) details of provision made outside the area of the local education authority for pupils
whose needs will not be able to be met in the area of the authority as a result of the
discontinuance of the provision; and
N/A
(d) a statement as to how the proposer believes that the proposals are likely to lead to
improvement in the standard, quality and range of the educational provision for such
children.
N/A

20. Where the proposals will lead to alternative provision for children with special
educational needs, as a result of the establishment, alteration or discontinuance of existing
provision, the specific educational benefits that will flow from the proposals in terms of—
(a) improved access to education and associated services including the curriculum,
wider school activities, facilities and equipment with reference to the local education
authority’s Accessibility Strategy;
(b) improved access to specialist staff, both educational and other professionals,
including any external support and outreach services;
(c) improved access to suitable accommodation; and
(d) improved supply of suitable places.
N/A
Sex of pupils
21. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to provide that a school which was an
establishment which admitted pupils of one sex only becomes an establishment which
admits pupils of both sexes—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the
provision of single sex-education in the area;
N/A
(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education; and
N/A

11

Agenda Item 3
Page 29

(c) details of any transitional period which the body making the proposals wishes
specified in a transitional exemption order (within the meaning of section 27 of the
Sex Discrimination Act 1975).
N/A

22. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to a school to provide that a school
which was an establishment which admitted pupils of both sexes becomes an establishment
which admits pupils of one sex only—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the
provision of single-sex education in the area; and
N/A
(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education.
N/A
Extended services
23. If the proposed alterations affect the provision of the school’s extended services, details
of the current extended services the school is offering and details of any proposed change as
a result of the alterations.
The school currently provides a breakfast club and a range of after school clubs and will
be able to provide more extended services including workshops, counselling provision
and parental support through enhanced staffing and working collaboratively with other
schools.
Need or demand for additional places
24. If the proposals involve adding places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the need or demand for the particular places
in the area;
In response to parental concerns, the proposal will add an additional 60 places per year
group for years 5 and 6. This will enable pupils to remain in the school should parents
wish this thereby increasing choice and diversity across the area.
(b) where the school has a religious character, a statement and supporting evidence of
the demand in the area for education in accordance with the tenets of the religion or
religious denomination;
N/A

12

Agenda Item 3
Page 30

(c) where the school adheres to a particular philosophy, evidence of the demand for
education in accordance with the philosophy in question and any associated change
to the admission arrangements for the school.
N/A

25. If the proposals involve removing places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the reasons for the removal, including an
assessment of the impact on parental choice; and
The proposals will increase provision across the area and increase parental choice.
(b) a statement on the local capacity to accommodate displaced pupils.
N/A

Expansion of successful and popular schools
25A. (1) Proposals must include a statement of whether the proposer considers that the
presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools should apply, and where
the governing body consider the presumption applies, evidence to support this.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to expansion proposals in respect of primary and secondary
schools, (except for grammar schools), i.e. falling within:
(a) (for proposals published by the governing body) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to
Schedule 2 or paragraph 12 of Part 2 to Schedule 2;
(b) (for proposals published by the LA) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to Schedule 4 or 18 of
Part 4 to Schedule 4
of the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended).
N/A

13

Agenda Item 3
Page 31

Appendix A

Headteacher
Mrs S J Surgey
B.Ed (Hons) M.A. NPQH

Tithe Farm Road
Houghton Regis
Bedfordshire
LU5 5JB

Telephone (01582) 865047
Fax (01582) 865057

tithefarm@cbc.beds.sch.uk

Where “pupils thrive in their learning & personal development”
MINUTES FROM PUBLIC MEETING REGARDING PROPOSED AGE RANGE CHANGE
WEDNESDAY 18

TH

JANUARY 6-7:30pm

Meeting opened at 6:05

Attendees – signing in sheet attached.
Welcome and Introduction by Chair of Governors Mrs Susan Goodchild

Mrs Goodchild welcomed everyone to the meeting and thanked everyone for coming along. She
then introduced Mrs Surgey (Head teacher), Nicola Chinnery (Deputy Head teacher), Sarah
Clarke (Clerk to Governing Body and Minute taker) all members of staff and all members of Tithe
Farm’s Governing Body.
Presentation by the Head teacher Mrs Shelah Surgey (see attached presentation)

QUESTIONS/COMMENTS

Elaine Fairclough, Head teacher Thomas Whitehead Lower School -Parental choice is good
and not one model just to follow parents may wish a child to go to middle school.

Julia Lawson, Head teacher, Thornhill Lower School - Thornhill totally agrees with what Mrs
Surgey had said. Felt the key things is that the rest of the country is in a two tier system and we
wish to follow that and when you look at standards, CBC is below the rest of the country.

14

Agenda Item 3
Page 32

Tom Waterworth, Principal All Saints - Believes this is a very exciting time and loves what the
presentation said about improving standards all along and giving children the skills they need for
life. Most of our children come from Houghton Regis. Stability and continuity is not present at the
moment, it is messy. All Saints is very excited about the possibilities and leading on curriculum
changes. Very excited about re writing the curriculum in years 5,6 7 8 and we want to work as
equal partners with primary schools in Houghton Regis. All Saints success depends on the
individual success in schools in our community. Transition is as a shared experience. All Saints
would love to work with schools on this and we are currently awaiting the outcome of our
submission to have our age range changed. There is a new building at All Saints. All Saints is
very keen to work together to make a great future for our students and we need joined up
thinking. The proposal has full support from All Saints they are committed to working as a
partnership and to make this area a beacon for primary schools across the country.
A Parent Support Advisor wished to raise the point regarding SEN (special educational needs)
for pupils. The advisor has a son with Tourette’s, who, when diagnosed, found it very difficult to
move to middle school and the parents would very much have liked to leave their child at a
primary school for longer where the staff and children knew him well. Teachers here know the
children and can recognise the traits and help the children.
Shelah Surgey, Head teacher Tithe Farm - SEN children find the move to middle school very
difficult and are at risk of exclusion. They can find moving from class to class difficult. SS feels
SEN children will benefit from a primary education until the age of 11. All children are individuals
and we are able to treat them accordingly. Our teachers have all but half a day with their pupils
and know them very well.
Lindsey Johnson, Head teacher Hawthorn Park The statistics for permanent exclusion show
that the vast majority are in years 5 or 6 or in year 9 i.e. at transition periods. They often end up
in pupil referral units. Jigsaw is a primary provision in a local school.
Kim Ireland, Town Councillor -Wished all schools every success with their proposal.

Close of meeting by Chair of Governors Mrs Susan Goodchild
rd

Mrs Goodchild closed the meeting by advising everyone that this was the 3 consultation of the 4
meetings scheduled. She urged people to attend the remaining meeting to send a strong
message that the schools parents and community of Houghton Regis will support this process.

15

Agenda Item 3
Page 33

Finally Mrs Goodchild thanked everyone for coming.
Meeting closed at 6:40

16

Agenda Item 3
Page 34

Appendix B

Headteacher
Mrs S J Surgey
B.Ed (Hons) M.A. NPQH

Tithe Farm Road
Houghton Regis
Bedfordshire
LU5 5JB

Telephone (01582) 865047
Fax (01582) 865057

tithefarm@cbc.beds.sch.uk

Where “pupils thrive in their learning & personal development”

REPORT ON THE INFORMAL CONSULTATION CONDUCTED WITH REGARD TO A
PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE UPPER AGE RANGE OF TITHE FARM LOWER SCHOOL,
TITHE FARM ROAD, HOUGHTON REGIS, BEDFORDSHIRE, LU5 5JB FROM 3 – 9 YEARS
TO 3 – 11 YEARS

PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

The purpose of this document is to provide information and report on the informal consultation
relating to a proposal to extend the upper age range of Tithe Farm Lower School from 3 – 9 years
to 3 – 11 years to create a full primary school.

OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11, 16 and

x

18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.

x

and exceeding in years 5 and 6.

To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are underperforming

x

To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis.

x

our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organization.

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through

To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning and
teaching on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints Academy in

x

Dunstable

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs

x

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith

To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6

17

Agenda Item 3
Page 35

x

x

To improve transition for children on transfer,
To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

PROCESS OF INFORMAL CONSULTATION
th

Informal consultation period ran from 5 December 2011 to 3rd February 2012. The consultation
consisted of a consultation document, a meeting for staff and unions and a public meeting.

Consultation documents were sent to the following people:

Parents/guardians of children currently attending Tithe Farm Lower School
Staff at Tithe Farm Lower School
The Chairs of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The Head teachers of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The Principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire Councillors
Members of Parliament for South West Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre-school provision in Houghton Regis,
Pre-school provision in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
Pre-school provision in Luton between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
The Chairs of Governors of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
(including academies)
The Head teachers of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway (including
academies)
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff
All church leaders within Houghton Regis
Manager of Tithe Farm Neighbourhood Centre
Head of Early Intervention & Prevention, CBC
Head of School Support, CBC

The consultation document was also available on the Central Bedfordshire Learning Portal and
publicised in Central Essentials.

18

Agenda Item 3
Page 36

th

A meeting for staff and Trade Union officials was held on Wednesday 18 January 2012 between
4pm and 5pm. All staff and Trade Union officials were given prior notice of this meeting in writing.
A public meeting was held on Wednesday 18th January 2012 between 6pm and 7:30pm. This
meeting was publicised by flyers and on the Central Bedfordshire Learning Portal, details were
also in Central Essentials.

Pupils in Years 1 – 4 were also consulted during discussion time.

RESPONSES TO INFORMAL CONSULTATION

Tithe Farm Lower School received 146 written responses to the consultation.

Overall - collated responses.
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Tithe Farm Lower School.
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

128

5

6

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

7

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Tithe Farm Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

113

18

8

1

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

5

0

**1 with no response box chosen

95 parent/guardian responses
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Tithe Farm Lower School.
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

90

2

2

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

1

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Tithe Farm Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

77

13

4

1

19

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

0

0

Agenda Item 3
Page 37

14 responses from other schools (Governing Bodies and schools as organisations)
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Tithe Farm Lower School.
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

9

1

2

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

3

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Tithe Farm Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

9

1

2

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

3

0

36 Other (including MP, Councillors, school staff (individuals) and Unions)
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Tithe Farm Lower School.
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

29

2

2

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

3*

0

* includes a Councillor who actually agrees with the proposal but will not support it as Houghton Regis Lower are not
being allowed to consult.

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Tithe Farm Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

27

4

2

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

2

0

**1 with no response box chosen

The meeting for staff and union officials was attended by all teaching staff, some support staff
and John Monkhouse from the NUT. Other Union officials sent their apologies.
th

The public meeting held on Wednesday 18 January was attended by 34 people.
th

Pupil discussions were held on Monday 16 January.

RESPONSES TO POINTS RAISED THROUGHOUT INFORMAL CONSULTATION

WRITTEN RESPONSES

20

Agenda Item 3
Page 38

POSITIVE RESPONSES

PARENTS

Many parental responses indicate that they believe the change should have happened sooner,
that schools in other parts of the country do better and this would put the school in line with this .
Parents expressed a belief that the stability offered by the lower schools would enable their
children to achieve so much more and reach their full academic potential.

A parent commented that “Tithe Farm has very high teaching standards and focuses on the
children as individuals not as statistics and they believe children would benefit from staying at the
school until they are 11”.

Further comments related to the transition from Lower school to Middle school being a huge leap
with the culture and environment of the middle school classroom being a huge shock for their
child and that with some children barely having reached the age of 9 this was too much for them
emotionally. Other parents commented that children would not have to go through the change to
middle school which “does not seem to be having much positive effect on children’s
performance”. Parents further expressed a wish that their children would hopefully only have to
change school once.

SCHOOLS (RESPONSES FROM ORGANISATIONS)

Positive responses from schools (Kings Houghton Middle School, Mill Vale Middle School, All
Saints Academy, Houghton Regis Lower, St. Christopher’s Lower, Meppershall Lower, Campton
Lower, Thornhill Lower, Hawthorn Park Lower, and Thomas Whitehead Lower) indicate that there
is support for a change to primary schools which they believe will have a great impact on
children’s learning, progress and achievement.
E Fairclough (Head teacher, Thomas Whitehead) expressed the belief that intervention to support
children with basic literacy and numeracy skills in Years 5 and 6 is best undertaken by
practitioners who are familiar with this learning which lies in the primary model.
Tom Waterworth (Principal, All Saints Academy) commented “It is essential that we move to a 2
tier system of education in Central Bedfordshire if student outputs at GCSE and Level 3 are to be
improved. If we are aspirational for the children in our area then it is important that the age range
for this school is raised to 11 and that the age range for All Saints changes from 13-18 to 11-18.
Making this change will enable us all as a family of schools to refocus our energies on the middle

21

Agenda Item 3
Page 39

years of education and it will be a great and exciting opportunity to completely re-write the
curriculum and programmes of study for children aged 8 to 13. I fully support the proposals and
urge everyone to pull together to make this change happen within the timescale.”
L Johnson (Head teacher, Hawthorn Park) felt that good primary provision for Houghton Regis
would enhance the life chances for all pupils and would provide further opportunities for joint
working to enhance educational provision.
King’s Houghton Chair of Governors has responded “that as a governing body we would be
generally supportive of a change to a two phase system with primary and secondary schools. In
selecting an academy sponsor we have been mindful of our wish to strengthen our partnerships
with all the other local schools. We are keen to develop a collaborative approach to provide a
coherent provision for educational needs across the community of Houghton Regis. We would
support this proposal and look forward to working with your school to enable it to move forward.”

OTHER RESPONSES

Positive responses from several other respondents commented on the schools very close
working relationships and understanding of our families; this was seen as a great strength of the
school which was not replicated in Middle school. Key Stage 2 would be completed in one school
and the responsibility for the progress would rest with the primary school.
A teacher from another area in CBC commented “That as an experienced teacher in both two tier
and three tier systems (both lower and middle schools) I am delighted by these proposals. At nine
children are not ready to move to a secondary style of learning, which is what middle schools are.
Years 5 and 6 should remain in a smaller environment with a topic based curriculum which has a
purpose and inherently practical approach.”

Another teacher felt that a further two years in Tithe Farm would enable pupils to become
emotionally and behaviourally more mature in an environment where they felt secure. Further
comments related to the lack of readiness for the secondary style of education which pupils
currently receive at age 9 when they transfer to Middle school and a belief that they would then
be mature enough for secondary schooling at age 11.

Another teacher commented that “the low starting point of many of the pupils on entry to school
was also felt to be a significant factor in their poor transition to middle school; it was felt that
pupils need the extra two years to consolidate their learning and feel confident before moving on
to a secondary model of education.

22

Agenda Item 3
Page 40

Councillor Peter Williams commented on the strengths of the leadership team and the
improvements in the educational standards that they had achieved at the school. They further
commented that the very close working relationship between the schools was a great strength
which was already impacting on the education of pupils.

Town Councillor, Mrs K Ireland commented that it would also help address the problem of
changing schools mid Key Stage; an issue which we believe has a negative impact on our pupils.

Councillor Susan Goodchild further commented that CBC standards are not as good as they
should be and that they believed, with the quality of the Lower schools in Houghton Regis,
allowing them to alter their age range would support the council’s improvement strategy. She felt
that it should be recognised that Lower schools are one of CBC’s strengths and that a change in
age range would support closing the gap in standards achieved by all young people and
vulnerable groups which is a priority in the Local Authority’s Children and Young People’s Plan.

Mrs J Babiak, former Head teacher of Thornhill Lower and Tithe Farm Lower, and current Vice
Chair of Governors at Kings Houghton Middle School responded saying that she “strongly
supports the proposal on all educational and social grounds stated in the consultation document.”

Andrew Selous MP expressed his “delight that there has been so much agreement among so
many Houghton Regis schools about school reorganisation in the town”

CONCERNS RAISED

PARENTS

One parent raised a concern that the amount of playground space available would not be
sufficient; however Tithe Farm has 2 large playgrounds, extensive fields and a separate Nursery
outside area. It also meets all the requirements under The Education (School Premises)
Regulations 1999. It was also previously a Primary School.

SCHOOLS (RESPONSES FROM ORGANISATIONS)

Robert Bloomfield Academy and Leighton Middle, neither of which is in Houghton Regis or
Dunstable, commented on schools acting in isolation and the impact it could have on other areas
e.g. Leighton Buzzard. They were not aware, even though it is clearly stated, that there is very

23

Agenda Item 3
Page 41

close working between schools, which is evident by the support at the Public Meeting from the
local schools, in Houghton Regis and that there was a firm commitment to extend this to all
schools where pupils may transfer to.

Mill Vale Middle School, who are currently consulting to become a Primary academy, has
responded that they wished us well and had no objection to the change of age range but felt that
the consultation document made comments that could have been misleading as it refers to
middle schools rather than particular schools. Whilst we acknowledge the comments Mill Vale
made we can only comment on schools we feed to. At the time of the initial proposal the schools
that Tithe Farm children feed to were either graded satisfactory or were in an OfSTED category.

Parkfields Middle School’s response was confusing as it had responded to three questions, our
consultation only has two. It could in part relate to Tithe Farm however in the main it related to the
consultation of Thornhill Lower School who have answered issues raised in full in their report.
They also asked if we would “be able to provide the same or better educational facilities that
Years 5 and 6 currently get at the middle school.” We don’t believe primary aged children (5-11)
need science labs and technology workshops to achieve well; which can be evidenced through
primary schools in the rest of the country. We believe that curriculum delivery is paramount to
enable all pupils to have opportunities to become successful learners, confident individuals and
responsible citizens. This will be achieved through an engaging, challenging and purposeful
primary curriculum that better meets the learning styles and needs of our pupils. Our proposal
outlines in detail how we would achieve this. They also say that that “despite the expressed
desire of the parent body to retain the three-tier system, this is a back door approach to moving to
the two-tier by default.” Parental support in Houghton Regis is overwhelmingly supportive of the
lower schools becoming primary schools, as is evident by the consultation responses; therefore
this point is not pertinent to our consultation as it is not about our parents. Nor can it be “through
the back door” given the many public processes we are going through.

A member of staff from King’s Houghton Middle commented “that parents like the extended
facilities a middle school can offer, that large numbers of children mean you can teach in ability
groups and that SEN are best met by a specialist team and you can only funded by a large
demand of varying needs.” The best primary age trained teachers, which Tithe Farm has, provide
a full range of organizational methods to promote the very best teaching and learning; the use of
ability group teaching is part of this however it is not the only method that should be used in the
very best practice. Tithe Farm Lower along with the other lower schools has an outstanding
reputation for meeting the needs of pupils with Special Educational Needs and disabilities
(SEND). Indeed OfSTED complemented Tithe Farm on the way SEND pupils’ needs were met

24

Agenda Item 3
Page 42

within the mainstream classroom. Our staff are very well trained and access the relevant support
services to ensure SEND pupils and their families receive the right support. Tithe Farm already
has a breakfast club and many extra curricular activities, through partnership working with other
local schools we believe we can provide a full range of services for the families of Houghton
Regis pupils.

Town Councillor Tony Swain responded that whilst they think there should be a two tier structure
of education they felt unable to support our proposal because they were of the understanding that
Houghton Regis Lower School was not included and it was therefore discriminatory and unfair.
Whilst the school acknowledges this, and would have liked all schools to be in a position to
consult, it could also be viewed that there is already an “unfair” system within Houghton Regis as
St Vincent’s is already a primary school. With schools that become academies also planning to
change their age ranges (Mill Vale, Hadrian and St Christopher’s) there is going to become
different choices and more diversity of schools for parents to choose from and different structures
will exist.

The Head of Early Intervention and Prevention (CBC) raised concern over the school expressing
the need for the classroom and toilet area currently used as part of Tithe Farm Neighbourhood
Centre to revert back to the school for September 2016. This is the earliest that the area would be
required and it is the school’s belief that this could be addressed. New contracts are currently
st

being issued by CBC which will run until March 31 2015 it is the intention of the school to be in a
position to jointly tender along with Hawthorn Park to run this service in collaboration with the
other schools. It is our belief that we could manage the service and accommodation to enable the
area in discussion to be put back in to use as part of the school accommodation.

Union concerns related to local structures, partnership working and to any impact there may be
around staffing at both Tithe Farm and any schools that may see pupil numbers change as a
result of the age range change. Timothy Ramsden (NASUWT) commented that “Should the
change proceed, we believe a committed, strong and experienced governing body is vital to
support all staff through the period of change in times that are tough for the education service
generally. We therefore look to the governors’ determination, within the normal processes of
election to governing bodies, to assure Head teachers and all staff of their support throughout the
process.” We have a very strong and committed Governing Body that fully supports this proposal
and are confident that it can be delivered successfully.

REPONSE TO POINTS RAISED BY THE STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP TEAM (SLT)OF KINGS
HOUGHTON MIDDLE SCHOOL

25

Agenda Item 3
Page 43

We received a response from the above who strongly disagreed with the proposal. Surprisingly
this was in contrast to the response received from King’s Houghton Governing Body who have
given us their support for the proposal.

This comments “The lower schools tell us they do not examine the children using QCA tests but
use pupils assessment or APP. We in turn assess the children using APP and also using QCA.”
As lower schools we use a wide range of assessments that includes formal QCA tests, APP and
in school and cross school moderation to ensure accuracy of assessment and future target
setting. These assessments have been validated by Local Authority moderation at EYFS, Year 2
and Year 4 and the data is passed to King’s Houghton. Therefore the assumption that pupils from
lower schools have never completed formal tests before attending King’s Houghton is factually
untrue.

The SLT also made comments about Luton schools. Our proposal is concerned with improving
outcomes for pupils in Houghton Regis at Year 6 and would be specifically tailored to those
needs.

The SLT refers to the “huge leap middle schools need to make with years 5 and 6”. Primary
schools should not need to make this ‘huge leap’ in Years 5 and 6 because pupil progress will
continue across the whole school from EYFS to Year 6 and there will be consistency in teaching
learning and assessment.

The SLT comments “Lower schools are no sharing maths resources and ideas with us as we
have asked, and we have worked for several years now on the same Literacy scheme with
Hawthorne park and this has been very successful.” As a result of their Ofsted inspection, (July
2011) The Head teacher contacted us in September 2011 to enquire about the resources and
scheme we used in maths. We responded promptly and my Deputy Head arranged a meeting
with the Deputy Head at Kings Houghton and for us to support a Year 5 teacher. We have dates
in our diary for numeracy lessons to be observed and for us to support with planning and teaching
in year 5.

The SLT states “Lower schools have not provided us with APP documentation- despite requests.
We hope that will be redressed this year.” All Lower schools provided APP documents to Kings
Houghton in 2011 we also send a wealth of other evidence to substantiate these judgements.
Unfortunately Kings Houghton use the secondary APP documents to assess their primary age
pupils, we use the primary documents.

26

Agenda Item 3
Page 44

The SLT states “The system is stable at the moment in Houghton Regis.” The education
provision in Houghton Regis is undergoing change in line with the rest of the country with the
setting up of academies free schools and alternative provisions. This is highlighted by the fact
that Kings Houghton are themselves being ‘academised’ by Greenwood Dale Foundation Trust.
The newsletter to parents commented, “The conversion to Academy status will be as a middle
school but the Academy will adapt in the future to suit the needs of the community.”

The SLT comments “All families have the choice to send their child to a primary school by
crossing Poynters Road – the Barnfield Academy is closer than the All Saints Academy. If
parents want to they can access the other system.” This is factually incorrect as Barnfield
Academy is a secondary school, not a primary school.

The SLT states ‘We also understand that ASA has not managed to get permission to become a
secondary school. If it does have this permission there would not be enough forms of entry for
year 7.’ The decision for All Saints to become a secondary school has not yet been made
therefore this statement is factually incorrect. Never the less there are other options within the
surrounding area for the children to change schools at age 11. The SLT has already suggested
the children could attend Barnfield Academy and has expressed her own interest in becoming a
secondary school when she applied to CBC. The SLT also states, ‘we can see a way forward if
we were to become a secondary provision’.

The SLT feels the status quo could be maintained through strong partnership working and
continually makes references to close partnership working. They say ‘As a middle school we have
made massive efforts to work alongside our lower school colleagues. The overwhelming feeling
we get from them is distrust and an unwillingness to work with us’.

All schools in Houghton Regis and All Saints Academy in Dunstable have a very strong working
relationship and previously had good working relationships with KHMS as well. We feel that the
‘status quo’ described by the SLT is not good enough for our children. This is reinforced by the
unacceptable results for children at key stage 2.

There are fundamental differences between the SLT and the lower schools in the understanding
of what constitutes good transition; we believe transition should focus on continuing the learning
journey for our pupils through a shared curriculum, assessment and teaching methodology.
Unfortunately the current practices pay insufficient attention to these crucial areas.

27

Agenda Item 3
Page 45

PUBLIC MEETING

There were no concerns raised against the proposal at the public meeting. There was support for
the proposal in that it would give parental choice (E Fairclough, Head teacher, Thomas
Whitehead Lower). It would put us inline with the vast majority of the rest of the country and a
belief that it would impact on results which for CBC are low (J Lawson, Head teacher Thornhill
Lower). Tom Waterworth (Principal, All Saints Academy) fully supported everything the
presentation said about improving standards all along and giving children the skills they need for
life; he further commented that All Saints is very excited about the possibilities of the changes. He
was very excited about re writing the curriculum in years 5, 6, 7 and 8 wants to work as equal
partners with primary schools in Houghton Regis. He stated that All Saints success depends on
the individual success of the schools in our community and transition being a shared experience.
He further commented that All Saints would love to work with schools on this and was very keen
to work together to make a great future for our students through joined up thinking. He concluded
by saying that the proposal has the full support from All Saints and they are committed to working
as equal partners to make this area a beacon for primary schools across the country.

Issues around SEND were raised with both parental and professionals commenting that they felt
children’s needs could be better met at a primary school than in a middle school during Years 5
and 6. The issue of exclusion was discussed, with L Johnson (Head teacher, Hawthorn Park
Lower) commenting that the statistics for permanent exclusion show that the vast majority are in
years 5 or 6 or in year 9 i.e. at transition periods with pupils often ending up in pupil referral units
(PRU). There is already an anomaly in that the Jigsaw is a primary provision in a local lower
school.

Parents, Town Councillors and Central Bedfordshire Councillors who were present fully endorsed
the proposed changes.

PUPIL COMMENTS

Pupils in Years 1, 2, 3 and 4 were overwhelmingly positive about the possibility of staying on at
Tithe Farm until they are 11.

Majority said they would like to stay at Tithe Farm until they were 11. They said that they think
their school is friendly and they know the teachers well. They would enjoy having more children in
the school and they could have more responsibility as they got older. They enjoy the topic work
they are doing. Most children felt they would learn much more and do better if they could stay at

28

Agenda Item 3
Page 46

Tithe Farm until they were 11 years old.

Pupils raised concerns that there would be less help for them at middle school, that there would
be fewer rewards, that they would get lost, might be bullied, would get detention and that they
didn’t feel ready to have lots of different teachers in different classes. They liked the idea of
walking to middle school on their own so that they could go to the shops and they liked the idea of
having lockers.
REVISIT AND REVIEW OF ORIGINAL PROPOSAL IN THE LIGHT OF INFORMAL
CONSULTATION

STANDARDS

Since our original proposal was submitted 2011 Key Stage 2 results have been published and
show how poorly schools in CBC are performing compared to schools nationally. OfSTED (May
2010) commented that “All groups of pupils thrive in their learning and personal development in
this good and improving school………..Attainment in reading is above national expectations in
Year 4 while that in writing in and mathematics is in line. The school is ambitious to further raise
attainment in writing and mathematics to match that in reading. At the heart of the good progress
all groups of pupils make in reading, writing and mathematics, is the effective teaching and an
interesting and enjoyable curriculum.” 2011 data shows that we have now achieved this.

Tithe Farm has very well trained Primary teachers who are trained general teachers of all
subjects, as well as specialists in their chosen subject area; they are trained in how children learn
and they are trained to teach children phonics and how to develop reading skills. More than half
of the teaching staff at Tithe Farm already has relevant experience of teaching the upper primary
years.

Primary age children need to be taught by teachers who understand how the essential basic skills
are learnt. They need to not only have the basic skills but also the confidence to use them and
consolidate them before they experience secondary education. Indeed the majority of middle
schools, most of which no longer exist, across the country where deemed primary, extending
primary provision until 12 or sometimes even 13 years of age.

As Head teacher, I have 15 years experience of externally marking Key Stage 2 English SATs,
with the last 10 years as a Team Leader supervising a team of ten other markers. I understand
the standards that children need to achieve and the levels they need to be working at.

29

Agenda Item 3
Page 47

CBC acknowledges that the fall in Key Stage 2 standards is a priority for improvement. (CBC
meeting 15.12.11) It further acknowledges that Dunstable and Houghton Regis has pockets of
particularly poor school performance and measures are currently underway to improve this issue,
including failing schools being encouraged to find a credible academy sponsor (CBC meeting
15.12.11)

More of the same is just not good enough for our pupils. If we maintain the same system we are
failing to provide children and families from one of the most deprived wards in the country with the
opportunity to develop the good standards of education and support that they need to improve
their life chances. We believe that we have the capacity to improve the life chances of all children
up to the age of 11 and beyond by providing them with a curriculum and teaching methodology
that is more suited to their learning needs. We have always been committed to providing the very
best for all children in our care and look forward to working in close partnership with other schools
to ensure that this continues throughout the primary school years of a child’s life.

SCHOOL CAPACITY

The school has the capacity to appropriately accommodate the further two years on current and
maximum predicted school numbers until at least September 2016. The Governing Body has a
clear commitment and vision to fund any changes that may be needed now or in the future.
Working with other schools will be key to ensuring there are sufficient places in the local area,
and for individual schools, for all those families who want to send their children to them.
SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities)

Our provision for pupils with SEND is outstanding and is fully embedded in to the ethos of the
school as a whole. OfSTED (May 2010) commented that “All groups of pupils thrive in their
learning and personal development in this good and improving school It is an area of strength
where our expertise and knowledge of different types of SEND is used to meet the needs of all
our pupils. As a school we regularly update our training and expertise, meet and have a close
working relationship with other agencies i.e. SALT, ELC. We also support families through often
difficult decisions and offer them support with coping with their child’s SEND needs. We ensure
our pupils and their families’ access the groups and facilities offered at Hawthorn Park and
through our PSA offer excellent family and community support.

30

Agenda Item 3
Page 48

TRANSITION

Parental concerns were around the number of transition points impacting on their children. This
proposal would reduce number of transition times and also allow pupils to transfer at end of Key
Stage. It would also give pupils time to become emotionally ready. Even where there was
disagreement it was agreed that transition has an effect on education and well being.
It remains a firm commitment from the school to work with all schools that pupils transfer to at any
age, in order to address transition issues.

WORKING TOGETHER WITH OTHER SCHOOLS

The strength of the partnership working between schools in Houghton Regis is already very
evident. Public meetings and consultations were fully supported and our proposal endorsed by
Houghton Regis Lower School Head teachers, All Saints Academy and members of King’s
Houghton Middle School Governing Body. We work closely together and this close working has
been enhanced by the processes we going through to try and achieve full primary status. Having
worked at Tithe Farm since May 2001, in a variety of roles, it has not always been a smooth
partnership however this is the most exciting and vibrant time there has been in terms of
partnership working.
EXTENDED SERVICES

As a school we provide many extended school activities already, including a Breakfast Club and a
variety of after school activities. We hope that this can be further extended and really benefit our
community. Though a concern was addressed about the position of the Neighbourhood Centre,
we believe that good partnership working among the schools and the centre would enhance all
services within our community.

Outcomes of the Staff and Union Representatives Meeting:
18th January 2012

The meeting for staff and union officials was attended by all teaching staff, some support staff
and John Monkhouse NUT. Other Union officials sent their apologies.

31

Agenda Item 3
Page 49

John Monkhouse Would there be any redundancies at this school?

A. Our current and predicted school capacity was explained to John and this clearly indicates that
we would need more staff not less.
John Monkhouse If there were redundancies at say the middle school would you consider
employing them here?
A. We would apply the same criteria to any applicant for a position at the school and positions
would be offered based on meeting the criteria and suitability for the position.

Headteacher
Mrs S J Surgey
B.Ed (Hons) M.A. NPQH

Tithe Farm Road
Houghton Regis
Bedfordshire
LU5 5JB

Telephone (01582) 865047
Fax (01582) 865057

tithefarm@cbc.beds.sch.uk

Where “pupils thrive in their learning & personal development”

GOVERNING BODY STATEMENT
STATEMENT FROM TITHE FARM LOWER SCHOOL GOVERNING BODY REGARDING THE
PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE AGE RANGE OF TITHE FARM LOWER SCHOOL FROM 3-9
YEARS to 3-11 YEARS.

Tithe Farm Governing Body met at 11am on Monday 6th February to look at the responses to
the informal consultation, to discuss the draft report and to prepare this statement. The following
statement was written jointly and agreed on unanimously by the Governing Body.

The Governing Body of Tithe Farm Lower School consists of a mixture of parent governors, staff

32

Agenda Item 3
Page 50

governors, community governors and local council governors.

We (the Governing Body) fully support the proposal to extend the age range of Tithe Farm Lower
School from 3-9 years to 3-11 years. We believe the current three tier system is failing the
children of Houghton Regis. The Governing Body plays an active role in the school and we are
fully aware of the excellent achievement and progress made by the children of our school.

Our children currently move on to middle school at age 9, in the middle of a Key Stage. This is
not a natural point to move to a new school with different teaching practices and into a completely
new environment, with unfamiliar routines, teaching staff and peers. Data from our robust,
standardised assessment shows that when children leave Tithe Farm, the majority are achieving
well and many have reached or progressed above the LA expectations and national expectations.
However by the end of Key Stage 2 (Year 6) pupil achievement has fallen dramatically.

National league tables (2011) show Central Bedfordshire Key Stage 2 results are well below
expected national levels. Within Central Bedfordshire, our closest middle school, the school to
which the majority of our children move to has the lowest percentage of children reaching the
expected level for English and mathematics at the end of Key Stage 2.

We find it unacceptable that our children are being sent to a school where only 40% of children
reach the national expectation for these core subjects, the lowest percentage in Central
Bedfordshire. Recent data from the Department of Education shows that children who enter
secondary education (Year 7) at lower than expected levels, rarely ‘catch up’.

Following the informal consultation process the Governing Body of Tithe Farm Lower
acknowledges the overwhelming support from parents and the wider community for the proposed
change.

This proposal is not something the Governing Body has entered into lightly. The Governing Body
of Tithe Farm Lower School is wholeheartedly committed to support the proposed age range
change from 3-9 years to 3-11 years. We realise there may be testing times ahead, however we
are strongly committed to making this change happen for the benefit of our children, families and
ultimately for the wider community. We have every confidence in the leadership of the Head
teacher and her senior leadership team to manage the change. We believe this change will go a
long way towards helping the children of Houghton Regis develop into well rounded, well
educated young people who are equipped both educationally and emotionally to move onto the
next stage of their educational journey.

33

Agenda Item 3
Page 51

Therefore we request that this proposal be allowed to proceed to the Statutory Notice stage.

Signed on behalf of the Governing body

Chair of Governors…………………………………………………………Mrs Susan Goodchild

Date…………………………………………..

34

Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
Page 53

Appendix B

Proposal to extend the age range of Hawthorn Park Community
Lower School from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary
school.

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 that
Central Bedfordshire Council intends to make a prescribed alteration to Hawthorn Park Community
Lower School, Parkside Drive, Houghton Regis, Bedfordshire LU5 5QN from 1 September 2013.
The proposal is to change the age range of Hawthorn Park Community Lower School by extending
it from a 3 – 9 years lower school to a 3 – 11 years primary school
This is to be implemented in two stages:
September 2013 - year 4 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 5.
September 2014 - year 5 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 6.
The current capacity of the school is 300 places in the main school plus provision for 79 part time
nursery places. Following implementation the proposed capacity will be 420 places in the main
school plus provision for 79 part time nursery places.
The current admission number for the main school is 60 for each year group. The proposed
admission number will remain the same. Total capacity for September 2013 is expected to be 360
in the main school with 79 part time nursery places. Total capacity for 2014 is expected to be 420
in the main school with 79 part time nursery places.
This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal can be
obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire Council, Room DC2, Watling
House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds, LU6 1LF. It can also be viewed on the Council's
website at http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object to or make
comments on the proposal by sending them to The Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children's
Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds, SG17 5TQ.
Signed: Edwina Grant
Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services
Publication Date: 20 February 2012
Explanatory notes
It is proposed that extending the age range of Hawthorn Park Community Lower School from 3 – 9
years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary school will provide improved standards in years 5 and 6
and therefore at the end of Key Stage 2. National data shows that changing school may impact
negatively on pupils’ progress and may result in a lack of curriculum understanding, continuity, and
assessment agreement. This proposal will remove the transition at the end of year 4.
The school can accommodate the additional year group in 2013, without the need for additional
accommodation. However, there will be a need for additional classroom space in 2014 to
accommodate year 6 pupils, which is proposed to be provided by the school, one option being to
change the use of the classroom currently in use by the Neighbourhood Centre to provide part of
the extra accommodation needed.

Agenda Item 3
Page 54

PROPOSALS FOR PRESCRIBED ALTERATIONS OTHER
THAN FOUNDATION PROPOSALS: Information to be included
in a complete proposal
Extract of Part 1 of Schedule 3 and Part 1 of Schedule 5 to The School
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)(England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended):
In respect of a Governing Body Proposal: School and governing body’s details
1. The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body are
publishing the proposals.
N/A
In respect of an LEA Proposal: School and local education authority details
1. The name, address and category of the school.
Hawthorn Park Community Lower School
Parkside Drive
Houghton Regis
Beds
LU5 5QN
Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation
2. The date on which the proposals are planned to be implemented, and if they are to be
implemented in stages, a description of what is planned for each stage, and the number
of stages intended and the dates of each stage.
The proposal will be implemented on 1 September 2013.
In September 2013 - year 4 children will be retained at school and become a new year 5
In September 2014 – year 5 children will be retained at school and become a new year 6

Objections and comments
3 A statement explaining the procedure for making representations, including —
(a) The date prescribed in accordance with paragraph 29 of Schedule 3 (GB
proposals)/Schedule 5 (LA proposals) of The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), by
which objections or comments should be sent to the local education authority; and
(b) The address of the authority to which objections or comments should be sent.
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal (i.e. 2 April 2012) any

1

Agenda Item 3
Page 55

person may object to or make comments on the proposal by sending them to Edwina
Grant, Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire
Council, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds. SG17 5TQ

Alteration description
4. A description of the proposed alteration and in the case of special school proposals, a
description of the current special needs provision.
It is proposed that Hawthorn Park Community Lower School will extend its age range
from a 3-9 years lower school to a 3-11 years primary school.

School capacity
5.—(1) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 8 , 9
and 12-14 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/paragraphs 1-4, 7, 8, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule
4 (LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained
Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), the proposals must also include —
(a) details of the current capacity of the school and, where the proposals will alter the
capacity of the school, the proposed capacity of the school after the alteration;

The current capacity of the school is 300 places in the main school plus provision
for 79 part time nursery places. Following implementation, the proposed capacity
will be 420 places in the main school plus provision for 79 part time nursery
places.

(b) details of the current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant age
group, and where this number is to change, the proposed number of pupils to be
admitted in each relevant age group in the first school year in which the proposals will
have been implemented;
The school currently has an admission number of 60 at age 4+. This will not change.
(c) where it is intended that proposals should be implemented in stages, the number of
pupils to be admitted to the school in the first school year in which each stage will have
been implemented;
There will be no change to the number of pupils to be admitted. However in September
2013 a new year 5 will be created and in September 2014 a new year 6 will be created to
enable pupils, who would have otherwise have had to leave the school at the end of year
4, to remain.

2

Agenda Item 3
Page 56

(d) where the number of pupils in any relevant age group is lower than the indicated
admission number for that relevant age group a statement to this effect and details
of the indicated admission number in question.
N/A
(2) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1, 2, 9, 12 and 13
of Schedule 2 (GB proposals) /paragraphs 1, 2, 8, 18 ands 19 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals)
to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended), a statement of the number of pupils at the school at the
time of the publication of the proposals.
276 pupils in the main school plus 59 foundation stage pupils
Implementation
6. Where the proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary controlled school a statement
as to whether the proposals are to be implemented by the local education authority or by
the governing body, and, if the proposals are to be implemented by both, a statement as
to the extent to which they are to be implemented by each body.
N/A
Additional Site
7. (1) A statement as to whether any new or additional site will be required if proposals
are implemented and if so the location of the site if the school is to occupy a split site.
N/A
(2) Where proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary school a statement as to who will
provide any additional site required, together with details of the tenure (freehold or
leasehold) on which the site of the school will be held, and if the site is to be held on a
lease, details of the proposed lease.
N/A
Changes in boarding arrangements
8. (1) Where the proposals are for the introduction or removal of boarding provision, or
the alteration of existing boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of
Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 to The School Organisation
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as
amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom it is intended that boarding provision will be made if
the proposals are approved;
N/A
(b) the arrangements for safeguarding the welfare of children at the school;

3

Agenda Item 3
Page 57

N/A
(c) the current number of pupils for whom boarding provision can be made and a
description of the boarding provision; and
N/A
(d) Except where the proposals are to introduce boarding provision, a description of the
existing boarding provision.
N/A
(2) Where the proposals are for the removal of boarding provisions or an alteration to
reduce boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of Schedule 2 (GB
proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom boarding provision will be removed if the proposals are
approved; and
N/A
b) A statement as to the use to which the former boarding accommodation will be put if
the proposals are approved.
N/A
Transfer to new site
9. Where the proposals are to transfer a school to a new site the following information—
(a)the location of the proposed site (including details of whether the school is to occupy a
single or split site), and including where appropriate the postal address;
N/A
(b)the distance between the proposed and current site;
N/A
(c)the reason for the choice of proposed site;
N/A
d) the accessibility of the proposed site or sites;
N/A

4

Agenda Item 3
Page 58

(e) the proposed arrangements for transport of pupils to the school on its new site; and
N/A
(f) a statement about other sustainable transport alternatives where pupils are not using
transport provided, and how car use in the school area will be discouraged.
N/A
Objectives
10. The objectives of the proposals.
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age
11, 16 and 18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.
To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are
underperforming and exceeding in years 5 and 6.
To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis.
To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years,
through our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation.
To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning
and teaching on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints
Academy in Dunstable
To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of
faith

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs

x

To improve transition for children on transfer,

x

To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6
To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

Consultation
11. Evidence of the consultation before the proposals were published including—
(a) a list of persons who were consulted;
(b) minutes of all public consultation meetings;
(c) the views of the persons consulted;
(d) a statement to the effect that all applicable statutory requirements in relation to the
proposals to consult were complied with; and
(e) Copies of all consultation documents and a statement on how these documents
were made available.
Informal consultation was carried out between 5 December 2011 and 3 February 2012
a) Parents/guardians of children currently attending Hawthorn Park Lower School
Staff at Hawthorn Park Lower School
The Chair of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)

5

Agenda Item 3
Page 59

The Head teacher of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire Councillors
Members of Parliament for South West Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre school providers in Houghton Regis,
Pre school providers in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
Pre school providers in Luton between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
The Chair of Governors of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1
motorway (including academies)
The Head teacher of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
(including academies)
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff
All church leaders within Houghton Regis
Manager of Tithe Farm Neighbourhood Centre
Internal (Central Bedfordshire Council) consultation in Early Years / SEN
A Public Consultation Meeting was held at the school on 12 January 2012.
b) See Appendix A
c) See Appendix B
d) All applicable statutory requirements in relation to the proposals to consult were
complied with
e) A copy of the consultation document is available via the Central Bedfordshire Council
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations .This consultation document was
circulated to all of the people listed in section (a) and was also made available via the
Council’s publication ‘Central Essentials’ which is emailed weekly to head teachers and
chairs of governors.

Project costs
12. A statement of the estimated total capital cost of the proposals and the breakdown of
the costs that are to be met by the governing body, the local education authority, and any
other party.
The school can accommodate additional Year group in 2013, without need for additional
build or accommodation
There will be a need for additional classroom space in 2014 to take the further year

6

Agenda Item 3
Page 60

group. The cost of additional build required at that time would be approximately £200,000
based on current costs for new build. This could be either to add additional classrooms
for Y6 or to look at new build for EYFS part of school and house Y6 within current
accommodation. Although Hawthorn Park has 60 place entry, parental choice may
reduce numbers in Y5/6 for initial period.
The school will budget towards the costs for new build over next 2 years and also look
into possible funding for EYFS provision.

13. A copy of confirmation from the Secretary of State, local education authority and the
Learning and Skills Council for England (as the case may be) that funds will be made
available (including costs to cover any necessary site purchase).
N/A
Age range
14. Where the proposals relate to a change in age range, the current age range for the
school.
The current age range is 3-9 years, across the main school plus part time nursery
provision.
Early years provision
15. Where the proposals are to alter the lower age limit of a mainstream school so that it
provides for pupils aged between 2 and 5—
(a) details of the early years provision, including the number of full-time and part-time
pupils, the number and length of sessions in each week, and the services for disabled
children that will be offered;
The school already caters for pupils aged 3-9 with 300 places in the main school plus 79
part time nursery places. The provision for nursery aged pupils will not change.
(b) how the school will integrate the early years provision with childcare services and
how the proposals are consistent with the integration of early years provision for
childcare;
As existing
(c) evidence of parental demand for additional provision of early years provision;
N/A
(d) assessment of capacity, quality and sustainability of provision in schools and in
establishments other than schools who deliver the Early Years Foundation Stage within
3 miles of the school; and
N/A

7

Agenda Item 3
Page 61

(e) Reasons why such schools and establishments who have spare capacity cannot
make provision for any forecast increase in the number of such provision.
N/A
Changes to sixth form provision
16 (a) Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the
school provides sixth form education or additional sixth form education, a statement of
how the proposals will—
(i)

improve the educational or training achievements;

(ii)

Increase participation in education or training; and

(iii)

Expand the range of educational or training opportunities

for 16-19 year olds in the area;
N/A
(b) A statement as to how the new places will fit within the 16-19 organisation in an area;

N/A
(c) Evidence —
(i) of the local collaboration in drawing up the proposals; and
(ii) that the proposals are likely to lead to higher standards and better progression at the
school;

N/A
(d) The proposed number of sixth form places to be provided.
N/A

17. Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school
ceases to provide sixth form education, a statement of the effect on the supply of 16-19
places in the area.
N/A

Special educational needs
18. Where the proposals are to establish or change provision for special educational
needs—
(a) description of the proposed types of learning difficulties in respect of which education
will be provided and, where provision for special educational needs already exists, the
current type of provision;

8

Agenda Item 3
Page 62

There are no proposals to establish or change provision for SEN
x

Current SEN provision is good, based on understanding of individual needs

x

Excellent skills and knowledge within schools, enabling shared practice and
support

x

Primary curriculum more suited to meet needs of vulnerable pupils

x

Excellent work with families to support SEN pupils

x

Hawthorn Park currently manages the Jigsaw Extended School Provision for
excluded pupils Y1-6 so sharing of expertise and resources will be enabled.
(b) any additional specialist features will be provided;

N/A
(c) the proposed numbers of pupils for which the provision is to be made;
N/A
(d) details of how the provision will be funded;
N/A
(e) a statement as to whether the education will be provided for children with special
educational needs who are not registered pupils at the school to which the proposals
relate;
N/A
f)

a statement as to whether the expenses of the provision will be met from the
school’s delegated budget;

N/A
(g) the location of the provision if it is not to be established on the existing site of the
school;
N/A
(h) where the provision will replace existing educational provision for children with
special educational needs, a statement as to how the local education authority
believes that the new provision is likely to lead to improvement in the standard,
quality and range of the educational provision for such children; and

9

Agenda Item 3
Page 63

N/A
(i) The number of places reserved for children with special educational needs, and
where this number is to change, the proposed number of such places.
N/A

19. Where the proposals are to discontinue provision for special educational needs—
a) details of alternative provision for pupils for whom the provision is currently made;
N/A
b) details of the number of pupils for whom provision is made that is recognised by
the local education authority as reserved for children with special educational
needs during each of the 4 school years preceding the current school year;
N/A
c) details of provision made outside the area of the local education authority for pupils
whose needs will not be able to be met in the area of the authority as a result of the
discontinuance of the provision; and
N/A
d) A statement as to how the proposer believes that the proposals are likely to lead to
improvement in the standard, quality and range of the educational provision for such
children.
N/A

20. Where the proposals will lead to alternative provision for children with special
educational needs, as a result of the establishment, alteration or discontinuance of
existing provision, the specific educational benefits that will flow from the proposals in
terms of—
a)

improved access to education and associated services including the
curriculum, wider school activities, facilities and equipment with reference to
the local education authority’s Accessibility Strategy;

b)

improved access to specialist staff, both educational and other professionals,
including any external support and outreach services;

c)

improved access to suitable accommodation; and

d)

Improved supply of suitable places.

N/A

10

Agenda Item 3
Page 64

Sex of pupils
21. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to provide that a school which was
establishment which admitted pupils of one sex only becomes an establishment
which admits pupils of both sexes—
a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the provision of
single sex-education in the area;
N/A
b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education; and
N/A
c) Details of any transitional period which the body making the proposals wishes specified
in a transitional exemption order (within the meaning of section 27 of the Sex
Discrimination Act 1975).
N/A

22. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to a school to provide that a school
which was an establishment which admitted pupils of both sexes becomes an
establishment which admits pupils of one sex only—
a)
details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the
provision of single-sex education in the area; and
N/A
b) Evidence of local demand for single-sex education.
N/A
Extended services
23 If the proposed alterations affect the provision of the school’s extended services,
details of the current extended services the school is offering and details of any proposed
change as a result of the alterations.
The school currently provides a range of extended school activities including After
school and Breakfast Clubs, a variety of after school activities plus siblings Group and
Parent and child events. The proposed changes would have no impact on the
extended services.

Need or demand for additional places

11

Agenda Item 3
Page 65

24 If the proposals involve adding places—
a) a statement and supporting evidence of the need or demand for the particular places in
the area;
In response to parental concerns, the proposal will add an additional 60 places per
year group for years 5 and 6. This will enable pupils to remain in the school should
parents wish this thereby increasing choice and diversity across the area.
b) where the school has a religious character, a statement and supporting evidence of the
demand in the area for education in accordance with the tenets of the religion or religious
denomination;
N/A
c)

Where the school adheres to a particular philosophy, evidence of the demand for
education in accordance with the philosophy in question and any associated change
to the admission arrangements for the school.

N/A

25 If the proposals involve removing places—
a) a statement and supporting evidence of the reasons for the removal, including an
assessment of the impact on parental choice; and
The proposals will increase provision across the area and increase parental choice.
b)a statement on the local capacity to accommodate displaced pupils.
N/A

Expansion of successful and popular schools
25A. (1) Proposals must include a statement of whether the proposer considers that the
presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools should apply, and where
the governing body consider the presumption applies evidence to support this.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to expansion proposals in respect of primary and secondary
schools, (except for grammar schools), i.e. falling within:
(a) (for proposals published by the governing body) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to
Schedule 2 or paragraph 12 of Part 2 to Schedule 2;
(b) (for proposals published by the LA) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to Schedule 4 or 18 of
Part 4 to Schedule 4

12

Agenda Item 3
Page 66

of the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended).
N/A

13

Agenda Item 3
Page 67

Appendix A

HAWTHORNPARK SCHOOL
Where Care and Learning Count
Headteacher : Mrs Lindsey Johnson

MINUTES OF CONSULTATION EVENING
HELD AT HAWTHORN PARK LOWER SCHOOL
12.01.12
The meeting was attended by 34 people

Welcome by David Jones, Chair of Governors HPL
Presentation by Lindsey Johnson, Head teacher Hawthorn Park Lower
Questions and Discussion:1.

Councillor Egan – Introduced herself – Central Beds for Parkside – “I
have argued and fought for this to happen, best for children and
educational outcomes”.
If we do go down this route we need to address needs of Houghton
Regis Lower School– C Beds can and should find money to include
Houghton Regis Lower School in this process. Also support All Saints
Academy Dunstable application to become 2 tiers.

2.

Neighbourhood Centre representative asked – “Can you see a place
for Neighbourhood Centre in this partnership? Lindsey Johnson welcomes partnership – really good for centre to be involved, based
next door, and ideally placed.
Where does Neighbourhood Centre fit in? Need to look at this.
The Neighbourhood Centres continue to 2015 – Lindsey Johnson
would ideally like the Neighbourhood Centre to be run as part of the

14

Agenda Item 3
Page 68

school – families have children across age range.
3.

Lindsey Johnson asked parents – No concerns – older children did 2
tiers.
Elaine Fairclough (Head teacher, Thomas Whitehead VA Lower) –
comments from consultations are her school only 1 parent against –
majority of responses very responsive. Need to listen to children;
Lindsey Johnson wants to include parents in shaping the future of
education in Houghton Regis.
No-one has ownership of Key Stage 2 and All Saints Academy,
Dunstable feel the same as don’t get children until 13. Children always
make a dip in attainment after/during transition.

4.

Tom Waterworth (Principal, All Saints Academy) plus 6 senior
colleagues wanted to see Lindsey’s views – Delighted with
presentation.
Need to raise standards for children.
Need to provide great mainstream provision for all our children.
If a number of schools work together we could achieve a lot
collectively, i.e., share out ICT provision and expertise.
Re-shaping 5 & 6 and helping in Year 7 & 8
Say what do we want to achieve – how different will it look in the
future?
Local Education Authority has to listen and support views of schools
and parents in the interest of children.
Make a difference to our community, families and children – will
happen, going to happen, - very exciting!
Parent - through Middle School system – wasted 2 years of their
education due to transition.
Thanks to everyone for coming.

15

Agenda Item 3
Page 69

Appendix B

HAWTHORNPARK SCHOOL
Where Care and Learning Count
Headteacher : Mrs Lindsey Johnson

RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION DOCUMENT ON A
PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE UPPER AGE RANGE OF
HAWTHORN PARK LOWER SCHOOL, PARKSIDE DRIVE,
HOUGHTON REGIS, BEDFORDSHIRE, LU5 5QN FROM 3
– 9 YEARS TO 3 – 11 YEARS
Purpose of this report
The purpose of this document is to provide information and report on the informal
consultation relating to the proposal to extend the age range of Hawthorn Park Lower
School from 3-9years to 3-11years to create a full primary school.

OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11, 16 and

x

18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.

x

and exceeding in years 5 and 6.

x

To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are underperforming

To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis.
To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through
our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation.

16

Agenda Item 3
Page 70

x

To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning and
teaching on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints Academy in

x

Dunstable

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs

x

To improve transition for children on transfer,

x

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith

x

To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6

To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

PROCESS OF INFORMAL CONSULTATION
th

Informal consultation period ran from 5 December 2011 to 3rd February 2012. The consultation
consisted of a consultation document, a meeting for staff and unions and a public meeting.

Consultation documents were sent to the following people:

Parents/guardians of children currently attending Hawthorn Park Lower School
Staff at Hawthorn Park Lower School
The Chair of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The Head teacher of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire Councillors
Members of Parliament for South West Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre school provision in Houghton Regis,
Pre school provision in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
Pre school provision in Luton between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
The Chair of Governors of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
(including academies)
The Head teacher of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway (including
academies)
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff
All church leaders within Houghton Regis
Manager of Tithe Farm Neighbourhood Centre
Head of Early Intervention & Prevention, Central Bedfordshire Council

17

Agenda Item 3
Page 71

Head of School Support, Central Bedfordshire Council

The consultation document was also available on the Central Bedfordshire Learning Portal and
publicised in Central Essentials.
th

A meeting for staff and Trade Union officials was held on Thursday 12 January 2012 between
4pm and 5pm. All staff and Trade Union officials were notified in writing of this meeting. This was
attended by Staff and reps from NASWT, NUT and GMB.
A public meeting was held on Thursday 12th January 2012 between 6pm and 7:30pm. This
meeting was publicised by flyers, invites to parents and on the Central Bedfordshire Learning
Portal, details were also in Central Essentials. It was attended by 32 people.

Pupils in Years 1 – 4 were also consulted during discussion time.

Questions relating to the proposal
Hawthorn Park received 126 responses
Overall Collated Responses

1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Hawthorn Park Lower School.

Strongly

Agree

Neither

agree

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
91

13

6

2

14

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Hawthorn Park Lower School

Strongly
agree

Agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor
disagree

18

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

Agenda Item 3
Page 72

84

19

7

1

14

1

82 Parent / Carers Responses
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Hawthorn Park Lower School.

Strongly

Agree

Neither

agree

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
69

8

2

1

2

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Hawthorn Park Lower School

Strongly

Agree

Neither

agree

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
12

3

1

2

64

16 Responses from other schools
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Hawthorn Park Lower School.

Strongly

Agree

Neither

agree

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
10

1

1

1

3

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Hawthorn Park Lower School

19

Agenda Item 3
Page 73

Strongly

Agree

Neither

agree

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
10

1

1

3

1

28 Responses Other (including MP, Councillors, Staff and Unions
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Hawthorn Park Lower School.

Strongly

Agree

Neither

agree

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
12

4

3

9

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Hawthorn Park Lower School

Strongly

Agree

Neither

agree

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
10

6

3

9

Responses to points raised throughout informal consultation
Written Responses
Overall there were many positive comments

Positive Responses

20

Agenda Item 3
Page 74

Parental responses indicate that they support the change.
Comments included:
A belief it would be beneficial all round
That less changes of school would be better for the child
That children would benefit greatly from a longer time at Lower school and not changing during
Key Stage 2. I am looking forward to it happening and hope the time scales are kept to start in
September 2013.
That education would be less disrupted
That the children will learn more and not be so stressed.
That pupils would benefit from continuity of education and that children felt safe school

Positive responses from schools (Thornhill, Tithe Farm, Thomas Whitehead, St Christopher’s,
and Houghton Regis Lower) indicate that there is support for this change which they believe will
have a great impact on children’s learning, progress and achievement. It was felt that a further
two years in Hawthorn Park would enable pupils to become emotionally and behaviourally more
mature in an environment were they felt secure. Further comments related to the lack of
readiness for the secondary style of education which pupils currently receive at age 9 when they
transfer to Middle school and a belief that they would then be mature enough for secondary
schooling at age 11.
Teachers commented that both pupils and school would benefit from having Year 5 and 6. Key
Stage 2 would be completed in one school and the responsibility for the progress would rest with
the primary school. The belief was also expressed that intervention to support children with basic
literacy and numeracy skills in Years 5 and 6 is best undertaken by practitioners who are familiar
with this learning which lies in the primary model. It was felt that good primary provision for
Houghton Regis would enhance the life chances for all pupils and would provide further
opportunities for joint working to enhance educational provision. The low starting point of many of
the pupils on entry to school was also felt to be a significant factor in their poor transition to
middle school; it was felt that pupils need the extra two years to consolidate their learning and
feel confident before moving on to a secondary model of education.
Teaching Assistants commented that for SEND pupils the stability and continued working would
be beneficial to these most vulnerable pupils. Some staff who are also parents commented that
they felt that the two years at Middle School for their children had been wasted, as their children
went backwards not forwards.
Chair of KHMS responded in favour of proposal.

Positive responses from other respondents commented on the schools very close working
relationships and understanding of our families; this was seen as a great strength of the school

21

Agenda Item 3
Page 75

which was not replicated in Middle School. It was also commented that the very close working
relationship between the Lower schools was a great strength which was already impacting on the
education of pupils. It was commented that it would also help address the problem of changing
schools mid Key Stage. Councillor Sue Goodchild further commented that CBC standards are not
as good as they should be and that they believed, with the quality of the Lower schools in
Houghton Regis, allowing them to alter their age range would support the council’s improvement
strategy. The felt that it should be recognised that Lower Schools are one of CBC’s strengths and
that a change in age range would support closing the gap in standards achieved by all young
people and vulnerable groups which is a priority in the Local Authority’s Children and Young
People’s Plan.

Andrew Selous MP expressed his “delight that there has been so much agreement among so
many Houghton Regis schools about school reorganisation in the town”

Concerns raised
The concern raised by parents who disagreed was lack of specialist facilities: however a good
primary school can offer a full and innovative primary curriculum without need for specialist labs,
also close partnership with other local schools can enhance teaching opportunities and meet all
pupils’ needs.
One parent who disagreed also commented that there was no point as it was a done deal that the
system would not change

One parent who agreed was concerned re: capacity of school and car park. With planned work
and innovative use of space this can be overcome. Also with parental choice widened the
numbers in Y5/6 to begin with may be less than capacity initially, giving time for planned and well
structured development of the school.

Concerns were raised by one middle school (Parkfields) which is not in Houghton Regis or
Dunstable, regarding schools acting in isolation and the impact it could have on other areas e.g.
Leighton Buzzard. They did not seem to be aware, even though it is clearly stated, that there is
very close working between schools in Houghton Regis and that there was a firm commitment to
extend this to all schools where pupils may transfer to. Also the response was based on the
consultation at Thornhill Lower not Hawthorn Park as it commented on the need to reduce places,
which Hawthorn Park is not planning. A middle school in local area (Priory Middle) also
disagreed and made comments regarding their good standards, parental feedback of their
parents in favour of Middle school Education, good transition and outcomes and partnership
working, obviously individual Middle schools results and teaching varies but we believe that the

22

Agenda Item 3
Page 76

offer of choice to parents will enhance provision in Houghton Regis and meet this communities
specific needs and we are still committed to working in partnership.

A further middle school (Millvale) has responded that it had no objection to the change of age
range but felt that the consultation document made comments that could have been misleading
as it refers to middle schools rather than particular schools. This was addressed on a reply to
Millvale regarding their comments.

The Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) of Kings Houghton Middle School (KHMS) sent a response
that disagreed with the proposal, but, as stated earlier, the KHMS chair of Governors supported
the proposal. Our response to the SLT is attached at the end of this section. However though
there are objections raised, it seems that many of these are addressing the current issues in
Houghton Regis rather than looking forward to the commitment of the proposal and the strong
arguments for the change of age range.

A concern was raised by the Head of Early Intervention & Prevention, Central Bedfordshire
Council with regard to the school expressing the possible need for the space currently used as
part of Parkside Neighbourhood Centre, though not disagreeing with the change of age range.
This is the earliest that the area would be required would be 2016 and it is the school’s belief that
this could be addressed. New contracts are currently being issued by CBC which will run until
st

March 31 2015 it is the intention of the school to be in a position to jointly tender along with Tithe
Farm to run this service. It is our belief that we could manage the service and accommodation to
enable the area in discussion to be put back in to use as part of the school accommodation, to
facilitate the support we currently offer to families and community that is running out of current
school space.

A number of TA staff from KHMS in the area disagreed with proposals and sent a collective
statement. They stated that Children in need of a statement are not identified at Lower School
leaving the middle school to collate the necessary information. This is not factually correct at
Hawthorn Park as we have highly effective SEND provision that identifies pupils’ needs early and
puts in place the appropriate and effective support by referring to relevant agencies. In the last
year Hawthorn Park applied successfully for 8 statements. We transferred 5 children with
statements of need to KHMS and our SENCO met on several occasions with staff from KHMS
regarding the needs of these children and arranged extra transition support for these pupils. We
also successfully enabled the transition of another 4 children with statements to other middle
school provision. This reply also stated that children should be targeted in year 3 and 4 so that
they are correctly assessed and placed in year 5 allowing them to excel earlier in middle school.

23

Agenda Item 3
Page 77

All our pupils from FS1 up are carefully targeted and supported with rigorous provision mapping
and support. It also asked what provision Lower schools provide for pupils with behavioural and /
or social issues. As a school we provide a highly experienced and well trained staff in ADHD,
Autism and BSED. We are all trained in Team Teach, use SORTED counselling, play therapy and
an innovative creative curriculum to meet all our pupils needs. Once again these objectives
seemed based in false premise rather than to the actual proposal itself. Hawthorn Park as a
Primary would be able to extend the excellent SEND and support for vulnerable pupils that we
pride ourselves in. The Jigsaw Centre alternative provision already operates out of Hawthorn
Park and caters for the most at risk pupils age 4-11 across CBC, and is already making an
impact.

Union concerns relate to any impact there may be around staffing at both Hawthorn Park and any
schools that may see pupil numbers change as a result of the age range change. Timothy
Ramsden (NASUWT) commented that “Should the change proceed, we believe a committed,
strong and experienced governing body is vital to support all staff through the period of change in
times that are tough for the education service generally. We therefore look to the governors’
determination, within the normal processes of election to governing bodies, to assure head
teachers and all staff of their support throughout the process.” We have a very strong and
committed Governing Body that fully supports this proposal.

PUBLIC MEETING
No concerns were raised at the public meeting regarding the age range change (Minutes
attached)
Councillor Egan fully supported and was behind the proposal but expressed unhappiness in the
fact that Houghton Regis Lower were not currently able to consult.
The issue of the Neighbourhood Centre was raised (Manager – Neighbourhood Centre) and was
responded to by Lindsey Johnson (Head teacher - Hawthorn Park Lower) stating the school was
looking for partnership and working together to meet the needs of the community.
It was said that no-one seemed to have ownership of Key Stage 2 and this can cause dip in
attainment.
Tom Waterworth (Principal - All Saints Academy) fully supported presentation and was fully
behind the drive to raise standards, provide great mainstream primary education and to make a
difference to families and children. He was also fully supportive of schools working collaboratively
to meet need.
Union Meeting
Staff at Hawthorn were wholly in favour of the proposal and felt that the expertise and knowledge

24

Agenda Item 3
Page 78

within the school could be extended. Unions raised concern re possible closure of local Middle
school, this is not the intention of our proposal and good staff will be needed to enhance our
current team.

Pupil Comments
Majority said they would like to stay at Hawthorn until they were 11.
They said that they think their school is friendly and they know the teachers well. They would
enjoy having more children in the school and they could have more responsibility as they got
older.
They commented on learning from a fun curriculum and that they enjoy their topic work because it
interests them.
One child said if they remained at Hawthorn they wouldn’t have to worry about change. Some
children commented that they were worried that they would have too many detentions at middle
school.

Revisit and Review Of Original Proposal in Light of Consultation
Further comments:
SCHOOL CAPACITY.
There was some concern around School capacity. However It is still the School and Governors
firm commitment the school can accommodate Y5 and Y6. Good planning and vision would
enhance this vision. The furthering of parental choice could impact on capacity in the initial
change and other proposals for change could also impact. Working with other schools will be key
to ensuring all needs are met.
SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities):
Concerns raised by KHMS around SEND are inaccurate and do not show an understanding of
SEND at Hawthorn Park. Our provision for pupils with SEND is outstanding and is fully embedded
in to the ethos of the school as a whole. It is an area of strength where our expertise and
knowledge of different types of SEND can be used to assist other local schools whilst meeting the
needs of all our pupils. As a school we regularly update our training and expertise, meet and have
a close working relationship with other agencies i.e. SALT, ELC. We also support families through
often difficult decisions and offer them support with coping with their child’s SEND needs. We run
the siblings group for children with siblings with disabilities once a month and through our PSA
offer excellent family and community support.
TRANSITION

25

Agenda Item 3
Page 79

Parental concerns were around the number of transition points impacting on their children. This
proposal would reduce number of transition times and also allow pupils to transfer at end of Key
Stage. It would also give pupils time to become emotionally ready. Even where there was
disagreement it was agreed that transition has an effect on education and well being.
It remains a firm commitment from the school to work with all schools that pupils transfer to at any
age, in order to address transition issues.

WORKING TOGETHER WITH OTHER SCHOOLS
We are committed to improving education and outcomes for all pupils in Houghton Regis and
have always tried to ensure effective partnerships. This is shown with Hawthorn Park playing a
role in Leading the Dunstable & Houghton Regis Behaviour Partnership and Learning
Community. In the combined working to run the Jigsaw (alternative school provision) and using
PSA across the Community. However it has not always been a smooth partnership and it is
hoped that with schools in the area having a joint vision for Houghton Regis that this partnership
will strengthen even more.
EXTENDED SERVICES
As a school we provide many extended school activities already, including After school and
Breakfast Clubs, variety of after school activities, siblings Group and Parent and child events. We
hope that this can be further extended and really benefit our community. Though a concern was
addressed re: Neighbourhood Centre, partnership working among the schools and the centre
would enhance all services within our community.
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
To remain as Lower School

Consultation Response Form received from the Strategic
Leadership Team (SLT) of Kings Houghton Middle School -

Questions relating to the proposal

How much do you agree with the following statements? Please tick as appropriate.

26

Agenda Item 3
Page 80

1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Hawthorn Park Lower School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
x

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Hawthorn Park Lower School

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
x

Further comments:
Key stage 2 results:

What the proposal says

‘Houghton Regis Lower schools provide well for their pupils. Local data shows that
children achieve well in our schools and that standards achieved at the end of both KS1
and Year 4 are good. However, standards in Year 6 at the end of Key Stage 2 are below
where they should be indicating that pupils’ progress is affected in Years 5 and 6 in middle
school.’

What we say:
King’s Houghton Middle School also provides well for its pupils. Data shows that when pupils
arrive at year 5 they have a considerable way to go to reach their targets at year 6.

These targets are set based on the children’s assessed level at the end of year 2 and also based

27

Agenda Item 3
Page 81

on their assessed level at the end of year 4. The lower schools tell us they do not examine the
children using QCA tests but use pupils assessment or APP. We in turn assess the children using
APP and also using QCA.

We have to use QCA because the pupils are tested in a SATS exam after being with us for 5
terms.

When the pupils arrive from lower schools we therefore assume they have not completed formal
tests before. This is a disadvantage for them and it means they do not always meet the
challenging targets.
Response from Hawthorn Park
As a school we use a wide range of assessments that include formal QCA tests, APP and
in school and cross-school moderation to ensure the accuracy of assessment and inform
target setting. These assessments have been validated by the LA at EYFS, Year 2 and Year
4 and this data is passed on to KHMS. Therefore the assumption that pupils from
Hawthorn Park have never completed formal tests before entering KHMS is factually
untrue. In addition we benefit from having the expertise on staff of a trained KS1
moderator and a KS2 Literacy marker. We have robust assessment, tracking and target
setting systems that inform us about pupil progress and these can be continued into
Years 5 and 6 to ensure better outcomes for our pupils at the end of KS2
The majority of our Y4 pupils are achieving at least national expectations with some
groups showing accelerated progress from low starting points in EYFS. This progress is
not continued at the moment.

Key stage 2 is split between two schools.

In Luton where junior and infant schools were the norm some years ago. The problem of inflated
key stage 2 results had a negative effect on the outcomes for the same pupils at the end of year
6. It looked like not enough progress had been made, the it was suggested that infant schools
had enhanced their year 2 results as this looked good for them, and the junior schools had to
battle to ensure the children made a full two levels progress in the year 6 SATS exams as a
result. The final accountability still fell with the junior schools and they could do nothing about the
year 2 results.

The schools are now primary schools in many places in Luton and what has been noted is that
the year 2 results have fallen and the value added has increased. In other words: primary schools

28

Agenda Item 3
Page 82

suppress key stage 1 result to show better progress in key stage 2 as it is their accountability.
Split junior and infant schools have the same issue as we do here.
Response from Hawthorn Park
This is referring to schools in Luton and we believe we can improve outcomes in
Houghton Regis and our proposal is based on the needs of pupils in our community.
The middle schools have much data- not normally shared with everyone by the LA to show that
progress in keys stage 2 across the LA is not good. This in turn does not help the huge leap
middle schools need to make with years 5 and 6.
Response from Hawthorn Park
As a Primary school there should not be a huge leap needed in Y5 and 6 as pupil progress
will be more even across the school from EYFS to Y6 due to the consistency of teaching
and learning, rigorous assessment and tracking, innovative curriculum that engages
pupils and knowledge of our pupils educational and pastoral needs.

As a middle school we have made massive efforts to work alongside our lower school colleagues.
The overwhelming feeling we get from them is distrust and an unwillingness to work with us. This
was shown a few years ago when lower school heads all refused to allow us to conduct the CATs
tests in year 4 so that we could use the data to help us set pupils according to their cognitive
ability. We did not consider this to be partnership working. Partnership working is the way forward
and we have been promoting it over the years.
Response from Hawthorn Park
Partnerships are based on mutual trust, respect and working together, this has not been
the case with KHMS in the last few years. Many attempts to improve links have been met
by at best indifference to our ethos and ideas. Recently as a result of KHMS latest Ofsted
report, an enquiry was made regarding maths resources and numeracy teaching, we
responded immediately and positively but are still awaiting a reply.

Transition:
What the proposal says

‘National data shows that changing school impacts negatively on pupils’ progress. The
transition of our pupils at age 9 in the middle of their Key Stage 2 primary schooling
results in a lack of curriculum understanding, continuity, and assessment agreement.’

29

Agenda Item 3
Page 83

What we say
It is true that changing school impacts negatively on pupils progress and this document suggests
that the middle school is not working to make this a better situation, whereas in fact we work very
hard to ensure our pupils settle fast into year 5.

Lower schools are no sharing maths resources and ideas with us as we have asked, and we
have worked for several years now on the same Literacy scheme with Hawthorne park and this
has been very successful.
Response from Hawthorn Park
As a school we have worked very hard to improve transition for our pupils and their
parents, but for a majority of our pupils they are not ready for the vast changes and the
secondary based style of teaching. We do follow the same Literacy Scheme as KHMS but
have not had a positive response from them regarding sharing of resources, ensuring
pupils do not repeat parts of the scheme or joint working. We find this very disappointing,
as the use of the sane Literacy Scheme was in order to help with continuity and improve
outcomes.
Assessment agreement is something, which again we have worked on in terms of APP
moderation etc. We dispute the fact stated that we do not agree on assessment data, as we take
the data as it is when sent form lower schools and we know what data it is. In fact we agree with
the data and assume that transition has affected the APP scores when they dip.

Lower schools have not provided us with APP documentation- despite requests. We hope that
will be redressed this year.
Response from Hawthorn Park
We did provide KHMS with APP documents alongside other data and information. However
KHMS use secondary APP and we use Primary APP.
Two tier rationale:
What the proposal says
We believe that our children would benefit from the stability of a primary school setting
that is organised to meet the specific learning needs of the upper Key Stage 2 child.
National research and data supports this view and consequently Local Authorities have
converted to a primary/ secondary model.

What we say:

30

Agenda Item 3
Page 84

The system is stable at the moment in Houghton Regis. This is a vulnerable area where the
status quo would succeed if it were to remain. National data does not prove that result would be
any better in Key stage 2 – although value added might appear to be-see above. In fact national
data shows that results may be worse. Look at Northampton for data.

We have excellent facilities for keys stage two including specialist provision and lots of spacesomething the lower schools do not have and have not planned for.
Response from Hawthorn Park
The education Provision in Houghton Regis is undergoing change in line with the rest of
the country, with the setting up of academies, free schools and alternative provisions. This
is highlighted by KHMS themselves being academised by the Greenwood Dale Foundation
Trust. The SLT in a newsletter to parents commented ‘The conversion to Academy will be
as a Middle School but the Academy will adapt in future to suit the needs of the
community. This is not a statement that endorses keeping the status quo; indeed KHMS
has expressed an interest in the last year of becoming a secondary provision. We believe
that Hawthorn Park can offer its pupils and families a change that will make a difference.
Good Primary Education is not dependent on specialist facilities but on excellence of
teaching and learning, something we are sure we provide.

Choice:

What the proposal says:
We also believe that all children and families in Houghton Regis should have the same
choice as Catholic families who can already choose to send their children to a primary
school until the age of 11.

What we say:

All families have the choice to send their child to a primary school by crossing Pointers Road- the
Barnfield Academy is closer than the all Saints Academy. If parents want to they can access the
other system.
Response from Hawthorn Park
Parents could make a choice but Luton has no surplus Primary places in the immediate area and
Barnfield Academy is currently a secondary provision so not available to our parents until 11.

31

Agenda Item 3
Page 85

With our proposal parents would have increased choice of either Primary or Lower Middle Upper .

Secondary school places:

What the proposal says
Hawthorn Park Lower, Thomas Whitehead C of E VA Lower and Thornhill Lower are
consulting at the same time to change their upper age range to 11. An application has also
been submitted to the YPLA, which maintains academies, for All Saints Academy to
become a secondary academy for 11 to 18 year olds.

The Governing Body has requested Central Bedfordshire Council to consider its request
to change the age range of the school to enable it to provide primary schooling to pupils
up to age 11.

What we say:

For the proposal to be successful we understand that there needs to be 7 forms of entry for year
7 in the area. We also understand that ASA has not managed to get permission to become a
secondary school. If it does have this permission there would not be enough forms of entry for
year 7.

This means that secondary school education would be compromised due to this proposal,
although we can see a way forward if we were to become a secondary provision.
Response from Hawthorn Park
As stated previously Educational Provision is currently changing and there are
consultations both in CBC and in Luton regarding school status. The statement is
repeated that KHMS would help the places issue by becoming a secondary school. If that
is the view then surely that is not in line with the objections to our proposal.

OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

x

To raise standards and improve
outcomes for young people particularly
at age 11, 16 and 18; Y6 data has been
below ‘floor targets’ for three
consecutive years.

32

We feel this can be done via close
partnership working

Agenda Item 3
Page 86

x

x

To ensure that particular attention is
paid to groups of children who are

This happens at the current time at
middle school level.

underperforming and exceeding in
x

years 5 and 6.
To address the issues of surplus places

x

in Houghton Regis.

The middle school has very few
spaces; it is the lower schools that
have space. This is not because

x

x

To provide stability, consistency and
continuity for children in their primary

they are not primary schools.
We feel this can be done via close
partnership working

years, through our ethos, curriculum,
x

teaching and learning organisation.

x

To provide shared services between
schools and to ensure continuity of
learning and teaching on transfer at age
11 across Houghton Regis and All

x

Saints Academy in Dunstable
To provide equal access for all pupils to

x

See comment above

x

We should be working in

primary school education regardless of
x

faith
To ensure our schools are based
around communities and their needs

x
x
x

partnership as KHMS has wanted to

To provide specialist primary education
for children in years 5 and 6
To improve transition for children on
transfer,
To address issues of recruitment and
retention of good quality staff

x

do since January 2009

x

This already occurs

x

KHMS is fully staffed and has good
quality staff

Recruitment & retention is difficult in
Lower schools as there is not clear
career progression and less opportunity
for leadership , being a primary would
address this issue.

33

Agenda Item 3
Page 87

HAWTHORNPARK SCHOOL
Where Care and Learning Count
Headteacher : Mrs Lindsey Johnson
The Governing Body met on February 7th to look at the responses and discuss
the report on informal consultation. The following statement was written by the
Governing Body and was unanimously agreed.
STATEMENT FROM HAWTHORN PARK LOWER GOVERNING BODY
REGARDING THE PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE AGE RANGE AT
HAWTHORN PARK LOWER FROM 3-9 YEARS TO 3-11 YEARS.
The Governing Body of Hawthorn Park Lower School consists of a mix of parent
Governors, Community Governors, Staff Governors and LA Governors.
We (The Governing Body of Hawthorn Park Lower School) fully support the
proposal to extend the age range at Hawthorn Park Lower School and become a
Primary school, because we believe that the current three-tier system is failing
the children of Houghton Regis. The Governing Body plays an active role in the
school and is fully aware of the excellent achievement and progress made by
children in the school, and the contribution of the school’s management and staff
to this achievement and progress.
This positive view is confirmed in the school’s last Ofsted report, which states
‘The many positive comments given by staff and parents clearly show how highly
this school is valued and reflect that it is indeed a ‘good school’.’ This proposal
will enable the school to continue to offer high quality education throughout a
pupil’s Primary career.
Our children currently move to middle school at age 9 years. We believe that a
substantial majority of our pupils in an area of high deprivation are not
emotionally or socially ready for transition at this age, with a move into a new
environment, a more secondary based curriculum, unfamiliar routines, teaching
staff and peers. Continuing at Hawthorn Park until the end of the Primary years
will offer our pupils and their families consistency based on an extension of the
high quality education and pastoral support that the school currently provides and
Ofsted recognises.

34

Agenda Item 3
Page 88

Data from our excellent assessment and tracking systems shows that the
majority of our pupils leave Hawthorn Park achieving well and reaching or
exceeding LA expectations. Furthermore, the progress made by vulnerable
groups such as SEND and FSM is well above the LA average. However, data
from SATS results two years later shows that many pupils do not maintain this
progress and achieve less well than national expectations.
As a Governing Body we believe that Hawthorn Park can offer a better
educational provision for Y5 and Y6 based on an innovative and sound primary
curriculum for all. We find it unacceptable that the majority of our pupils transfer
to a middle school where only 40% of pupils achieve expected levels for English
and Mathematics. This is failing our pupils and we are committed to ensuring that
this should change.
The Governing Body has examined the views of parents and other stakeholders
and they overwhelmingly support this proposal.
This proposal is not something the Governing Body has entered into lightly, but
has discussed and explored options over a number of years. We realise that
change can be challenging, however we are strongly committed to making
change happen for the benefit of our pupils, families and the wider community.
We believe that this proposal to extend our pupils’ age range from 3-9 years to 311 years will go a long way towards helping the children of Houghton Regis
develop into well educated, well rounded citizens who are emotionally, socially
and educationally equipped to continue with life long learning.

35

Agenda Item 3
Page 89

Appendix C

Proposal to extend the age range of Thornhill Community Lower
School from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary
school.

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 that
Central Bedfordshire Council intends to make a prescribed alteration to Thornhill Community
Lower School, Grove Road, Houghton Regis, Bedfordshire LU5 5PE from 1 September 2013.
The proposal is to change the age range of Thornhill Community Lower School by extending it
from a 3 – 9 years lower school to a 3 – 11 years primary school
This is to be implemented in two stages:
September 2013 - year 4 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 5.
September 2014 - Year 5 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 6.
The current capacity of the school is 200 in the main school plus provision for 78 part time nursery
places. Following implementation the proposed capacity will be 210 places in the main school plus
provision for 60 part time nursery places.
The current admission number for the main school is 40 for each year group. From September
2013 the proposed admission number will be reduced to 30 for each year group. Total capacity for
September 2013 is expected to be 200 in the main school with 60 part time nursery places. Total
capacity for 2014 is expected to be 210 in the main school with 60 part time nursery places.
This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal can be
obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire Council, Room DC2, Watling
House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds, LU6 1LF. It can also be viewed on the Council's
website at http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object to or make
comments on the proposal by sending them to The Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children's
Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds, SG17 5TQ.
Signed: Edwina Grant
Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services
Publication Date: 20 February 2012
Explanatory notes
It is proposed that extending the age range of Thornhill Community Lower School from 3 – 9 years
to 3 – 11 years to create a primary school will provide improved standards in years 5 and 6 and
therefore at the end of Key Stage 2. National data shows that changing school may impact
negatively on pupils’ progress and may result in a lack of curriculum understanding, continuity, and
assessment agreement. This proposal will remove the transition at the end of year 4.
The school can accommodate the additional year groups by reverting one classroom currently
used as a parents’ room and ‘after school club’ for an interim period. In the longer term, when
funds become available, the school would consider a permanent extension to the school to replace
these facilities.

Agenda Item 3
Page 90

PROPOSALS FOR PRESCRIBED ALTERATIONS OTHER
THAN FOUNDATION PROPOSALS: Information to be
included in a complete proposal
Extract of Part 1 of Schedule 3 and Part 1 of Schedule 5 to The School
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)(England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended):
In respect of a Governing Body Proposal: School and governing body’s details
1. The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body are
publishing the proposals.
N/A
In respect of an LEA Proposal: School and local education authority details
1. The name, address and category of the school .
Thornhill Community Lower School
Grove Road
Houghton Regis
LU5 5PE
Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation
2. The date on which the proposals are planned to be implemented, and if they are to
be implemented in stages, a description of what is planned for each stage, and the
number of stages intended and the dates of each stage.
The proposal will be implemented on 1 September 2013.
In September 2013 - year 4 children will be retained at school and become a new year 5
In September 2014 – year 5 children will be retained at school and become a new year 6
Objections and comments
3. A statement explaining the procedure for making representations, including —
(a) the date prescribed in accordance with paragraph 29 of Schedule 3 (GB
proposals)/Schedule 5 (LA proposals) of The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), by
which objections or comments should be sent to the local education authority;
and
(b) the address of the authority to which objections or comments should be sent.
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal (i.e. 2 April 2012) any
person may object to or make comments on the proposal by sending them to Edwina
Grant, Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire
Council, Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds. SG17 5TQ

1

Agenda Item 3
Page 91

Alteration description
4. A description of the proposed alteration and in the case of special school proposals,
a description of the current special needs provision.
It is proposed that Thornhill Community Lower School will extend its age range from a 3-9
years lower school to a 3-11 years primary school.
School capacity
5.—(1) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 8 , 9
and 12-14 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/paragraphs 1-4, 7, 8, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule
4 (LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained
Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), the proposals must also include —
(a) details of the current capacity of the school and, where the proposals will alter the
capacity of the school, the proposed capacity of the school after the alteration;
The current capacity of the school is 200 places in the main school plus provision for 78
part time nursery places. Following implementation, the proposed capacity will be 210
places in the main school plus provision for 60 part time nursery places.

(b) details of the current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant
age group, and where this number is to change, the proposed number of pupils
to be admitted in each relevant age group in the first school year in which the
proposals will have been implemented;
The proposal is for Thornhill Community Lower School to reduce their current admission
number from 40 to 30. The number of children being admitted has been decreasing year
on year and the reduced admission number will enable the school to accommodate the
additional children in years 5 and 6.

(c) where it is intended that proposals should be implemented in stages, the number
of pupils to be admitted to the school in the first school year in which each stage
will have been implemented;
From September 2013 it is proposed that the schools admission number be reduced from
40 to 30. However from September 2013 a new year 5 will be created and in September
2014 a new year 6 will be created to enable pupils, who would have otherwise have had
to leave the school at the end of year 4, to remain.

(d) where the number of pupils in any relevant age group is lower than the indicated
admission number for that relevant age group a statement to this effect and
details of the indicated admission number in question.
It is proposed that the school will reduce its intake from 40 to 30. The school currently
has 131 pupils on roll plus 39 part time nursery pupils. The current number on roll in year
R, Year 2 and Year 3 are below the existing admission number and the proposed
admission number. The number on roll in Year 1 and Year 3 are marginally above the
proposed admission number (30) but well below the current admission number (40)

2

Agenda Item 3
Page 92

(2) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1, 2, 9, 12 and
13 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals) /paragraphs 1, 2, 8, 18 ands 19 of Schedule 4 (LA
proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)
(England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), a statement of the number of pupils at the
school at the time of the publication of the proposals.
131 pupils in the main school plus 39 foundation stage pupils
Implementation
6. Where the proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary controlled school a
statement as to whether the proposals are to be implemented by the local education
authority or by the governing body, and, if the proposals are to be implemented by both, a
statement as to the extent to which they are to be implemented by each body.
N/A
Additional Site
7.—(1) A statement as to whether any new or additional site will be required if
proposals are implemented and if so the location of the site if the school is to occupy a
split site.
N/A
(2) Where proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary school a statement as to who
will provide any additional site required, together with details of the tenure (freehold or
leasehold) on which the site of the school will be held, and if the site is to be held on a
lease, details of the proposed lease.
N/A
Changes in boarding arrangements
8.—(1) Where the proposals are for the introduction or removal of boarding provision,
or the alteration of existing boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21
of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 to The School Organisation
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as
amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom it is intended that boarding provision will be made
if the proposals are approved;
N/A
(b) the arrangements for safeguarding the welfare of children at the school;
N/A
(c) the current number of pupils for whom boarding provision can be made and a
description of the boarding provision; and
N/A

3

Agenda Item 3
Page 93

(d) except where the proposals are to introduce boarding provision, a description of
the existing boarding provision.
N/A
(2) Where the proposals are for the removal of boarding provisions or an alteration to
reduce boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of Schedule 2 (GB
proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom boarding provision will be removed if the
proposals are approved; and
N/A
(b) a statement as to the use to which the former boarding accommodation will be
put if the proposals are approved.
N/A
Transfer to new site
9. Where the proposals are to transfer a school to a new site the following
information—
(a) the location of the proposed site (including details of whether the school is to
occupy a single or split site), and including where appropriate the postal address;
N/A
(b) the distance between the proposed and current site;
N/A
(c) the reason for the choice of proposed site;
N/A
(d) the accessibility of the proposed site or sites;
N/A
(e) the proposed arrangements for transport of pupils to the school on its new site;
and
N/A
(f) a statement about other sustainable transport alternatives where pupils are not
using transport provided, and how car use in the school area will be discouraged.
N/A

4

Agenda Item 3
Page 94

Objectives
10. The objectives of the proposals.
x

x

x

x

x

x
x
x
x
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age
11, 16 and 18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.
To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are
underperforming and exceeding in years 5 and 6.
To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years,
through the school’s ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organization.
To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning
and teaching on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints
Academy in Dunstable
To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of
faith
To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs
To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6
To improve transition for children on transfer,
To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis.
To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

Consultation
11. Evidence of the consultation before the proposals were published including—
(a) a list of persons who were consulted;
(b) minutes of all public consultation meetings;
(c) the views of the persons consulted;
(d) a statement to the effect that all applicable statutory requirements in relation to
the proposals to consult were complied with; and
(e) copies of all consultation documents and a statement on how these documents
were made available.
Informal consultation was carried out between 5 December 2011 and 3 February 2012

(a) Parents/guardians of children currently attending Thornhill Lower School
Staff at Thornhill Lower School
The Chair of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The Head teacher of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire Councillors
Members of Parliament for South West Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre-school providers in Houghton Regis,
Pre-school providers in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff

5

Agenda Item 3
Page 95

All church leaders within Houghton Regis
Internal (Central Bedfordshire Council) consultation in SEN
A Public Consultation Meeting was held at the school on 11 January 2012
(b) See Appendix A
(c) See Appendix B
(d) All applicable statutory requirements in relation to the proposals to consult were
complied with
(e) A copy of the consultation document is available via the Central Bedfordshire Council
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations. This consultation document was

circulated to all of the people listed in section (a) and was also made available via the
Councils publication ‘Central Essentials’ which is emailed weekly to head teachers and
chairs of governors.

Project costs
12. A statement of the estimated total capital cost of the proposals and the breakdown
of the costs that are to be met by the governing body, the local education authority, and
any other party.
No initial capital costs will be incurred. The school can currently accommodate 200
pupils, but one classroom is now used as a parents’ room and After school club. It is
proposed that this room will be reverted back into a classroom for an interim period but in
the longer term, when funds become available, the school will consider the provision of
replacement facilities.

13. A copy of confirmation from the Secretary of State, local education authority and the
Learning and Skills Council for England (as the case may be) that funds will be made
available (including costs to cover any necessary site purchase).
N/A
Age range
14. Where the proposals relate to a change in age range, the current age range for the
school.
The current age range is 3-9 years across the main school plus the part time nursery
provision.
Early years provision
15. Where the proposals are to alter the lower age limit of a mainstream school so that
it provides for pupils aged between 2 and 5—
(a) details of the early years provision, including the number of full-time and part-time
pupils, the number and length of sessions in each week, and the services for
disabled children that will be offered;
The school already caters for pupils aged 3-9 with 200 places in the main school plus 78
part time nursery places. The provision for nursery aged pupils will be reduced to 60.
This will still enable the demand for spaces to be met.

6

Agenda Item 3
Page 96

(b) how the school will integrate the early years provision with childcare services and
how the proposals are consistent with the integration of early years provision for
childcare;
As existing
(c) evidence of parental demand for additional provision of early years provision;
See 15(a) above
(d) assessment of capacity, quality and sustainability of provision in schools and in
establishments other than schools who deliver the Early Years Foundation Stage
within 3 miles of the school; and
N/A
(e) reasons why such schools and establishments who have spare capacity cannot
make provision for any forecast increase in the number of such provision.
N/A
Changes to sixth form provision
16. (a) Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the
school provides sixth form education or additional sixth form education, a statement of
how the proposals will—
(i) improve the educational or training achievements;
(ii) increase participation in education or training; and
(iii) expand the range of educational or training opportunities
for 16-19 year olds in the area;
N/A
(b) A statement as to how the new places will fit within the 16-19 organisation in an area;

N/A
(c) Evidence —
(i) of the local collaboration in drawing up the proposals; and
(ii) that the proposals are likely to lead to higher standards and better progression at
the school;

N/A
(d) The proposed number of sixth form places to be provided.
N/A

7

Agenda Item 3
Page 97

17. Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school
ceases to provide sixth form education, a statement of the effect on the supply of 16-19
places in the area.
N/A

Special educational needs
18. Where the proposals are to establish or change provision for special educational
needs—
(a) a description of the proposed types of learning difficulties in respect of which
education will be provided and, where provision for special educational needs
already exists, the current type of provision;
There are no proposals to establish or change provision for SEN
Children with special needs or those who are particularly vulnerable will particularly
benefit for the following reasons:
x
x
x

Increasingly more vulnerable children find it difficult to adapt to the disruption of a
larger school, different organisation and different approaches to teaching and
learning
The primary approach of mixed ability classes supports children of this age; they
benefit from the stimulus and support of others, and have opportunities to excel in
other areas thus boosting their self -esteem.
The school has the expertise, resources and teaching methodologies to support
children who find learning hard.

The school has the facility to teach children in groups other than their registration
groups. This has already proved very successful in school for reading and in KS2 maths
and this would continue to support the school’s more vulnerable learners
(b) any additional specialist features will be provided;
N/A
(c) the proposed numbers of pupils for which the provision is to be made;
N/A
(d) details of how the provision will be funded;
N/A
(e) a statement as to whether the education will be provided for children with special
educational needs who are not registered pupils at the school to which the
proposals relate;
N/A

8

Agenda Item 3
Page 98

(f) a statement as to whether the expenses of the provision will be met from the
school’s delegated budget;
N/A
(g) the location of the provision if it is not to be established on the existing site of the
school;
N/A
(h) where the provision will replace existing educational provision for children with
special educational needs, a statement as to how the local education authority
believes that the new provision is likely to lead to improvement in the standard,
quality and range of the educational provision for such children; and
N/A
(i) the number of places reserved for children with special educational needs, and
where this number is to change, the proposed number of such places.
N/A

19. Where the proposals are to discontinue provision for special educational needs—
(a) details of alternative provision for pupils for whom the provision is currently made;
N/A
(b) details of the number of pupils for whom provision is made that is recognised by
the local education authority as reserved for children with special educational
needs during each of the 4 school years preceding the current school year;
N/A
(c) details of provision made outside the area of the local education authority for
pupils whose needs will not be able to be met in the area of the authority as a
result of the discontinuance of the provision; and
N/A
(d) a statement as to how the proposer believes that the proposals are likely to lead
to improvement in the standard, quality and range of the educational provision for
such children.
N/A

9

Agenda Item 3
Page 99

20. Where the proposals will lead to alternative provision for children with special
educational needs, as a result of the establishment, alteration or discontinuance of
existing provision, the specific educational benefits that will flow from the proposals in
terms of—
(a) improved access to education and associated services including the curriculum,
wider school activities, facilities and equipment with reference to the local
education authority’s Accessibility Strategy;
(b) improved access to specialist staff, both educational and other professionals,
including any external support and outreach services;
(c) improved access to suitable accommodation; and
(d) improved supply of suitable places.
N/A
Sex of pupils
21. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to provide that a school which was
an establishment which admitted pupils of one sex only becomes an establishment which
admits pupils of both sexes—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the
provision of single sex-education in the area;
N/A
(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education; and
N/A
(c) details of any transitional period which the body making the proposals wishes
specified in a transitional exemption order (within the meaning of section 27 of
the Sex Discrimination Act 1975).
N/A

22. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to a school to provide that a school
which was an establishment which admitted pupils of both sexes becomes an
establishment which admits pupils of one sex only—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the
provision of single-sex education in the area; and
N/A
(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education.
N/A

10

Agenda Item 3
Page 100

Extended services
23. If the proposed alterations affect the provision of the school’s extended services,
details of the current extended services the school is offering and details of any proposed
change as a result of the alterations.
There will be no alterations to the extended services the school offers. The school will
continue to offer before and after school care for all children 4+ although alternative
arrangements will need to be made within the school for parents/after school club. The
proposal will give the opportunity for joint extended school provision across the local
schools reflecting the needs of the wider community and the aspirations of the schools.

Need or demand for additional places
24. If the proposals involve adding places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the need or demand for the particular
places in the area;
In response to parental concerns, the proposal will add an additional 60 places per year
group for years 5 and 6. This will enable pupils to remain in the school should parents
wish this thereby increasing choice and diversity across the area.

(b) where the school has a religious character, a statement and supporting evidence
of the demand in the area for education in accordance with the tenets of the
religion or religious denomination;
N/A
(c) where the school adheres to a particular philosophy, evidence of the demand for
education in accordance with the philosophy in question and any associated
change to the admission arrangements for the school.
N/A

25. If the proposals involve removing places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the reasons for the removal, including an
assessment of the impact on parental choice; and
The proposals will increase provision across the area and increase parental choice at
Year 5 and Year 6. Whilst this will slightly reduce capacity elsewhere within the school,
the proposed lower admission number (30) is more reflective of the current demand for
places. Currently the school has approximately 70 surplus places across the main school.

(b) a statement on the local capacity to accommodate displaced pupils.
See above. Similarly all schools within the area will be working closely together to ensure

11

Agenda Item 3
Page 101

that pupils can be accommodated within the wider community of schools.

Expansion of successful and popular schools
25A. (1) Proposals must include a statement of whether the proposer considers that the
presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools should apply, and
where the governing body consider the presumption applies, evidence to support this.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to expansion proposals in respect of primary and
secondary schools, (except for grammar schools), i.e. falling within:
(a) (for proposals published by the governing body) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to
Schedule 2 or paragraph 12 of Part 2 to Schedule 2;
(b) (for proposals published by the LA) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to Schedule 4 or 18
of Part 4 to Schedule 4
of the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)
(England) Regulations 2007 (as amended).
N/A

12

Agenda Item 3
Page 102

Appendix A
Head Teacher:
Mrs Julia Lawson

Houghton Regis
Bedfordshire
LU5 5PE
Telephone & Fax:
01582 863516

Email:
thornhill@cbc.beds.sch.uk

MINUTES OF CONSULTATION EVENING AT
THORNHILL LOWER SCHOOL
th

The public meeting held on Wednesday 11 January was attended by 40 people.
Welcome by Julie Clatworthy, Chair of Governors
Presentation by Julia Lawson, Head teacher

Questions and Discussion:
1. Councillor Goodchild – Introduced herself – CBC, Chair of Governors at Tithe Farm and
Governor at King’s Houghton Middle School
Excellent presentation! Shows the uniqueness of our Community. How are you going to
take parents along collectively? I want this to go ahead. Whoever the sponsor of middle
school is we would want them to work alongside other schools.
Mrs Lawson replied: ‘Our parents are very keen for us to extend our age range to 11 and
are absolutely fully supporting this. Over the years we have built up a good relationship
with our parents, they trust us and work with us well. Our parents tell us they want their
children to stay with us until 11. If parents were not supportive of this change we wouldn’t
be applying for it.’
2. Parent - “I am scared for my son when he comes to leave Thornhill at aged 9 because
he’s not ready and I would be much happier for him to stay until he’s 11. I have complete
confidence in Mrs Lawson.”
3. Thornhill Y4 teacher and SEN Co-ordinator. “Every year parents have come back for our
support after their children have left.”
4. Parent “I want my son to stay here ‘til he’s 18!”
5. PSA and ex Parent - “My son has SEN and he found transition very difficult because of
his Tourette’s. He would have benefited from having an extra 2 years here.”
6. Julia Lawson- “we know our children and we understand their needs, most children have
been with us since nursery. We have the resources and the teaching expertise to support
children in Years 5 and 6 they need a primary approach to teaching and learning and our
resources and teaching techniques are especially beneficial for children with special
needs. One of our children who have a Statement of Special Need is staying at Thornhill
for another year because his parents do not feel that the Middle School environment is
appropriate for him.”

13

Agenda Item 3
Page 103

7. Tom Waterworth – Principal, All Saints Academy
x
x
x
x
x
x

Inspired by JL’s passion
Tremendous opportunity to re-write education
Provides stability, consistency and continuity
Leading curriculum innovation for years 5 & 6
Current system does not work
All Saints staff, governors and parents support this proposal

8. Lindsey Johnson- Head teacher, Hawthorn Park Lower School- “We should use parents’
ideas to help us to shape the curriculum for children in Years 5 and 6 and to help us build
on children’s confidence.
9. Parent- “Communication between parents and school is key.”
10. Parent - “You don’t get that at King’s Houghton.”
11. Councillor Goodchild - “It is all about raising aspirations, I agree with Lindsey.”
12. PSA - “For the last 2/3 years we (PSA) have been running transition workshops and we
have had lots of concerns from parents regarding communication between middle school
and parents.”
13. Parent Governor at Thornhill - “The communication between my child’s middle school and
us is good.”
14. PSA - “They do communicate, just in a different way.”
15. Thornhill Lower School staff member - “Lower school parents are able to ‘catch’ their
child’s teacher in the morning or after school and that’s as easy in middle schools, lower
schools are more ‘open’ and there is daily contact for parents”.
16. Parent - Will you organise holiday activities at different schools?”
Julia Lawson - ‘Yes, it is our aim to work together to provide more extended services for
our children and their families.’
Parent - “That’s a good idea; it gives children the chance to meet other children, some of
whom they will meet at their next school.”
17. Councillor Goodchild - “I concur with everything that’s been said this evening.”

Julie Clatworthy closed the meeting and thanked everyone for their contribution. The
meeting closed at 6.45 p.m.

14

Agenda Item 3
Page 104

Appendix B

Grove Road
Houghton Regis
Bedfordshire
LU5 5PE
Telephone & Fax:
01582 863516

Head Teacher:
Mrs Julia Lawson
Email:
thornhill@cbc.beds.sch.uk

RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION DOCUMENT ON A PROPOSAL TO
EXTEND THE UPPER AGE RANGE OF THORNHILL LOWER SCHOOL,
GROVE ROAD, HOUGHTON REGIS, BEDFORDSHIRE, LU5 5PN FROM 3
– 9 YEARS TO 3 – 11 YEARS

PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
The purpose of this document is to provide information and report on the informal consultation
relating to a proposal to extend the upper age range of Thornhill Lower School from 3 – 9
years to 3 – 11 years to create a full primary school.

OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11, 16

x

and 18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.

x

underperforming and exceeding in years 5 and 6.

x

through our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organization.

To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years,

To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning
and teaching on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints Academy

x

in Dunstable

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs

x

To improve transition for children on transfer,

x

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith

x

To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6

x

To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis.
To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

15

Agenda Item 3
Page 105

PROCESS OF INFORMAL CONSULTATION
th

Informal consultation period ran from 5 December 2011 to 3rd February 2012. The
consultation consisted of a consultation document, a meeting for staff and unions and a public
meeting.

Consultation documents were sent to the following people:

Parents/guardians of children currently attending Thornhill Lower School
Staff at Thornhill Lower School
The Chair of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The Head teacher of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire Councillors
Members of Parliament for South West Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre-school provision in Houghton Regis,
Pre-school provision in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff
All church leaders within Houghton Regis
Head of School Support, CBC

The consultation document was also available on the Central Bedfordshire Learning Portal
and publicised in Central Essentials.
th

A meeting for staff and Trade Union officials was held on Wednesday 11 January 2012
between 4pm and 5pm. All staff and Trade Union officials were notified in writing of this
meeting.
th

A public meeting was held on Wednesday 11 January 2012 between 6pm and 7:30pm. This
meeting was publicised by, letters, flyers and on the Central Bedfordshire Learning Portal,
details were also in Central Essentials.

Pupils in Years 1 – 4 were also consulted during discussion time.

16

Agenda Item 3
Page 106

RESPONSES TO INFORMAL CONSULTATION

Thornhill Lower School received 134 written responses to the consultation.
Overall Collated Responses:
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Thornhill Lower School.
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

114 (85%)

9 (7)%

4 (3%)

3 (2%)

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

4 (3%)

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

106 (79%)

15 (11%)

5 (4%)

3 (2%)

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

4 (3%)

1 (0.75%)

1c) I support the change in admissions number for Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

106 (79%)

14 (10%)

7 (5%)

4 (3%)

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

2 (1.5%)

1 (0.75%)

81 responses from parents/guardians
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Thornhill Lower School.
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

76 (94%)

5 (6%)

0

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

0

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

0

0

1 (0.75%)
68 (84%)

11 (14%)

1 (0.75%)

This parent
wants it sooner

1c) I support the change in admissions number for Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

68 (84%)

10 (12%)

3 (2%)

0

17

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

0

0

Agenda Item 3
Page 107

The comments from parents and guardians were overwhelmingly positive:
I feel this is a good idea for children to stay at Thornhill for longer as this would stop them
being uprooted at an age where some children can’t cope with the transition’ Parent
I fully agree that children’s needs are met in primary school and that a change half way
through Key Stage 2 is not in the best interests of the children. Parent
My son struggled on moving to middle school. I had to take him into school every day and
leave him sobbing his heart out. He just wasn’t ready for the larger school. My younger son
will benefit if Thornhill can get the age range extended and I for one am all for the extended
age range for Thornhill. Lower/middle School Parent
It is such a pity that you didn’t try to change the age range of Thornhill early because this is
our last year in this school. Parent
We moved here from a two tier system and my eldest children were greatly disadvantaged by
going to Kings Houghton, their grades dropped significantly. I welcome the change; my only
hope is that Mrs Lawson will be fully supported during the change. Lower/middle School
parent
I believe strongly that it would be in the child’s best interests to finish Key Stage 2 before
moving to another school. Parent Governor
I feel that my children will have their needs met more effectively staying at Thornhill.
Lower/middle School Parent
This proposal is the best idea for the local children as it will make learning more stable for
them. With the hard work everyone puts in they are more than capable to handle the
proposed changes. Parent
I strongly believe this is a very good idea. Parent
I strongly support this as I found it difficult for my son to get used to the vast change in school.
Lower/middle School Parent
Thornhill is a very lovely supportive school for my children and I will be very sad when my
daughter has to leave in September, but I hope there is a decision to turn the school from
lower to primary in time for my son to benefit. Parent

22 Responses from other Schools
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

9 (40%)

2 (9%)

4 (18%)

3 (13%)

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

4 (18%)

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

18

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

Agenda Item 3
Page 108

9 (40%)

2 (9%)

4 (18%)

2 (9%)

4 (18%)

1 (4.5%)

1c) I support the change in admissions number for Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

9 (40%)

2 (9%)

4 (18%)

4 (18%)

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

2 (9%)

1 (4.5%)

31 Responses from ‘Other’ (including individuals, school staff, Governors, MP)

1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Thornhill Lower School

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

29 (94%)

2 (6%)

0

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

0

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

29 (94%)

2 (6%)

0

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

0

0

1c) I support the change in admissions number for Thornhill Lower School
Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree

Disagree

nor disagree

29 (94%)

2 (6%)

0

0

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

0

0

RESPONSES TO POINTS RAISED THROUGH INFORMAL CONSULATATION
This is linked to our original proposal
PARENTAL CHOICE
Leighton Middle School: Changing the age range of the school will de-stabilise the
educational provision in the surrounding area.
There is currently an emphasis on providing parents with choice. Government initiatives
include conversion to Academy and the setting up of ‘Free Schools’. In the surrounding area
of Houghton Regis a number of schools have already expressed a real interest in changing
their age range and All Saints Academy have applied to become a secondary school 11-18.
Kings Houghton Middle School have agreed to be sponsored by The Greenwood Dale
Foundation Trust and have informed parents that they ‘.will adapt in the future to suit the
needs of the community.’ No children from Thornhill Lower School currently transfer to
Leighton Linslade for their middle school education.

19

Agenda Item 3
Page 109

Fairfield Park Lower School: Concern re impact in the local area and mixed economy for
parents.
Houghton Regis already provides a choice for parents through St Vincent’s Primary School
and some of our middle school pupils transfer to Barnfield Academy at the end of Year 6. Our
parents overwhelmingly support this change because they feel their children will have a better
quality of education by remaining in Thornhill Lower School.
‘ I agree that our children are sometimes struggling in their first years at middle school and
feel that this would be the ideal solution to ensure continued support for all levels of ability
and to and to remain at Thornhill until 11’ Middle School Parent
‘I would have loved my son to be at Thornhill longer, as he was so not ready for that big
change’. Parent
The transition from lower to middle is not up to a good enough standard on behalf of the
middle school. The staff at Thornhill put the children’s needs first and I feel they will achieve
their potential by staying for a further two years’ Middle and Lower School Parent
‘Year 5 children find it challenging to change schools and I am not in any way surprised that
the attainment levels for this age group show this’ Middle and Lower School Parent
While feedback is reported as positive currently from parents in terms of intending their
children stay to the end of Year 6 in the primary school, this might change when the
alternative is an academy. Timothy Ramsden NASUWT
Our parents tell us they want the best for their children. Our recent Ofsted was very positive
and our children achieve very well at Thornhill. Why would the educational provision be better
in an academy?
Despite the expressed desire of the parent body to retain the three tier system this is a back
door approach to move to the two-tier by default Parkfields Middle School
Our responses clearly indicate that this is not the desire of our parent body. All our
parents who responded to the consultation are in favour of extending our age range to
11. We have followed the guidance provided by the Local Authority

Our Proposal States that we aim to ‘provide increased confidence within the local
community that the education system is geared to local need and reflects parental
wishes’

TRANSITION
Central Partnership for Learning: Parental feedback confirms that Year 5 is a suitable point of
transfer.
The parental feedback at Thornhill Lower School is that 100% of our questionnaires returned
support deferring the age of transfer to 11. We believe that the demography of Houghton
Regis is deteriorating and more children and families are falling into the Acorn category of
‘Hard Pressed’ which means that increasingly parents and children require more support and
nurture. As a result of being “Hard Pressed” more children are behind in their PSE
development at age 9. This is evidenced by the very low PSED scores recorded on entry to
the Foundation Stage. They remain immature and emotionally behind and for a large majority,
the transition at age 9 is too challenging. They are ill-equipped to move to a larger setting
based on a secondary model of teaching and learning.
Our Proposal states;

20

Agenda Item 3
Page 110

Transition is a major key to successful lifelong learning. In order to achieve successful
transition for all there needs to an open, honest 2 way partnership that is fostered by
mutual respect and professionalism.
Good transition is fundamental to the success of this proposal; all schools are fully
committed to work with all future providers having agreed processes for transfer at
age 11 so that the school journey becomes seamless. In order to achieve this seamless
transition we will ensure that there is:
1.

a shared curriculum, teaching and delivery across all phases

2.

shared support & expertise across phases

3.

the sharing of information as a two way process

4.

the sharing of data, target setting and assessments where there is a mutual
trust of judgements and information

5.

a commitment to joint working over transition period including post transition

6.

leadership of transition that is positively led by senior leaders from all schools

7.

pupil involvement in their planned transition

BEHAVIOUR
Central Partnership for Learning: ‘There could be implications for behaviour management if
Years 5 and 6 created a negative impact on younger children’s learning and initial school
experience’.
Our proposal clearly outlines our view on behaviour. We will aim to reduce the number
of fixed term and permanent exclusions for children in these year groups because
behaviour is very well managed in our school. This is due to established behaviour
management strategies that are successful for the following reasons:
x
x
x
x
x

we have in depth knowledge of our children and families
we make it a priority to build excellent relationships especially with our more
vulnerable families;
we use a wide range of support mechanisms (PSAs, external agencies, play
therapy, small group work, one to one support)
we have a consistent approach to behaviour management that is known and
understood by all
Smaller environment and favourable staffing ratio means that the school can
continue to meet the needs of children and are able to address behaviour

x

issues
The primary approach of mixed ability classes supports children of this age;
they benefit from the stimulus and support of others, and have opportunities to

x

excel in other areas thus boosting their self –esteem
Increasingly more vulnerable children find it difficult to adapt to the disruption

21

Agenda Item 3
Page 111

of a larger school, different organisation and different approaches to teaching
x

and learning
Hawthorn Park currently manages the Jigsaw Extended School Provision for
excluded pupils Y1-6. So sharing of expertise and resources will be enabled

x

within the local community.
There are positive effects on groups that tend to under-perform; vulnerable
learners, low achievers etc. because the school knows these children well,
increasingly children are not ready for transfer at age 9 because their emotional
and maturity needs are not well developed

STANDARDS
Mill Vale Middle School, who are currently consulting to become a primary school
themselves, felt that the proposal document was misleading and that there were
‘inaccuracies’ because we refer to all middle schools rather than a specific middle school.
They felt the inaccuracies lay within the following areas, Y6 data, our comments about
underperforming and exceeding groups of children in Years 5 and 6, recruitment and
SEND.
Central Partnership for Learning: There are no guarantees that by changing age ranges
standards will dramatically improve.
The vast majority of our children transfer to Kings Houghton Middle School. In 2008 over a
quarter of our children achieved Level 4 in reading, writing and mathematics. Three
quarters of our children were meeting the standards expected for their age. Two years
later only 2% of Year 6 pupils achieved Level 4 in English and mathematics. This clearly
shows that transferring at 9 is severely affecting children’s progress in years 5 and 6.
Our Proposal States;
Transferring schools in the middle of a Key Stage often results in lack of curriculum
understanding, continuity, assessment agreement and ownership of key stages. By
providing stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years,
and through our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation
We have the expertise in early intervention, resources and teaching methodologies
to support children who find learning hard.
SCHOOL CAPACITY
Parkfields Middle School: What impact does the reduction of places have on those pupils
who will be denied a place?’
Our proposal clearly states that one of our aims is to address the issue of surplus
places in Houghton Regis. Our school is undersubscribed by 69 places from YR to Y4
and 39 part-time places in nursery.
Our admission for 2012 is currently 25, but this can change dramatically within the
year.
Next year 2012-13 we predict our numbers to be: 125 school, 31 part-time nursery
The LA predictions show a steady decrease in numbers over the next 5 years: 2012:
128 children; 2014: 111 children; 2015: 93 Children, 2016: 89 Children.
We do not envisage that the reduction in places will have a major impact on pupils.
CURRICULUM

22

Agenda Item 3
Page 112

Parkfields Middle School: Will Thornhill Lower be able to provide the same or better
educational facilities that Years 5 and 6 currently get at the middle school?
We don’t believe primary aged children (9-11) need science labs and technology workshops
to achieve well.
Our proposal states;
We believe that curriculum delivery is paramount to enable all pupils to have
opportunities to become successful learners, confident individuals and responsible
citizens. This will be achieved through an engaging, challenging and purposeful
primary curriculum that better meets the learning styles and needs of our pupils.
We acknowledge there will be a significant impact on our schools in the delivery,
resourcing and teaching of some specialist subject areas, and we appreciate that the
curriculum for Years 5 and 6 will need careful planning. We will do this by:
x

Following the national curriculum that sets out clearly the core knowledge and
understanding that all children should be expected to acquire in their primary

x
x

x
x

years
Visiting other good/outstanding primary schools regionally and nationally to
see good practice, planning, teaching & learning and pastoral care
Planning the curriculum for Key Stage 2 and training with other schoools
Working with St Vincent’s Primary School
Sharing good practice, resources, facilities and expertise with partnership
feeder schools

Teaching styles within upper Key Stage 2 will promote opportunities to further develop
learning & thinking skills and independence through an enquiry based and reflective
teaching style which will meet the needs of a range of learners. As a network of
schools we aim to lead on curriculum innovation in years 5 and 6. CPD will focus on
innovative teaching & learning and in giving teachers the confidence to support all
children to progress.

SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY
There were no concerns raised with regard to SEND
..... with his autism and ADHD he has benefitted from Thornhill’s methodology and we hope
that this will remain’ Parent
The school has excellent understanding of children with special needs and I feel that with the
system the way it is not fair to the children and I believe that extending it to 11 years would be
beneficial to both of our children. Parent
I currently have a son in Year 4 with SEN. I have visited a fair few middle schools and they
seem that they cannot really provide for these children…they are very much senior schools.
Parent

23

Agenda Item 3
Page 113

Our Proposal states;
We feel that changing age range will have a positive impact for pupils with SEND and
for vulnerable learners e.g. LAC, building on from the current good practice already
established in our schools.
x
x
x
x
x

We have the expertise in early intervention, resources and teaching
methodologies to support children who find learning hard.
We believe that our professional knowledge of how children learn will enable us
to provide effective intervention from those practitioners who do this best.
We will continue with the good and supportive SEND provision already in place
and pupils will benefit from this for a further two years.
Excellent work with families is already established to support all vulnerable
children, SEND, LAC,
Over the years, we have established excellent relationships with other
professionals in order to support pupils with SEND and their families and will

x
x
x
x

x

x

continue this for upper Key Stage 2 pupils. E.g. local specialist provision
Children with SEND receive very effective support and as a result make good
and outstanding progress in our schools
We aim to maintain and share specialist staff already employed by our schools
to support SEND
We aim to support Gifted & Talented pupils within our schools and to consider
the role played by feeder schools
All schools benefit from highly skilled, experienced SENCo's.
The two way sharing of information at transition will support more positive
outcomes for pupils with SEND and vulnerable learners.
Additional expertise within the Jigsaw centre will support pupils with SEND

PUPIL RESPONSES
Pupils in Years 1, 2, 3 and 4 were overwhelming positive about the possibility of
staying on at Thornhill until they are 11.
Both me and my mum feel I would be safer here until I am a bit older Y4
Most children need more time to get to know more stuff so that they fit in when they move
schools Y4
Our friendship groups won’t be split and we can spend more time with our friends in different
classes Y4

24

Agenda Item 3
Page 114

I enjoy the games activities and our clubs and this will mean that we can carry on doing them
Y3
I would be glad, this is a safe school.Y3
That would be cool; we can stay with our friends and our teachers Y3
This school is fun we do lots of good work Y2
I would be excited to stay here I like the challenge Y2
Yes I want to stay, I don’t want to swop classes all the time Y1
It would be better; we would get to learn more Y1

STAFF RESPONSES
All staff fully support our proposal to extend our age range to 11. We have expertise and
experience of teaching in primary schools and staff are looking forward to developing our
curriculum to meet the needs of the older primary aged child.

Transition to middle school in Year 5 results in our children experiencing a negative impact on
both their social and emotional wellbeing and their academic achievement. SENCo
The children will be in a secure, safe environment which will encourage them to attain the
best results possible. TA
…I feel that age 11 is a more appropriate time for children to change schools. It better
coincides with their physical, emotional and intellectual development and would give them a
better chance of achieving their full potential. SEN TA

Response from NASUWT
Timothy Ramsden welcomed the chance to comment on our proposal but did not wish to
comment on the matter of ‘three, two or indeed one-phase education’. He does raise
questions for the governors about, possible increased workload for staff, staffing levels and
the possibility of job losses in the middle sector. He also believes that the school needs a
‘committed, strong and experienced governing body to support all staff through the period of
change’. The leadership of Thornhill was recently judged to be outstanding by Ofsted, May
2011, governors are strong and very actively involved in the school, they have the expertise
to lead this school through a change of age range.

RESPONSES FROM OTHERS

A parent governor within Central Bedfordshire, while not expressing any particular opinion
about our proposal, shared a couple of positive aspects of transition from lower to middle
school at year 5. ‘However, I wish only to provide you with the positive experiences for pupils
using the three tier system and appreciate that these may not be found across all of Central

25

Agenda Item 3
Page 115

Bedfordshire.’

At nine children are not ready to move to a secondary style of learning, which is what middle
schools are. Years 5 and 6 should remain in a smaller environment with a topic based
curriculum which has a purpose and inherently practical approach. (Parent)
My experience of talking to parents of Y5 children is that they are very happy with the facilities
that can be provided within a larger school. (Support staff KHMS)

I feel it would be a positive step towards improving the standards at Key Stage 2. It should be
recognised that one of the strengths in Central Bedfordshire is that Lower School provision
continues to be good or better. Local Councillor

We would support this proposal and look forward to working with your school KHM S
Governors

I am very pleased to support this school based initiative, especially as it has wide support
among other schools in Houghton Regis Andrew Selous MP

This change is needed to maximise the learning experience for children in Houghton Regis
School Governor/ Local Resident

There is full support for the change St Christopher’s Lower School

We have been delighted with the very positive responses to our proposal. The vast
majority of respondents believe that children in Years 5 and 6 will benefit if they were
to remain at Thornhill Lower School for those additional two years. We believe that we
have the capacity to improve the life chances of all children up to the age of 11 and
beyond by providing them with a curriculum and teaching methodology that is more
suited to their learning needs. We have always been committed to providing the very
best for all children in our care and look forward to working in close partnership with
other schools to ensure that this continues throughout the primary school years of a
child’s life.

RESPONSE TO POINTS RAISED BY THE STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP TEAM (SLT) KINGS
HOUGHTON MIDDLE SCHOOL (KHMS)
We received a response from the above who strongly disagreed with the proposal.
Surprisingly this was in contrast to the response received from the school’s Governing Body
who support the proposal.
They comment on the following;

26

Agenda Item 3
Page 116

The lower schools tell us they do not examine the children using QCA tests but use pupils
assessment or APP. We in turn assess the children using APP and also using QCA.
As lower schools we use a wide range of assessments that includes formal QCA tests, APP
and in school and cross school moderation to ensure accuracy of assessment and future
target setting. These assessments have been validated by Local Authority moderation at
EYFS, Year 2 and Year 4 and the data is passed to King’s Houghton. Therefore the
assumption that pupils from lower schools have never completed formal tests before
attending King’s Houghton is factually untrue.

They also made comments about Luton schools. Our proposal is concerned with improving
outcomes for pupils in Houghton Regis at Year 6 and would be specifically tailored to those
needs.

Reference was made to the “huge leap middle schools need to make with years 5 and 6”.
Primary schools should not need to make this ‘huge leap’ in Years 5 and 6 because pupil
progress will continue across the whole school from EYFS to Year 6 and there will be
consistency in teaching learning and assessment.
Lower schools are ‘not’ sharing maths resources and ideas with us as we have asked, and
we have worked for several years now on the same Literacy scheme with Hawthorn Park and
this has been very successful.
As a result of their Ofsted inspection, (July 2011) the Head teacher contacted us in
September 2011 to enquire about the resources and scheme we used in maths. We
responded promptly and as usual heard nothing again until January 2012 when my deputy
arranged with the Deputy Head at Kings Houghton, for us to mentor a Year 5 teacher. We
have dates in our diary for maths to be observed and for us to support with planning and
teaching in year 5.

Lower schools have not provided us with APP documentation- despite requests. We hope
that will be redressed this year.
All Lower schools provided APP documents to Kings Houghton in 2011, we also send a
wealth of other evidence to substantiate these judgements. Unfortunately Kings Houghton
use the secondary APP documents to assess their primary age pupils, we use the primary
documents.

The system is stable at the moment in Houghton Regis.
The education provision in Houghton Regis is undergoing change in line with the rest of the
country with the setting up of academies free schools and alternative provisions. This is
highlighted by the fact that Kings Houghton are themselves being ‘academised’ by
Greenwood Dale Foundation Trust. The Head teacher in her own newsletter to parents
commented, “The conversion to Academy status will be as a middle school but the Academy

27

Agenda Item 3
Page 117

will adapt in the future to suit the needs of the community.”

The SLT also commented “All families have the choice to send their child to a primary school
by crossing Poynters Road – the Barnfield Academy is closer than the All Saints Academy. If
parents want to they can access the other system.” This is factually incorrect as Barnfield
Academy is a secondary school, not a primary school.

The response also states ‘We also understand that ASA has not managed to get permission
to become a secondary school. If it ‘does have’ this permission there would not be enough
forms of entry for year 7.’ The decision for All Saints to become a secondary school has not
yet been made therefore this statement is factually incorrect. Never the less there are other
options within the surrounding area for the children to change schools at age 11. The Head
teacher has already suggested the children could attend Barnfield Academy and has
expressed her own interest in becoming a secondary school when she applied to CBC. The
response also states, ‘..we can see a way forward if we were to become a secondary
provision’.

The SLT feels the status quo could be maintained through strong partnership working and
continually makes references to close partnership working. They say ‘ As a middle school we
have made massive efforts to work alongside our lower school colleagues. The overwhelming
feeling we get from them is distrust and an unwillingness to work with us’.
All schools in Houghton Regis and All Saints in Dunstable have a very strong working
relationship. We feel that the ‘status quo’ described by the SLT is not good enough for our
children. This is reinforced by the unacceptable results for children at key stage 2.

There are fundamental differences between the SLT and the lower schools in the
understanding of what constitutes good transition; we believe transition should focus on
continuing the learning journey for our pupils through a shared curriculum, assessment and
teaching methodology. Unfortunately the current practices pay insufficient attention to these
crucial areas.

Outcomes of the Staff and Union Representatives Meeting:
11 January 2012

The meeting for staff and union officials was attended by all teaching staff, the majority of
support staff and Sarah Anderson NUT and Norman Wright ATL. Other Union officials sent
their apologies.
Norman Wright ATL.
What would happen to extra children if we reduce our intake?
A. Our current and predicted school capacity was explained to Norman and this clearly
indicates that we would not reach our full capacity until 2019

28

Agenda Item 3
Page 118

Norman Wright ATL
Transfer would cause confusion for parents.
A. Current thinking is that parents should have a choice and from our feedback from
parents we feel that the vast majority will choose to keep their children in a primary setting
until 11 and then transfer to a secondary school. Barnfield Academy currently admits
children at 11 and All Saints Academy has applied to lower its age range to 11.
Sarah Anderson NUT
Will you be looking at some kind of assessment impact on the middle schools?
A. There is great uncertainty about our feeder middle schools. We are not sure which
Academy Kings Houghton will be joining, they did apply to become a secondary school. Mill Vale
has now joined with Barnfield Academy and has plans to convert to a primary school
themselves. These are our two main feeder schools.
Norman Wright ATL
When I was a middle school teacher children enjoyed using our science and DT labs.
A. We don’t need science labs and specialist equipment to meet the standards expected
at age 11. Our curriculum is exciting, it is based around children’s needs and interests and
all children make good progress. We will need to extend our resources in all subjects to
meet the learning needs of years 5 and 6 but we don’t feel they need a secondary
approach of specialist labs. This is something they can look forward to in their secondary
school.

Head Teacher:
Mrs Julia Lawson

Houghton Regis
Bedfordshire
LU5 5PE
Telephone & Fax:
01582 863516

Email:
thornhill@cbc.beds.sch.uk

The Governing Body met on 6 February 2012 to look at the responses and to discuss this
report.
The following Statement, written by the Chair and Vice Chair, was unanimously agreed.

Statement from Thornhill Lower School Governing Body
regarding the Proposal to extend the age range of Thornhill Lower School to 3-11 years.

The Governing Body of Thornhill Lower School consists of a mix of parent governors,
community governors and local council governors.
We (the Governing Body) fully support the proposal to extend the age range at Thornhill
Lower, because we believe the current three tier system is failing the children of Houghton
Regis. The Governing Body plays an active role in the school and we are fully aware of the
excellent achievement and progress made by the children of this school.
Our recent Ofsted inspection judged the Governing Body and SLT ‘Outstanding’, quoting “The

29

Agenda Item 3
Page 119

head teacher and the governing body have demonstrated an unrelenting drive to provide the
best for the pupils.” Unfortunately we do not believe this excellent education and pastoral care
is being continued as our children move on to the next stage of their education.

Our children currently move on to middle school at age 9, in the middle of a Key stage. This is
not a natural point to move on to a new school with different teaching practices, and into a
completely new environment, with unfamiliar routines, teaching staff and peers. Data from
our robust, standardised assessments show, when children leave Thornhill Lower, the
majority are achieving well and have reached or progressed above LA expectations.
However, by the end of Key Stage 2 (Year 6) pupil achievement has fallen dramatically.
National league tables (2011) show Central Bedfordshire Key Stage 2 results are well below
expected national levels. Within Central Bedfordshire, our closest middle school, the school
that the majority of our children move on to, has the lowest percentage of children reaching
the expected level for English and mathematics at the end of Key Stage 2.
We find it unacceptable that our children are being sent on to a school where only 40% of
children reach the national expectations for these core subjects, the lowest percentage in
Central Bedfordshire. Recent data from the Department of Education shows that children who
enter secondary education (Y7) at lower than expected levels, rarely ‘catch up’.
The Governing Body at Thornhill Lower has had numerous discussions with our parents and
the overwhelming response is that they wholeheartedly support this proposal, the only
negative comments being ‘why haven’t we done this sooner’. Also, from our consultation
questionnaire, our parents were unanimous in their support of the proposal.
This proposal is not something the Governing Body has entered into lightly. We realise there
may be testing times ahead, however we are strongly committed to making this change
happen for the benefit of our children, families and ultimately for the wider community. We
believe this change will go a long way towards helping the children of Houghton Regis
develop into well rounded, well- educated children who are equipped, educationally and
emotionally, to move on to the next stage of their educational journey.
We therefore request that this proposal be allowed to proceed to the Statutory Notice Stage.

Signed:

Mrs J Clatworthy, Chair of governor

30

Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Appendix D

THOMAS WHITEHEAD

Page 121

C OF E SCHOOL

Proposal to extend the age range of Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of
England Lower School from 3 to 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary school.
Notice is given in accordance with section 19(3) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006
that The Governing Body of Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of England Lower
School intends to make a prescribed alteration to Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church
of England Lower School, Angels Lane, Houghton Regis, Bedfordshire, LU5 5HH from 1
September 2013.
The proposal is to change the age range of Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of
England Lower School by extending it from a 3 – 9 years lower school to a 3 – 11 years primary
school.
This is to be implemented in two stages:
September 2013 – Year 4 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 5.
September 2014 – Year 5 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 6.
The current capacity of the school is 220 with 44 part time nursery places and when the
proposals are implemented the proposed capacity will be 308 with 44 part time nursery
places.
The current admission number for the school is 44 for each year group with 44 part time
nursery places. The proposed admission number will remain the same. Total capacity for
September 2013 is expected to be 264 with 44 part time places. Total capacity for 2014 is
expected to be 308 with 44 part time nursery places.
This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal can be
obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire Council, Room DC2, Watling
House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds, LU6 1LF. It can also be viewed on the Council’s
website at http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object to or
make comments on the proposal by sending them to The Deputy Chief Executive/Director of
Children’s Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford,
Bedfordshire, SG17 5TQ.

Signed: Mr David Clark
Chairman of the Governors
Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of England Lower School
Publication Date: 20th February 2012
Explanatory notes
It is proposed that extending the age range of Thomas Whitehead VA Church of England Lower School
from 3 to 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary school will provide improved standards in years 5
and 6 and at the end of Key Stage 2. National data shows that changing school may impact negatively
on pupils’ progress and results in a lack of curriculum understanding, continuity and assessment
agreement. This proposal will remove the transition at the end of year 4.
The school can accommodate the additional year groups in 2013, without the need for additional
accommodation. However, there will be a need for additional classroom space in 2014, for which
governors will make application for capital funding.

Agenda Item 3
Page 122

PROPOSALS FOR PRESCRIBED ALTERATIONS OTHER THAN
FOUNDATION PROPOSALS: Information to be included in a complete proposal
Extract of Part 1 of Schedule 3 and Part 1 of Schedule 5 to The School Organisation
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)(England) Regulations 2007 (as amended):
In respect of a Governing Body Proposal: School and governing body’s details
1. The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body are publishing the proposals.
Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of England School, Angels Lane, Houghton
Regis, Bedfordshire LU5 5HH

In respect of an LEA Proposal: School and local education authority details
1. The name, address and category of the school .
N/A
Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation
2. The date on which the proposals are planned to be implemented, and if they are to be implemented in stages, a
description of what is planned for each stage, and the number of stages intended and the dates of each stage.
¾
¾
¾

¾

Implementation to take place in September 2013
Two stages of implementation
September 2013 – Year 4 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 5
September 2014 – Year 5 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 6

We have no plans to reintegrate pupils who are already at other local middle schools but
will take children who have moved to the area from another school or who do not have a
school provision, providing we do not exceed our admission number.

Objections and comments
3. A statement explaining the procedure for making representations, including —
(a) the date prescribed in accordance with paragraph 29 of Schedule 3 (GB proposals)/Schedule 5 (LA
proposals) of The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended), by which objections or comments should be sent to the local education
authority; and
(b) the address of the authority to which objections or comments should be sent.
The Governing Body, Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of England Lower

1

Agenda Item 3
Page 123

School, Angels Lane, Houghton Regis, Bedfordshire LU5 5HH

Alteration description
4. A description of the proposed alteration and in the case of special school proposals, a description of the current
special needs provision.
The age range would be extended to age 11 – Year 6
Lower schools would become primary schools 3- 11 years

School capacity
5.—(1) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 8 , 9 and 12-14 of Schedule 2
(GB proposals)/paragraphs 1-4, 7, 8, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals) to The School Organisation
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), the proposals must also
include —
(a) details of the current capacity of the school and, where the proposals will alter the capacity of the school, the
proposed capacity of the school after the alteration;
x
x

The current capacity of the school is 44 per year group, the capacity number on roll
is 264 including nursery, 220 excluding nursery.
The proposed capacity after the alteration will remain at 44 per year group but
there will be 8 year groups including nursery making our roll number 352, and 308
excluding nursery.

(b) details of the current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant age group, and where this
number is to change, the proposed number of pupils to be admitted in each relevant age group in the first
school year in which the proposals will have been implemented;
x

The current capacity of the school to remain at 44 per year group.

(c) where it is intended that proposals should be implemented in stages, the number of pupils to be admitted to
the school in the first school year in which each stage will have been implemented;
x
x

The first stage of the proposal will mean we will have 264 on roll excluding nursery
(308 including nursery). We will then have N-Yr 5, 3yrs to 10 yrs.
The second stage of the proposal will mean that the number on roll will be 308
excluding nursery (352 including nursery). We will then have n-Yr6, 3yrs to 11yrs.

In the first year of the alteration we will not need a new class as the school will be able to
accommodate this year group. However, two new classes would need to be acquired and

2

Agenda Item 3
Page 124

further expenditure will need to be made. The approximate cost (and this is approximate)
would be around £300,000. I will be sending a copy of this proposal to the Diocese to see
if we are able to gain any support from them if there were monies available.

(d) where the number of pupils in any relevant age group is lower than the indicated admission number for that
relevant age group a statement to this effect and details of the indicated admission number in question.
Maximum projected number on roll
Sept
2013

Sept
2014

Sept
2015

Sept
2016

Sept
2017*

Sept

Sept

2018*

2019*

N

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

YR

44

44

44

44

44

44

44

Y1

41

44

44

44

44

44

44

Y2

44

41

44

44

44

44

44

Y3

36

44

41

44

44

44

44

Y4

44

36

44

41

44

44

44

Y5

34

44

36

44

41

44

44

Y6

40

34

44

36

44

41

44

Total - N

327

331

341

341

349

349

352

(2) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1, 2, 9, 12 and 13 of Schedule 2 (GB
proposals) /paragraphs 1, 2, 8, 18 ands 19 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), a statement of the number of pupils
at the school at the time of the publication of the proposals.
There are currently 236 pupils plus 42 nursery pupils at the school at the time of the
publication of the proposal.

Implementation
6. Where the proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary controlled school a statement as to whether the
proposals are to be implemented by the local education authority or by the governing body, and, if the proposals are
to be implemented by both, a statement as to the extent to which they are to be implemented by each body.
The proposal is to be implemented by the Governing Body. The Governing Body’s
resolution to serve Statutory Notice has been agreed and minuted on Wednesday 8
February.

3

Agenda Item 3
Page 125

Additional Site
7.—(1) A statement as to whether any new or additional site will be required if proposals are implemented and if
so the location of the site if the school is to occupy a split site.
N/A

(2) Where proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary school a statement as to who will provide any additional
site required, together with details of the tenure (freehold or leasehold) on which the site of the school will be held,
and if the site is to be held on a lease, details of the proposed lease.

N/A
Changes in boarding arrangements
8.—(1) Where the proposals are for the introduction or removal of boarding provision, or the alteration of existing
boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4
to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as
amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom it is intended that boarding provision will be made if the proposals are
approved;
N/A

(b) the arrangements for safeguarding the welfare of children at the school;

N/A
(c) the current number of pupils for whom boarding provision can be made and a description of the boarding
provision; and

N/A
(d) except where the proposals are to introduce boarding provision, a description of the existing boarding
provision.

N/A
(2) Where the proposals are for the removal of boarding provisions or an alteration to reduce boarding provision
such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals) to
The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended)
—

4

Agenda Item 3
Page 126

(a) the number of pupils for whom boarding provision will be removed if the proposals are approved; and

N/A
(b) a statement as to the use to which the former boarding accommodation will be put if the proposals are
approved.

N/a
Transfer to new site
9. Where the proposals are to transfer a school to a new site the following information—
(a) the location of the proposed site (including details of whether the school is to occupy a single or split site),
and including where appropriate the postal address;

N/A
(b) the distance between the proposed and current site;

N/A
(c) the reason for the choice of proposed site;

N/A
(d) the accessibility of the proposed site or sites;

N/A
(e) the proposed arrangements for transport of pupils to the school on its new site; and

N/A
(f) a statement about other sustainable transport alternatives where pupils are not using transport provided,
and how car use in the school area will be discouraged.

N/A

5

Agenda Item 3
Page 127

Objectives
10. The objectives of the proposals.

As a group of school leaders we have a shared ambitious vision for our schools and the
community that has driven this proposal forward.

Principles

The need to raise standards and improve outcomes for young people
¾
¾

¾

¾

¾

¾
¾

Local data shows that children achieve well in lower schools from a starting point
which is well below national levels

Local data indicates that standards achieved and progress made at the end of year
4 are good but this progress has been impeded due to transition, this is reflected in
standards at the end of Key Stage 2 (refer to LA and National data)

At 16 and 18 pupils are not achieving as well as they should when compared
Nationally. While attainment improves by Yr 8, progress is again disrupted by
transition in the middle of the Key Stage. This is reflected in depressed outcomes
achieved by young people at 16 and beyond.( National data reflects this)

The demography of Houghton Regis is deteriorating and more children and
families are falling into the Acorn category of ‘Hard Pressed’ which means that
increasingly parents and children require more support and nurture.

As a result of being “Hard Pressed” more children are behind in their PSE
development at age 9. This is evidenced by the very low PSED scores recorded on
entry to the Foundation Stage. They remain immature and emotionally behind and
for a large majority, the transition at age 9 is too challenging. They are ill-equipped
to move to a larger setting based on a secondary model of teaching and learning.

Increasingly, as professionals, we believe our children would benefit from the
stability of a primary school environment, its organisation and its ethos.

We believe that primary schools will also improve behaviour, supporting pupils for
whom coping in years 5 and 6 with the changes associated with transition, may put
them at risk of exclusion.

To ensure there is continuity of provision across the 0-19 age range so there is a ‘one
phase’ approach to learning
¾

The need for transition between each tier, particularly in the middle of Key Stages,
often results in lack of curriculum understanding, continuity, assessment
agreement and ownership of key stages

6

Agenda Item 3
Page 128

¾
¾
¾

¾

Continuity of provision will ensure opportunities to share expertise such as ICT, PE
etc and to share practice

Continuity of provision will provide curriculum continuity avoiding repetition and
curriculum conflict

Primary/secondary provision will reduce the number of times a child needs to move
schools, it also makes transition and curriculum continuity easier because it sits at
the end of a key stage, the natural transition for the vast majority of schools in the
country

A transfer at age 11 allows better for curriculum continuity and for the sharing and
cross phase curriculum that builds on the successes of the earlier years.

Schools should be based around communities and their needs
¾

¾
¾

¾

By maintaining and extending lower school provision to 11 and developing
partnerships to good secondary education to 19, schools will be better served to
meet this principle:

by maintaining the current excellent relationships between our schools and their
families

by providing appropriately for the needs of the primary child through a primary
organisation and curriculum delivery, through an familiar environment that knows
them and their families well and then continuing this into the secondary phase as a
community of schools.

by better meeting the needs of parents and families in Year 5 and 6 through the
close working relationships that have been nurtured over the years.

That as far as possible services should be delivered locally
¾
¾
¾
¾

Establish a shared vision for schools in Houghton Regis with the focus being to
achieve the very best outcomes for our children and their families

Meet the distinctive needs of the community in Houghton Regis by schools already
known and trusted to do so.

Secure shared resources such as; PSA’s, education psychologists, speech &
language support, neighbourhood services etc.

Provide a range of collaborative opportunities that will ensure continuity of
provision for the whole child and for their families

7

Agenda Item 3
Page 129

New models of leadership and governance for schools should be considered
¾
¾
¾

Work collectively in partnership between primary and secondary phases, enabling
staffing flexibility across schools

Address shortages of governors and to explore better sharing of expertise and
resources in this field

Secure ‘Best Value’ by sharing suppliers, engaging in joint training and identifying
shared priorities for school improvement.

That vision should reflect recent current reform

¾
¾

the curriculum is based on a primary/secondary model in line with the rest of the
country

current primary and secondary curriculum and assessment initiatives can be
addressed effectively

Objectives

1. To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11, 16
and 18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.

2. To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are
underperforming and exceeding in years 5 and 6.

3. To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis

4. To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years,
through our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation

5. To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning
and teaching on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints Academy
in Dunstable
6. To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith
7. To provide a seamless faith based provision from 3-18 mirroring the catholic model.
8. To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs
9. To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6
10. To improve transition for children on transfer,

8

Agenda Item 3
Page 130

To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

Effect on school standards and school improvement
Leadership and Management
All schools within this partnership have strong and confident leadership and the
professional capacity and skills to drive forward the proposed changes through:
x

x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Shared governor meetings that focus more strongly on strategic direction and to
set high expectations for our schools
Exploring more flexible approaches to school governance through sharing
expertise
Shared senior leadership that allows us to work together to agree a vision for our
area, raise standards and share targets for school and community improvement
Collaborative work on curriculum initiatives for upper KS2, building on the good
practice that already exists in years 3 and 4
Sharing the expertise and experience of upper key stage 2 that all ready exists
within our lower schools,
Working in partnership with St Vincent’s, who have already extended their age
range to 11.
Sharing a range of bought in services, we already share a SIP and together have
formulated a SEF to be used from 2012
Continuing to lead and manage a range of shared extended services ( see section
9)

We also believe that a through primary school provides greater career development
opportunities for new and existing staff than lower schools, and may be more attractive to
new applicants for new posts.
Curriculum
We believe that curriculum delivery is paramount to enable all pupils to have opportunities
to become successful learners, confident individuals and responsible citizens. This will be
achieved through an engaging, challenging and purposeful primary curriculum that better
meets the learning styles and needs of our pupils. and we will address this in the following
ways:
We acknowledge there will be a significant impact on our schools in the delivery,
resourcing and teaching of some specialist subject areas, and we appreciate that the
curriculum for Years 5 and 6 will need careful planning. We will do this by:
x

Following the national curriculum that sets out clearly the core knowledge and
understanding that all children should be expected to acquire in their primary years

9

Agenda Item 3
Page 131

¾

Visits to other good/outstanding primary provision regionally and nationally to see
good practice, planning, teaching & learning and pastoral care

¾
¾
¾
¾

Joint training and curriculum planning for Key Stage 2
Working with St Vincent’s Primary School
Curriculum leaders working together
Sharing good practice, resources, facilities and expertise with partnership feeder
schools

Teaching styles within upper Key Stage 2 will promote opportunities to further develop
learning & thinking skills and independence through an enquiry based and reflective
teaching style which will meet the needs of a range of learners. As a network of schools we
aim to lead on curriculum innovation in years 5 and 6. CPD will focus on innovative
teaching & learning and in giving teachers the confidence to support all children to
progress.

We will continue to update our own knowledge and understanding of assessment in line
with new government legislation. We already benefit from the expertise of two established
Key Stage 2 supervising markers who have up to date experience and their knowledge of
expectations at the end of Key Stage 2 in English and Maths and this is shared across the
schools. (Head teachers of Hawthorn Park Lower and Tithe Farm Lower)

Target setting and monitoring will remain and continue as a whole school approach as this
has already proved successful. We will continue our joint moderations and would moderate
with other providers of Year 5 and 6. We will continue to build upon high standards of APP
and AfL to assess learning and meet individual needs through successful interventions.
Pupils will be involved in their own self assessment of progress and setting learning goals
for the future.

All our schools have a strong commitment to PSHCE and keeping children safe. We
recognise the different challenges faced by upper KS 2 pupils and have strong links to local
initiatives which will support their PSHE development e.g. SRE, Mental health.

Parents and community
Ensuring that this school system works for our families by promoting the confidence of our
parents and fully engaging with them and the community through:

10

Agenda Item 3
Page 132

x
x
x
x

x

x

Ensuring that this school system works for our families
Making ourselves accountable to our stakeholders
Knowledge of families and the community mean our schools are well placed to
address parental concerns
Continuing to seek views and acting on this feedback at a wider community level
Bringing together all the services for children in our local area so that all benefit
Ensuring fair access to all schools for every child
Continuing the current very good practice that already exists within our school
e.g. Parent/carer workshops on curriculum matters, Open door policy which
encourages good communication and supporting children at home

Our initial research shows that parents are in favour of primary schooling this clearly
supports a school system shaped by parents enabling our Houghton Regis Schools to
deliver excellence and equity.

Provide increased confidence within the local community that the education system is
geared to local need and reflects parental wishes.
Behaviour
Evidence from Ofsted reports, SIP reports and LA exclusion data show that behaviour is
very well managed in our schools. This is due to established behaviour management
strategies that are successful for the following reasons:
¾
¾

we have in depth knowledge of our children and families
we make it a priority to build excellent relationships especially with our more
vulnerable families;

¾

we use a wide range of support mechanisms (PSAs, external agencies, play
therapy, small group work)

¾

we have a consistent approach to behaviour management that is known and
understood by all

1. Positive effects on groups that tend to under perform; vulnerable learners, low
achievers etc. because the school knows these children well, increasingly children are
not ready for transfer at age 9 because their emotional and maturity needs are not well

11

Agenda Item 3
Page 133

developed
2. Smaller environment and favourable staffing ratio means that the school can continue
to meet the needs of children, able to address behaviour management
3. The primary approach of mixed ability classes supports children of this age; they
benefit from the stimulus and support of others, and have opportunities to excel in
other areas thus boosting their self –esteem
4. Increasingly more vulnerable children find it difficult to adapt to the disruption of a
larger school, different organisation and different approaches to teaching and learning
5. Hawthorn Park currently manages the Jigsaw Extended School Provision for excluded
pupils Y1-6. So sharing of expertise and resources will be enabled within the local
community.

Transition
Transition is a major key to successful lifelong learning. In order to achieve successful
transition for all there needs to an open, honest 2 way partnership that is fostered by
mutual respect and professionalism.
Good transition is fundamental to the success of this proposal; all schools are fully
committed to work with all future providers having agreed processes for transfer at age 11
so that the school journey becomes seamless. In order to achieve this seamless transition
we will ensure that there is :
1. a shared curriculum, teaching and delivery across all phases
2. shared support & expertise across phases
3. the sharing of information as a 2 way process
4. the sharing of data, target setting and assessments where there is a mutual trust of
judgements and information
5. a commitment to joint working over transition period including post transition
6. leadership of transition that is positively led by senior leaders from all schools
7. pupil involvement in their planned transition

Special Educational Needs

We feel that changing age range will have a positive impact for pupils with SEND
and for vulnerable learners e.g. LAC, building on from the current good practice
already established in our schools.

12

Agenda Item 3
Page 134

¾

We have the expertise in early intervention, resources and teaching
methodologies to support children who find learning hard.

¾

We believe that our professional knowledge of how children learn will enable
us to provide effective intervention from those practitioners who do this best.

¾

We will continue with the good and supportive SEND provision already in
place and pupils will benefit from this for a further two years.

¾

Excellent work with families is already established to support all vulnerable
children, SEND, LAC,

¾

Over the years, we have established excellent relationships with other
professionals in order to support pupils with SEND and their families and will
continue this for upper Key Stage 2 pupils, e.g. local specialist provision

¾

Children with SEND receive very effective support and as a result make good
and outstanding progress in our schools

¾

We aim to maintain and share specialist staff already employed by our
schools to support SEND

¾

We aim to support Gifted & Talented pupils within our schools and to consider
the role played by feeder schools

¾

¾

All schools benefit from highly skilled, experienced SENCos.
The two way sharing of information at transition will support more positive
outcomes for pupils with SEND and vulnerable learners.

¾

Additional expertise within the Jigsaw centre will support pupils with SEND

Extended Services
Current extended school provision is run on an individual school basis. Shared services
include Parent Support Assistants who are jointly funded by all our schools and shared
wrap around care between Houghton Regis Lower and Thomas Whitehead Voluntary
Aided Church of England Lower School.
This proposal will give the opportunity for joint extended school provision reflecting the
needs of the community and the aspirations of school leaders.
Schools will work in partnership to provide a range of extended services
¾

Parent Support Assistants - their work has been invaluable in supporting our
community

¾

Parenting support offer courses involving parenting e.g. PPP, Strengthening
Families

¾
¾

Transition support for pupils, schools and families
Shared training for parents and staff

13

Agenda Item 3
Page 135

¾
¾

¾
¾
¾

¾

¾

¾
¾

Use of combined clubs and a range of After School activities
Promotion of inter school sport and other activities for the community
Commitment to wrap around care
Holiday activities
Workshops to support adult learning and encourage family learning
Support for vulnerable families and pupils e.g. Siblings group and Young Carers
Support for families in areas such as relationships, health and safety
Shared usage of extended outside services
Future aspiration for more hands on input into Neighbourhood Centres

Consultation
11. Evidence of the consultation before the proposals were published including—
(a) a list of persons who were consulted;
(b) minutes of all public consultation meetings;
(c) the views of the persons consulted;
(d) a statement to the effect that all applicable statutory requirements in relation to the proposals to consult
were complied with; and
(e) copies of all consultation documents and a statement on how these documents were made available.
Please see Appendix A, B and C

Project costs
12. A statement of the estimated total capital cost of the proposals and the breakdown of the costs that are to be
met by the governing body, the local education authority, and any other party.
x
x
x

We have spoken to the Diocese who visited the school in the summer term. To
build two brick built classrooms a rough figure was mentioned as £300,000 to
£350,000. This is not a builder’s estimate.
The school would need financial support and we will be sending a copy of this
proposal to the Diocese but are unsure if they can give their support at this stage
due to them not knowing what their budget will be for 2013/2014..
We would not need new classes in the first year of the change but for 2014 we
would need future expenditure.

13. A copy of confirmation from the Secretary of State, local education authority and the Learning and Skills
Council for England (as the case may be) that funds will be made available (including costs to cover any necessary
site purchase).

14

Agenda Item 3
Page 136

N/A

Age range
14. Where the proposals relate to a change in age range, the current age range for the school.
3 years to 9 years

Early years provision
15. Where the proposals are to alter the lower age limit of a mainstream school so that it provides for pupils aged
between 2 and 5—
(a) details of the early years provision, including the number of full-time and part-time pupils, the number and
length of sessions in each week, and the services for disabled children that will be offered;
N/A

(b) how the school will integrate the early years provision with childcare services and how the proposals are
consistent with the integration of early years provision for childcare;

N/A
(c) evidence of parental demand for additional provision of early years provision;

N/A
(d) assessment of capacity, quality and sustainability of provision in schools and in establishments other than
schools who deliver the Early Years Foundation Stage within 3 miles of the school; and

N/A
(e) reasons why such schools and establishments who have spare capacity cannot make provision for any
forecast increase in the number of such provision.
N/A

Changes to sixth form provision
16. (a) Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school provides sixth form
education or additional sixth form education, a statement of how the proposals will—
(i) improve the educational or training achievements;

15

Agenda Item 3
Page 137

(ii) increase participation in education or training; and
(iii) expand the range of educational or training opportunities
for 16-19 year olds in the area;
N/A

(b) A statement as to how the new places will fit within the 16-19 organisation in an area;

N/A

(c) Evidence —
(i) of the local collaboration in drawing up the proposals; and
(ii) that the proposals are likely to lead to higher standards and better progression at the school;

N/A

(d) The proposed number of sixth form places to be provided.
N/A

17. Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school ceases to provide sixth
form education, a statement of the effect on the supply of 16-19 places in the area.
N/A

Special educational needs
18. Where the proposals are to establish or change provision for special educational needs—
(a) a description of the proposed types of learning difficulties in respect of which education will be provided and,
where provision for special educational needs already exists, the current type of provision;

N/A
(b) any additional specialist features will be provided;

16

Agenda Item 3
Page 138

N/A
(c) the proposed numbers of pupils for which the provision is to be made;
N/A

(d) details of how the provision will be funded;

N/A
(e) a statement as to whether the education will be provided for children with special educational needs who are
not registered pupils at the school to which the proposals relate;
N/A

(f) a statement as to whether the expenses of the provision will be met from the school’s delegated budget;
N/A

(g) the location of the provision if it is not to be established on the existing site of the school;
N/A

(h) where the provision will replace existing educational provision for children with special educational needs, a
statement as to how the local education authority believes that the new provision is likely to lead to
improvement in the standard, quality and range of the educational provision for such children; and
N/A

(i) the number of places reserved for children with special educational needs, and where this number is to
change, the proposed number of such places.

N/A

19. Where the proposals are to discontinue provision for special educational needs—
(a) details of alternative provision for pupils for whom the provision is currently made;

17

Agenda Item 3
Page 139

N/A

(b) details of the number of pupils for whom provision is made that is recognised by the local education
authority as reserved for children with special educational needs during each of the 4 school years
preceding the current school year;
N/A

(c) details of provision made outside the area of the local education authority for pupils whose needs will not be
able to be met in the area of the authority as a result of the discontinuance of the provision; and

N/A
(d) a statement as to how the proposer believes that the proposals are likely to lead to improvement in the
standard, quality and range of the educational provision for such children.

N/A

20. Where the proposals will lead to alternative provision for children with special educational needs, as a result of
the establishment, alteration or discontinuance of existing provision, the specific educational benefits that will flow
from the proposals in terms of—
(a) improved access to education and associated services including the curriculum, wider school activities,
facilities and equipment with reference to the local education authority’s Accessibility Strategy;
(b) improved access to specialist staff, both educational and other professionals, including any external support
and outreach services;
(c) improved access to suitable accommodation; and
(d) improved supply of suitable places.

N/A
Sex of pupils
21. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to provide that a school which was an establishment which
admitted pupils of one sex only becomes an establishment which admits pupils of both sexes—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the provision of single sexeducation in the area;
N/A

(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education; and

18

Agenda Item 3
Page 140

N/A
(c) details of any transitional period which the body making the proposals wishes specified in a transitional
exemption order (within the meaning of section 27 of the Sex Discrimination Act 1975).
N/A

22. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to a school to provide that a school which was an
establishment which admitted pupils of both sexes becomes an establishment which admits pupils of one sex only—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the provision of single-sex
education in the area; and
N/A

(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education.

N/A
Extended services
23. If the proposed alterations affect the provision of the school’s extended services, details of the current
extended services the school is offering and details of any proposed change as a result of the alterations.
N/A

Need or demand for additional places
24. If the proposals involve adding places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the need or demand for the particular places in the area;
Please see Consultation Document Appendix A and B
(b) where the school has a religious character, a statement and supporting evidence of the demand in the area
for education in accordance with the tenets of the religion or religious denomination;
The Governing Body of Thomas Whitehead felt it was important to realise our vision of a
seamless transition where children progress in their learning within a Christian
environment. We believe that children in Houghton Regis should have the same choice as
Roman Catholic families who can already choose to send their children to a primary school
until the age of 11. Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of England Lower School

19

Agenda Item 3
Page 141

should become a full primary school, shaped by Christian principles, to ensure each child is
provided with a continuous and holistic faith based education structured around stability,
consistency and continuity of learning. The impact of Christian values on pupils and the
school community is a strength and this would continue to be a strength if Thomas
Whitehead was to increase its age range. ‘There is a great sense of excitement at the
opportunities for development of this school, where values impact on the personal and
academic progress of pupils.’ (SIAS Inspection Report 2011)
Parents have said that we should have the same choice as the catholic families and have a
Church of England Primary School that mirrors that catholic model.

The Resolution at the meeting of the Parochial Church Council of Houghton Regis of 31
January 2012 was that the PCC were fully supporting of the proposal for Thomas
Whitehead School becoming a ‘through primary’ and look forward to the opportunities this
may further for the Church’s school and worshipping community working together.’ This
was carried unanimously.

(c) where the school adheres to a particular philosophy, evidence of the demand for education in accordance
with the philosophy in question and any associated change to the admission arrangements for the school.
Please see the Objectives of our proposal and Appendix A for evidence.

25. If the proposals involve removing places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the reasons for the removal, including an assessment of the impact
on parental choice; and
N/A

(b) a statement on the local capacity to accommodate displaced pupils.
N/A

Expansion of successful and popular schools
25A. (1) Proposals must include a statement of whether the proposer considers that the presumption for the
expansion of successful and popular schools should apply, and where the governing body consider the presumption
applies, evidence to support this.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to expansion proposals in respect of primary and secondary schools, (except for
grammar schools), i.e. falling within:
(a) (for proposals published by the governing body) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to Schedule 2 or paragraph 12 of
Part 2 to Schedule 2;

20

Agenda Item 3
Page 142

(b) (for proposals published by the LA) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to Schedule 4 or 18 of Part 4 to Schedule 4
of the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as
amended).

N/A

21

Agenda Item 3
Page 143

Appendix A
Angels Lane, Houghton Regis, Bedfordshire LU5 5HH Tel: 01582 865466 Fax: 01582 861958
Email: thomaswhitehead@cbc.beds.sch.uk Website: www.thomaswhitehead.co.uk

THOMAS WHITEHEAD
C OF E LOWER SCHOOL
Head teacher:
Mrs Elaine Fairclough
Deputy Head teacher: Mrs Stephanie Jones

REPORT ON THE CONSULTATION CONDUCTED WITH REGARD TO A PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE UPPER AGE
RANGE OF THOMAS WHITEHEAD VOLUNTARY AIDED CHURCH OF ENGLAND LOWER SCHOOL, ANGELS
LANE, HOUGHTON REGIS, BEDFORDSHIRE, LU5 5HH FROM 3 – 9 YEARS TO 3 – 11 YEARS
In June 2010 following many numerous discussions local Head teachers representing all the schools in Houghton Regis
met together to discuss the future of education for our children and the impact a two tier model would have on the
community. We proposed an agreed education vision for Houghton Regis in which we would provide primary and
secondary education for all children within the Houghton Regis Area.

The Governing Body of Thomas Whitehead felt it was important to realise our vision of a seamless transition where
children progress in their learning within a Christian environment. We believe that children in Houghton Regis should
have the same choice as Roman Catholic families who can already choose to send their children to a primary school until
the age of 11.
The importance of providing stability for our children in our area was paramount to our discussions.
During the consultation period the Governors and School management have received a wide and encouraging range of
predominantly positive comments.

PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

The purpose of this document is to provide information and report on the informal and formal consultation relating to the
proposal to extend the upper age range of Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to
create a full primary school.
OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11, 16 and 18; Y6 data has been
below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.

22

Agenda Item 3
Page 144

x
x

To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are underperforming and exceeding in years 5
and 6.

x

To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis.

x

teaching and learning organisation.

x

11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints Academy, (also in the church parish of Houghton Regis).

x

To provide a seamless faith based provision from 3-18 mirroring the Roman Catholic model.

x

children from all faiths and none, shaped by Christian principles.

x

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through our ethos, curriculum,

To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning and teaching on transfer at age

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith

To ensure that Thomas Whitehead will continue to provide a good education for all children who attend, open to

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs

x

and the whole of Key Stage 2, i.e. not the break in the Key Stage that the Middle School creates.

x

To provide a continuous and holistically-planned primary education experience from Foundation, Key Stage One

To improve transition for children on transfer,
To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

PROCESS OF CONSULTATION
Our Consultation has been extensive and has consisted of a small scale questionnaire in the summer term of 2011, a
parents’ evening poll in the autumn term 2011, an Open Meeting in January 2012 and in conjunction with the other
Houghton Regis Lower Schools our Consultation Document. This outlined our joint proposal to extend the upper age
range to create a primary school. Once agreed by the Head teachers and Governing bodies distributed to all our
stakeholders in December 2011.

These stakeholders were:
Parents/guardians of children currently attending Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School
The Diocese of St Albans
The Vicar for Houghton Regis (also ex officio Governor of Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School)
The Chair of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The Head teacher of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)
The principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire County Councillors
Members of Parliament for Central Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre-school provision in Houghton Regis,
Pre-school provision in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff

23

Agenda Item 3
Page 145

Copies also available in Houghton Regis Library and Doctors’ Surgery

The consultation document was also available on the Central Bedfordshire Learning Portal and publicised in Central
Essentials.

The consultation document contained a questionnaire which would provide us with stakeholder views on the proposal in
particular about
x
x

The proposed changes to the age range i.e. from 3 to 9 to 3 to 11.
The timescale plan of the age change, i.e. from September 2013.

On 6 December the consultation document was distributed to the community with a closing date of 4 February.
Questionnaires were collated and analysed by members of the Governing Body and the Head teacher.

Within the consultation process Open Meetings were held in each school with Thomas Whitehead holding two meetings
on Monday 23 January. One meeting was for staff and union representatives between 4pm to 5pm followed by a public
meeting at 6pm. The Chair of Governors opened the 6 pm meeting explaining the Governing Body’s proposal to change
the age range of Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School. Each lower school Head teacher attended and supported
each school’s proposal. All Saints Academy was represented at each meeting by a group of staff including the Head
teacher. Amongst the attendees were parents, staff, Town Councillors, Director for Education from the Diocese and the
Schools Building Officer also from the Diocese, a representative from the Local Authority and governors from other
schools covering all phases.
RESPONSES TO INFORMAL CONSULTATION
Please see Appendix 1 – Raw Data Collected From the Consultation Document.
Of the 284 copies of the consultation document sent out we received 77 responses which is a 27% response rate. Over
92% of respondents were in agreement with the proposal and 87% were in agreement with the timescales. 5% of
respondents disagreed with the proposal on a variety of grounds, One of these responses came from a Middle School
Head teacher, (although the Governing Body of the same school were in agreement), one from a parent, one from
grandparents and one from a local councillor. Of the four respondents who were in disagreement with the proposed
timescales, two of them stated that they would have preferred an earlier date of 2012 which reflects a positive response.
A full set of responses is available in the school office.
What some parents said…….
x

As the parent of a child in year 4, I feel it a shame that this could not have been done sooner. I am concerned
th

x

about how my son will cope with the move to Middle School just a few weeks after his 9 birthday.

x

children.

I believe the further two years in primary school will ensure good educational, social and emotional stability for the

Children learn better in known surroundings, moving too much causes emotional stress which causes low self
esteem and in most cases a drastic change of character. My husband and I who have a year 2 child and a
nursery child are in full support of the proposed changes.

24

Agenda Item 3
Page 146

x

The timescale is perfect for me as my daughter will be going from Year 4 to Year 5 in 2013 and I would love for

x

her to stay at Thomas Whitehead until she is 11.

x

have a child in Year 3 and really hope it all goes through so he can remain at Thomas Whitehead

x

I think that this is a great idea. Thomas Whitehead is a great school and this can only benefit the pupils

x

happening next.

x

I am all for the changes. I have a child in Year 7 and saw the transition in Year 4/5 did disrupt her learning. I also

Very good and common sense proposal!!! The Catholic model is a good one to follow.

Would love our daughter to be in one school longer (especially TW). More time to grow up and understand what’s

Personally I have considered moving out of the area next year to somewhere that has primary schools for all 3 of
my children. I myself went to a primary school until I was 11 (I am from a different county) and changing schools
at 11 was nerve racking. To do it at 9 must be tough.

Thomas Whitehead C of E School was represented at all Open Meetings, i.e. Hawthorn Park Lower, Tithe Farm Lower
and Thornhill Lower as well as the one held at All Saints Academy. The Heads of all these schools work closely together
and this was reflected at the meetings. The response to the consultation at these meetings was unanimously in favour of
the Lower Schools progressing to two tier and the support of All Saints Academy was evident at all meetings. Parents
and Councillors were vocal in their support for the change and the Representative from the Diocese noted ‘the
overwhelming support amongst parents and other stakeholders for the change’. (Letter of support from the Diocese dated
2 February 2012).
RESPONSES TO POINTS RAISED THROUGHOUT THE CONSULTATION
All the points raised at the open meeting were positive. Parents raised the concern that the school would not be able to
progress with the Proposal sooner in order to accommodate the current Year 4. It was explained at the meeting by the
local authority that there was a process we had to go through with a set time line in accordance with the DfE Decision
Makers Guidance for making alterations to the upper and lower age limit to a voluntary aided school. This point was also
raised from two stakeholders in the comments on the questionnaire.

A question was raised about supporting children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)
adequately. We are confident that the changing of the age range will have a positive impact for pupils with SEND
for the reasons outlined below:
x

x
x
x
x

We have the expertise in early intervention, resources and teaching methodologies to support children who find
learning hard.
We believe that our professional knowledge of how children learn will enable us to provide effective intervention
from those practitioners who do this best.
We will continue with the good and supportive SEND provision already in place and pupils will benefit from this for
a further two years.
Children with SEND receive very effective support and as a result make good and outstanding progress in our
schools
We aim to support Gifted & Talented pupils within our schools and to consider the role played by feeder schools

25

Agenda Item 3
Page 147

x

x

All schools benefit from highly skilled, experienced Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Co-ordinator.
Additional expertise from the Jigsaw Centre, based at Hawthorn Park, will support pupils with SEND

The same stakeholder commented that the school would not have the capacity for extra children.
The current capacity of Thomas Whitehead Lower School is 264 children from Year R – Year 4 and 44 part time nursery
places. The proposed capacity is 308 children from Year R – Year 6 and 44 part time nursery places and 44 Year R
places.
The school currently has enough available classrooms to cater for the first stage of the proposed extended upper age
range. From September 2014 the school would need two new classrooms in that year. However, we would like this
consultation to progress using existing physical accommodation in the first instance. We have discussed our future needs
with the Diocese who will review them annually on a priority basis against the funding available for VA schools.
Any buildings required for these changes would be subject to the normal planning permission process, which would
include consulting local residents, the Highways Agency and other interested parties. We would only consider this if
Government Capital Rules Permit.
The same stakeholder asked ‘ will children with disabilities be segregated as per government ruling by bussing
them to Hawthorn Park? Picking them out making them different from their peers.
As a lower school we do not exclude children with SEND. Children are not segregated and as a values school we
certainly to not ‘pick them out making them different from their peers.’ Every child is treated and supported in the best
way possible. We are able to access expertise from the Jigsaw Centre based at Hawthorn Park. As a primary school
we would continue to meet the needs of our children in the best possible way and we will act within the law and Code of
Practice at all times.

We received a response from the Senior Leadership (SLT) Team at King’s Houghton Middle School who strongly
disagreed with the proposal
This was in direct contrast to the response received from the Governing Body of Kings Houghton Middle School which
was in support of the proposal.

We do not see this as a response to the consultation proposal but rather as a look at present issues that our consultation
addresses. Particularly the SLT challenged the methodologies used in the lower schools to assess and monitor children’s
progress. As lower schools we use a wide range of assessments that includes formal QCA tests, APP and in school and
cross school moderation to ensure accuracy of assessment and future target setting. These assessments have been
validated by Local Authority through moderation at Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS), end of Key Stage 1 (Year 2)
and the end of Year 4 and the data is passed to King’s Houghton. Therefore the assumption that pupils from lower
schools have never completed formal tests before attending King’s Houghton is factually untrue. Our proposal is to
improve outcomes for pupils in Houghton Regis at Year 6 and our assessment methodology would be tailored to those
needs. We are using appropriate and well understood techniques

The SLT refers to the “huge leap middle schools need to make with years 5 and 6”

26

Agenda Item 3
Page 148

As a primary school there should not need to be a huge leap in Years 5 and 6 as pupil progress will be more even across
the whole school from the Early Years Foundation Stage to Year 6 due to consistency of teaching and learning and
assessment. We know the children well and will have already been putting in any intervention that would be needed. The
children will progress through Key Stage 2 without any disruption to their learning.

As a result of Kings Houghton Middle School’s recent OFSTED inspection they made an early enquiry about the
resources and scheme we used in maths this was at a time when we had just had our OFSTED inspection and were
focusing on development areas for our school. However the Deputy Heads did meet and discussion took place about
arranging visits to each other’s schools to see teaching styles. We thought this was a good idea and are expecting it to
happen.

I was not aware that Kings Houghton requested APP documents in 2011 but I believe the other lower schools may have
provided these. These are primary documents and not secondary documents as used by Kings Houghton.

The education provision in Houghton Regis is undergoing change in line with the rest of the country with the setting up of
academies free schools and alternative provisions. This is highlighted by the fact that Kings Houghton themselves are
being academised by Greenwood Dale Foundation Trust. The SLY in a newsletter to parents commented, “The
conversion to Academy status will be as a middle school but the Academy will adapt in the future to suit the needs of the
community.”
The SLT commented that “All families have the choice to send their child to a primary school by crossing
Poynters Road – the Barnfield Academy is closer than the All Saints Academy. If parents want to they can access
the other system.”
This is factually incorrect as Barnfield Academy is a secondary school not a Primary school and All Saints Academy is
closer to Thomas Whitehead. However, parents would have that choice for Year 7 to move their children to Barnfield
Academy as a preferred Secondary School.

The SLT says that All Saints Academy ‘has not managed to get permission to become a secondary school.’
We believe that All Saints are awaiting a decision on their proposal . This decision has not yet been made and this
statement is therefore factually incorrect. The SLT expressed their wish to become a secondary provision and indeed
made an application to CBC but this was, at the time, turned down.
The SLT feels the status quo could be maintained through strong partnership working.
As lower schools we do not feel the status quo is good enough for our children which is emphasised by the below the floor
key stage 2 results for the last 3 years.

There are fundamental differences between the SLT and the lower schools in the understanding of what constitutes good
transition; we believe transition should focus on continuing the learning journey for our pupils through a shared curriculum,
assessment and teaching methodology. If the children were to complete Key Stage 2 in a primary school they would have
the continuity and skills for progression developed in a continuous way in an environment that they know taught by
primary school teachers.

27

Agenda Item 3
Page 149

REVISIT AND REVIEW OF ORIGINAL PROPOSAL IN THE LIGHT OF THE CONSULTATION

In light of the information received from the Consultation we believe that progressing with our proposal to extend the age
range at Thomas Whitehead Lower to become a primary school is the way forward for our families. The vast majority of
parents are clearly in favour of the change and believe that their children will continue to make good progress if they
remained at Thomas Whitehead School to complete Key Stage 2. Parents also feel that by completing their primary
education at one school their children will benefit both emotionally and academically. The transition to secondary school
therefore should be smoother and their learning less likely to suffer from interruption.

The Proposal clearly outlines how the change of age range will be managed and strongly promotes the benefits for our
children and community of Thomas Whitehead C of E School becoming a primary school. The school has the capacity to
enable this to happen. The strategies we use to support children with special educational needs and disabilities are
effective as we have the expertise and knowledge to support these children because of our primary based training and
our drive to ensure that every child reaches his/her full potential. Our transition work will continue to ensure that there is a
support network for children moving on to their next school. We will work closely with the receiving school regardless of
whether it is a middle or secondary school. Working together with other schools is vital in order to embrace new ideas,
practices and partnerships and this is an exciting time for lower schools in Houghton Regis. Schools should be based
around communities and their needs and comments at the Open Meeting indicate clearly that parents need this kind of
support beyond the time their children finish in Year 4. We work very closely with our neighbouring schools and Parent
Support workers in continuing to nurture close working relationships with our parents and families.

Our vision for Houghton Regis is based on a primary/secondary model in line with the rest of the country. In achieving our
vision we will see standards raised and improved outcomes for young people at the age of 11, 16 and 18.
GOVERNING BODY STATEMENT
We (the Governing Body of Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School) propose to extend the upper age range from 3 – 9
years to 3 – 11 years, to create a full primary school, shaped by Christian principles, to ensure each child is provided with
a continuous and holistic faith based education structured around stability, consistency and continuity of learning. The
impact of Christian values on pupils and the school community is a strength and this would continue to be a strength if
Thomas Whitehead was to increase its age range. ‘There is a great sense of excitement at the opportunities for
development of this school, where values impact on the personal and academic progress of pupils.’ (SIAS Inspection
Report 2011)
The Governing Body has confidence in the Head teacher and themselves to drive forward the proposed changes. The
leadership and management of Thomas Whitehead and other schools in the area have worked together to agree a vision
for our area, raise standards and share targets for school and community improvement. We know that good practice
already exists in the lower schools in the area and we are very optimistic about the impact this practice will have on the
upper Key Stage 2 teaching and learning.

We fully understand the premises implications and the need to plan and manage the current accommodation alongside
preparing proposals for the future building requirement of the developing school.

28

Agenda Item 3
Page 150

We feel strongly that children up to the end of Year 6 should have a Primary education and not be subjected to a
secondary model at such a young age. The management and delivery of the curriculum in a primary school, by highly
qualified and skilled primary teachers, will meet the needs of all children. Vulnerable children will cope far better
remaining in a primary school for two more years and will be more able to adjust at the age of 11 than at the age of 9 to
the change to secondary school. This is what our parents want and we are committed to ensure that this happens for
2013.

29

Agenda Item 3
Page 151

Appendix B

THOMAS WHITEHEAD

C OF E SCHOOL

Head teacher: Mrs Elaine Fairclough

Angels Lane, Houghton Regis
Bedfordshire LU5 5HH Tel: 01582 865466 Fax: 01582 861958
Email: thomaswhitehead@cbc.beds.sch.uk
Website: www.thomaswhitehead.co.uk
CONSULTATION DOCUMENT ON A PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE UPPER AGE RANGE OF THOMAS WHITEHEAD
VOLUNTARY AIDED CHURCH OF ENGLAND LOWER SCHOOL, ANGELS LANE, HOUGHTON REGIS,
BEDFORDSHIRE, LU5 5HH FROM 3 – 9 YEARS TO 3 – 11 YEARS
PURPOSE OF THIS CONSULTATION DOCUMENT

The purpose of this document is to provide information relating to the proposal to extend the upper age range of Thomas
Whitehead C of E VA Lower School from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary school.
BACKGROUND

Houghton Regis Lower schools provide well for their pupils. Local data shows that children achieve well in our schools
and that standards achieved at the end of both KS1 and Year 4 are good. However, standards in Year 6 at the end of Key
Stage 2 are below where they should be indicating that pupils’ progress is affected in Years 5 and 6 in middle school.
National data shows that changing school impacts negatively on pupils’ progress. The transition of our pupils at age 9 in
the middle of their Key Stage 2 primary schooling results in a lack of curriculum understanding, continuity, and
assessment agreement.

We believe that our children would benefit from the stability of a primary school setting that is organised to meet the
specific learning needs of the upper Key Stage 2 child. National research and data supports this view and consequently
Local Authorities have converted to a primary/ secondary model.

We also believe that all children and families in Houghton Regis should have the same choice as Catholic families who
can already choose to send their children to a primary school until the age of 11.

Those parents who wish to have an Anglican education will be able to send their children to Thomas Whitehead and then
onto All Saints Academy.

Hawthorn Park Lower, Tithe Farm Lower and Thornhill Lower are consulting at the same time to change their upper age
range to 11. An application has also been submitted to the YPLA, which maintains academies, for All Saints Academy to
become a secondary academy for 11 to 18 year olds.

30

Agenda Item 3
Page 152

The Governing Body has requested Central Bedfordshire Council to consider its request to change the age range of the
school to enable it to provide primary schooling to pupils up to age 11.

PROPOSAL

The Governing Body has applied to change the age range of Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School by extending it
from a 3 – 9 years lower school to a 3 – 11 years primary school.

It is proposed that there would be two stages of implementation starting in September 2013:
¾

¾

September 2013 – Year 4 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 5
September 2014 – Year 5 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 6

We have no plans to reintegrate pupils who are already in middle schools but will take children who have moved to the
area from another school or who do not have a school provision, providing we do not exceed our admission number.

Hawthorn Park Lower, Tithe Farm Lower School and Thornhill Lower have also applied to change their upper age range.
This would bring us in line with St Vincent’s Primary School.

OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11, 16 and 18; Y6 data has been

x

below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.

x

and 6.

To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are underperforming and exceeding in years 5

x

To address the issues of surplus places in Houghton Regis.

x

teaching and learning organisation.

x

11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints Academy, Dunstable

x

To provide a seamless faith based provision from 3-18 mirroring the Catholic model.

x

children from all faiths and none, shaped by Christian principles.

x

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through our ethos, curriculum,

To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of learning and teaching on transfer at age

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith

To ensure that Thomas Whitehead will continue to provide a good education for all children who attend, open to

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs

x

and the whole of Key Stage 2, i.e. not the break in the Key Stage that the Middle School creates.

x

To provide a continuous and holistically-planned primary education experience from Foundation, Key Stage One

To improve transition for children on transfer,
To address issues of recruitment and retention of good quality staff

31

Agenda Item 3
Page 153

SCHOOL CAPACITY
The current capacity of Thomas Whitehead Lower School is 264 children from Year R – Year 4 and 44 part time nursery
places. The proposed capacity is 308 children from Year R – Year 6 and 44 part time nursery places.
The school currently has enough available classrooms to cater for the first stage of the extended upper age range. From
September 2014 the school would need two new classrooms in that year. However, we would like this consultation to
progress using existing physical accommodation in the first instance.

Any buildings required for these changes would be subject to the normal planning permission process, which would
include consulting local residents, the Highways Agency and other interested parties. We would only consider this if
Government Capital Rules Permit.

SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities):
Changing age range will have a positive impact for pupils with special educational needs and disabilities and for
vulnerable learners which will build on from the current good practice already established in our schools.
x

x
x
x
x

x

x

We have the expertise in early intervention, resources and teaching methodologies to support children who find
learning hard.
We believe that our professional knowledge of how children learn will enable us to provide effective intervention
from those practitioners who do this best.
We will continue with the good and supportive SEN provision already in place and pupils will benefit from this for a
further two years.
Children with SEND receive very effective support and as a result make good and outstanding progress in our
schools
We aim to support Gifted & Talented pupils within our schools and to consider the role played by feeder schools
All schools benefit from highly skilled, experienced Special Educational Needs Co-ordinator.
Additional expertise within the Jigsaw Centre, based at Hawthorn Park, will support pupils with SEND

TRANSITION
In implementing this proposal we would support transition from Thomas Whitehead to any school place a parent chooses
at any time. To clarify, If they chose to stay with us for all their years of primary education, we would support the transition
at age 11 to the school of the parents’ choice. If they chose to go to a middle school we would support this transition. If
parents chose to go out of the authority, we would support that transition as well. This is all about our ambition to uphold
the Council’s aim of raising standards.

32

Agenda Item 3
Page 154

WORKING TOGETHER WITH OTHER SCHOOLS

Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School is fully committed to working together with Thornhill, Hawthorn Park, and Tithe
Farm to deliver the changes outlined in our proposal. All of the schools who are currently seeking to change their upper
age range are also fully committed to working together with Houghton Regis Lower School and St Vincent’s VA RC
Primary School to establish a shared vision based on providing the very best outcomes for our children and their families.
We aim to provide a range of collaborative opportunities that will ensure continuity of provision for the whole child and for
their families. We will work collectively in partnership to secure ‘Best Value’ by sharing suppliers, engaging in joint training
and identifying shared priorities for school improvement.
EXTENDED SERVICES
This proposal will give the opportunity for joint extended school provision reflecting the needs of the community and the
aspirations of school leaders.
Schools will work in partnership to provide a range of extended services
¾

¾
¾
¾
¾

¾
¾
¾

¾

Parent Support Assistants - their work has been invaluable in supporting our community
Transition support for pupils, schools and families
Shared training for parents and staff
Use of combined clubs and a range of After School activities
Promotion of inter-school sport and other activities for the community
Commitment to wrap around care
Holiday activities
Workshops to support adult learning and encourage family learning
Support for vulnerable families and pupils eg Siblings group and Young Carers

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

If we are unsuccessful with this proposal the school will continue to operate as a Lower school for pupils aged a 3 – 9
years.
TIMELINE

The alteration of a schools age range must follow a prescribed democratic decision making process. The following table
outlines the indicative timeline to change the age range of Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School.

Action

Start Date

Informal consultation

6 December 2011

Completion date

th

4

33

th

February 2012

Agenda Item 3
Page 155

Report on outcome of

4

th

February 2012

11

th

February 2012

consultation produced by
Thomas Whitehead Governing
Body. Copy passed to Local
Authority and other local
schools.
th

th

11 February 2012

18 February 2012

Statutory Notices served

20th February 2012

30th March 2012

Report to Executive Member

2

Thomas Whitehead Governing
Body’s decision to progress to
statutory notice

nd

th

April 2012

13 April 2012

for Children’s Services drafted
by Local authority

Implementation decision made

WC 16th April 2012
st

Proposed implementation

1 September 2013

Attached to this proposal is a Consultation Response form.

Consultation Response Form

Please read the consultation document and tell us what your views are. The questions on this form are provided to help
you do so, but you do not have to respond to all of them. If you prefer not to use this form, you can also put your views in
a letter.

Letters and forms should be sent to the address at the bottom of this form, or responses can be sent by e-mail to:
thomaswhitehead@cbc.beds.sch.org
All responses must be received by Tuesday 4

th

February 2012.

34

Agenda Item 3
Page 156

Questions relating to the proposal

How much do you agree with the following statements? Please tick as appropriate.

1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Thomas Whitehead C of E Lower School

Strongly
agree

Agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor
disagree

Further comments:

35

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

Agenda Item 3
Page 157

Please return this form to:
Mrs Elaine Fairclough
Head teacher
Thomas Whitehead C of E School
Angels Lane
Houghton Regis
LU5 5HH

Are you responding as an individual or on behalf of an organisation?
Individual  Organisation (Please tell us which organisation)……………………………………..
Name: …………………………………………………………..………..
Address: …………………………………………………………..……..
…………………………………………………………………………….
…………………………………………………………………………….
Postcode: ……………………………………….
If you are responding as an individual, please tell us a little bit about yourself.
The following information will help us when considering your opinions and to make sure that we are getting views from all
sections of the community. All the questions are optional, and you can give as little or as much information as you wish.
Please tell us if you fall into any of the following categories (please select all that apply)
Pupil (Please state at which school and in which Year Group) …………..…………………………
Parent/carer of child/children (Please state which school/s)…………..…………………………….
Parent/carer of pre-school child/children
School Governor (Please state which school/s) ……………………..……………………………….
School Staff (Please state which school/s) …………………...……………………………………….
Other (Please specify) …………………………………………………………………………………...
Gender
Male

Female

Transgender

Prefer not to say

Age
Under 18
18 - 24

25 - 34
35 – 44

45 – 54
55 - 64

65 and over

36

Agenda Item 3
Page 158

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person?

Yes

No

Ethnic Group
WHITE British
WHITE Irish
WHITE Other (Please write in)................................................
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH Caribbean
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH African
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH Other (Please write in)..................................
MIXED White & Black Caribbean
MIXED White & Black African
MIXED White & Asian
MIXED Other (Please write in)...............................................
ASIAN Indian
ASIAN Pakistani
ASIAN Bangladeshi
ASIAN Other (please write in).................................................
CHINESE
OTHER (Please write in)....................................................
Data Protection Act 1998 Please note that your personal details supplied on this form will be held and/or computerised by
Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of England Lower School and/or Central Bedfordshire Council for the
purpose of the consultation. The information collected may be disclosed to school staff and officers and members of the
Council and its partners involved in this consultation. Summarised information from the forms may be published, but no
individual details will be disclosed under these circumstances. Your personal details will be safeguarded and will not be
divulged to any other individuals or organisations for any other purposes.

37

Agenda Item 3
Page 159

Appendix C

THOMAS WHITEHEAD

C OF E SCHOOL

Angels Lane, Houghton Regis
Bedfordshire LU5 5HH Tel: 01582 865466 Fax: 01582 861958
E-mail: : thomaswhitehead@cbc.beds.sch.uk

Brief notes on the Consultation meeting for the Two Tier proposal
held at 6pm on Monday 23rd January 2012

Governors Present:

Mrs E Fairclough (Headteacher)
Mr D Clark (Chair)
Mrs N Murray (Vice Chair)
Mrs T Plunkett
Mrs K Ambrose
Mr T Preston
Mrs S Smith

The Chair of Governors opened the meeting, explaining that the meeting was to give more details on
the Consultation Document on a proposal to extend the Upper Age Range of Thomas Whitehead C of
E Lower School, Angels Lane, Houghton Regis, Beds, LU5 5HH from 3-9years to 3-11years. He
asked everyone present to introduce themselves.
In addition to the governors listed above, amongst the attendees were 3 Town Councillors, Director of
Education from the Diocese of St Albans, Governors from other schools from all phases, a member of
the local authority, Thornhill Lower Head teacher, All Saints Academy head teacher, members of
staff at Thomas Whitehead and parents of the pupils currently at the school.
The head teacher explained the many reasons why the school want to extend the age range
x To raise standards and improve the outcome for children.
o To take ownership and responsibility for the outcome of Key Stage 2.
o Progress dips due to the transition
x Improve the continuity and consistency of good primary teaching and learning
x To improve transition
o Age 9 is too young for a child to transfer
x Primary schools have good relationships with families
o Parents say the Primary route is what they want
o Thomas Whitehead has an open door policy
38

Agenda Item 3
Page 160

As of today, 47 questionnaires have been returned, 2 were against, 1 was unsure and 44 were in
agreement with the proposal. Many parents comments were ‘I wish you could do it this year’.

The head teacher explained how the implementation would take place. The school would change to
provide an education to the age of 11, Year 6.
The 1st stage will accommodate year 5, in September 2013, total of 264 pupils.
The 2nd stage will then extend to year 6, in September 2014, total of 308 pupils.
The school will continue to have an intake of 44 pupils per year group.
The current capacity of the school is 264.
The head teacher stated she was positive the school would remain a good school.
The closing date for the consultation period is 4th February.
A decision will be made by the Local Authority in week commencing 16th April.
The implementation date if successful will be 1st September 2013.
Statutory notices stating the schools decision will need to be displayed around the school grounds for
6 weeks after the 20th February.
If the Local Authority reject the proposal, the Diocese can appeal to the Secretary of State.
The headteacher finished with a slide of some of the comments parents made in their responses.
Many parents have asked why it can’t happen sooner than 2013, the response given was due to lots
of regulations and legislation. It was stated only 3 counties have the 3 tier system and none of the 2
tier schools apply to change.
The response from everyone present was a positive one.

The meeting came to an end at 18:55.

Note: another meeting was held also on the 23rd January at 4pm for Staff members of Thomas
Whitehead. Governors present at this meeting were Mrs N Murray (Vice Chair), Miss J Waldock and
Mrs L Gambier (both staff governors) and Fr B Wheelhouse

39

Agenda Item 3
Appendix E – Determination of statutory proposals to extend age ranges 16
April 2012

Transport Strategy Response to Proposals to Change Age Ranges at Hawthorn
Park, Thornhill, Tithe Farm and Thomas Whitehead Lower Schools
The proposals to extend the age ranges at the four Houghton Regis schools need to
include reference to any potential traffic, travel and transport implications of
increasing pupil numbers. Solutions therefore need to be developed to mitigate
against issues that might arise promoting travel choice for the journey to school.
Undoubtedly the proposals will have an impact on other areas for which the council
has duties and responsibilities for. This needs to be recognised as part of the
process of agreeing and adopting any changes to the structure or re-organisation of
these or any other schools in Central Bedfordshire.
Alterations to the school structure of pupils at these schools need to be developed
against the background of the authority’s obligations to promote sustainable travel set out in the 2006 Education and Inspections Act.
Potential Impacts
The proposed changes should also be developed in the context of the Council’s
Local Transport Plan and Sustainable Community Strategy, in particular the explicit
targets within both to achieve a reduction in car use for journeys to school.
An increase in the number of pupils, parents, teachers and other staff needing to
access the school site will have a significant impact on the school site and the locality
surrounding the schools specifically at the start and end of the school.. Plans
therefore need to be put in place that mitigate against this impact whilst also ensuring
that the school sites are accessible to all. The proposed increased in the number of
pupils at each school site has the potential to see a significant increase in the
number of car journeys of which the potential impacts might be:
•
•
•
•
•

Reduced safety for pedestrians and cyclists in the vicinity of school sites
Increased congestion at or near school sites
Car parking issues
Poorer local air quality and local environment
Increased concern and dissatisfaction from residents living adjacent to
schools

Whilst the proposals will mean an increased demand for travel to the school sites that
are extending their age range, there will also be a reduced amount of demand for
travel to the Middle Schools that these pupils would have otherwise have been
transferred to. The travel and transport dynamic at these establishments may alter
either positively or negatively and will also need to be monitored.
Opportunities
In order to take advantage of the opportunity the age range changes offer, a package
of measures should be developed that ensures that all people who need to access
the school sites are able to do so safely, keeping to a minimum any adverse issues
that may occur. This approach will fit better with the adopted Local Transport Plan
and Sustainable Community Strategy.
Each of the schools concerned has approved travel plans which should now be
updated to reflect the changes that will be made and outline the actions they will be
taking to encourage sustainable travel and to ensure any negative travel and
transport issues are minimised. The sustainable transport team are able to help
1

Page 161

Agenda Item 3
Appendix E – Determination of statutory proposals to extend age ranges 16
April 2012
support this review process and provide guidance as to the actions that should be put
in place. Should planning applications be needed then updated travel plans will be
required to accompany the application.
School Transport Policy
As referred to earlier, Local Authorities have a duty to promote sustainable travel to
schools and colleges. This is covered in Central Bedfordshire’s ‘Sustainable Modes
of Travel to Schools and Colleges Strategy (SMoTS)’ which is included as part of the
Local Transport Plan. Within this there as specific policies which refer to school reorganisation and development on schools sites.
CBC SMoTS Policies
No.
Policy
SMoTS 1 All schools and colleges to have an annually updated travel plan in place
All new school developments and development on a school site planning
SMoTS 2 applications are accompanied by travel plans as a compulsory element and
that these are enforced through the planning process
All new schools to be provided with appropriate facilities to facilitate safe
SMoTS 3
dropping off for bus users
The implications of school closures and expansions on school travel and
SMoTS 4
safety issues should be explicitly considered
All new school developments to be situated on roads with 20mph speed
SMoTS 5
limits along with measures to facilitate 20mph speeds.
All new school developments to have ‘School Keep Clear’ markings with
SMoTS 6
appropriate Traffic Regulation Orders
All new school developments to have separate pedestrian and cycling
SMoTS 7
entrances to the school site
All new school developments to have cycle parking facilities for pupils, staff
SMoTS 8
and visitors in-line with CBC’s Cycle Parking Guidance
20 mph zones/speed limits, shared space scheme opportunities and Traffic
SMoTS 9 Regulation Orders on ‘School Keep Clear’ markings to be positively
considered for all schools involved in the Highways Capital Programme.
SMoTS
All schools engaged in the Highways Capital Programme to be active
10
participants in delivering promotional, publicity and educational measures.
All new school developments or school structure re-organisation to include
SMoTS
a Travel and Transport Impact Assessment as part of the Environmental
11
Impact Assessment.
SMoTS
All schools and colleges to develop their own cycling policy.
12
(School Cycling Policy guidance can be located in Appendix C)
All schools with on-site transport and parking issues to develop and
SMoTS
implement site management plans in consultation with relevant CBC
13
departments
SMoTS
CCTV to be a requirement for all ITU tendered school transport services on
14
vehicles with 16 seats or more
SMoTS
Seatbelts to be a requirement for all ITU tendered school transport services
15
on all vehicles
School route tenders to take in to consideration vehicle emissions with
SMoTS
vehicles to be Euro 3 compliant as minimum standard and to provide
16
emission and route rationalisation monitoring data.
Schools and Colleges to take travel and transport implications into
SMoTS
consideration when altering the times of the school day or when pupils
17
mobility requirements for accessing the site alter
SMoTS
All schools and colleges to annually nominate a person to be the contact for
18
all issues relating to travel and transport
2

Page 162

Agenda Item 3
Appendix E – Determination of statutory proposals to extend age ranges 16
April 2012
SMoTS
19
SMoTS
20

All new ITU school transport contract lengths to be for either 1, 3 , 5 or 8
years in length
The registering of ITU provided routes to schools to be explicitly considered
in the when setting the tender for a route

The full document can be found at:
http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/images/110328_Appendix%20C_SMOTS_FIN
AL%20VERSION_tcm5-38702.pdf

Whilst the proposal document fails to make clear what consideration has been given
to the potential transport impacts of the proposals there remain actions that can be
taken in order to facilitate safe and sustainable travel to the school sites which will
mitigate any negative impacts that may stem from the changes.
I look forward to working with you and the schools concerned to develop and take
advantage of the opportunities the proposed age range changes presents.

Nick Shaw
Sustainable Transport Officer,
Transport Strategy
28th February, 2012

3

Page 163

Agenda Item 3
Appendix E – Determination of statutory proposals to extend age ranges 16
April 2012

Page 164

Chief Executive: Barry Day OBE, Hon DEd, MSc, BA
Chair of Trustees: David Shelton
PA to the Chief Executive: Alison Hope
Greenwood Road
Nottingham
NG3 7EB
Tel: 0115 822 8555
email: alison.hope@greenwoodacademies.org

14 March 2012
Edwina Grant
Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Children's Services
Central Bedfordshire Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands
Shefford
SG17 5TQ
Dear Edwina

As the Sponsor responsible for converting King's Houghton Middle School to
Academy Status from 1 September 2012 we would like to state that we are in
total support of lower schools in the area that wish to change to primary
school status from 1 September 2013.
We would also totally support any change to a primary/secondary system
arranged around 3-11 or 4-11 primaries and 11-18 secondary schools.
Yours sincerely

Barry Day
Chief Executive

Be Inspired
4

Agenda Item 3
Appendix E – Determination of statutory proposals to extend age ranges 16
April 2012

2nd April 2012 Response from Mrs Rae Bird, 85 Fensome Drive,
Houghton Regis Beds LU5 5SF
I do not wish to object to these statutory proposals as I think that if they go
ahead they will improve education generally, but would like to make the
following comments:
It is not in the interest of a cohesive education system in Houghton Regis to
deny Houghton Regis Lower school the same opportunity to extend their age
range. Houghton Regis Lower school is a very successful and popular school
and is currently oversubscribed. (This is without any of the 100 or so houses
currently being built on the Bovis Quarry development within a few hundred
yards of the school being occupied.)
Kings Houghton Middle school is currently in the process of becoming an
academy and will then almost certainly change its age range to become a
secondary school next year. I am very worried as to where this leaves
Houghton Regis Lower School. Those children leaving this school in
September 2013 will not have a new school in Houghton Regis to go to unless
they transfer to one of the other four schools just for 2 years – this would be
very detrimental to their education and is therefore totally unacceptable. I
cannot see how retaining just one Lower school in the town when all others
are moving to Primary is going to drive up educational standards. which surely
must be the intention?
2013 is not very far away and I would like to know how the local authority
intends to resolve this situation, is there a strategy and if so what is it?
Thank you, Mrs Rae Bird, 85 Fensome Drive, Houghton Regis Beds LU5 5SF
Council reply
It is acknowledged that this may lead to a disparity in provision across the
current schools within the area. Nevertheless, at this stage, there are no
formal proposals to amend the age range of Kings Houghton Middle School
and pupils from Houghton Regis Lower School will continue to be able to
transfer as they do at present. Should future proposals be received relating to
Kings Houghton Middle School, this issue will need to be addressed at that
stage.
Presently, only the published notices can be considered for decision and, as
stated in the proposals this will not, in itself, result in the displacement of any
pupils.

5

Page 165

Page 166

This page is intentionally left blank

